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Abstract 
The scope of this work was to find the intrinsic value of SalMar ASA and understand what are the effects 

that the new incentive scheme for the managers and key personnel, namely Restricted Share Units, have 

on the value of the company’ s share.    

The valuation was performed at the cut-off-day 23/08/2018 and the share price derived is 455,38 NOK. 

The market price of SalMar ‘s share at the cut-off-day was 410,00 NOK, suggesting an undervaluation of 

the company. For what concerns the degree of influence of the RSU on the intrinsic value, the share price 

was forecasted considering the grant of the Restricted Share Units. Without it, the intrinsic value would 

have been 478,47 NOK.  

To derive the share value, the Financial Statement Analysis and the Strategic Analysis were performed in 

order to find the key drivers to use as inputs in the Forecasting. After estimating the cost of capital, the 

Valuation was performed using two different models, namely the Discount Cash Flow Model and the 

Residual Operating Income Model.   

The sensitivity analysis helps discover what factors have most impact on the value of the share, and among 

them are the inputs related to Restricted Share Units. 
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1 – Introduction 
 

Motivation  
According to the market efficiency theory, the market price of a share always reflects all the information 

that are available to the public. And therefore, any decision or announcement can influence the intrinsic 

value of a company, and therefore the share price, because some of the underlying assumptions can 

change.  

Every day, decisions are taken in every company, like the production of a new line of product, the 

construction of a new plant, the development of a new tool. These decisions can affect the fundamental 

value of the company, and as a result the share price can be influenced. Setting new compensation 

packages for senior managers or key employees is another example of a decision that can affect company’ 

s value. Shareholders want to make sure that managers and employees are motivated and work in the best 

way possible. Without the right incentives, the performance and the effort offered by them tend to be low 

and not value creating for the company. Throughout the years, companies have tried different ways to 

compensate and motivate the key employees. There are various forms of incentives. Fixed salary, 

performance-related salary, bonuses, other benefits. And all of them have the same goal. They are mainly 

intended to motivate the employees and to align their interests to the company’ s ones. In this way, the 

employees are satisfied with the remuneration, are more motivated and they are more likely to create value 

for the shareholders. But, what are the effects of these decisions on the actual share value of the company?  

In this regard, on the 15th of January 2018, SalMar ASA established a new RSU-based incentive scheme 

for its key employees: 

“In accordance with the authorization granted by the AGM on 6 June 2017, the board of directors of 

SalMar ASA has decided to establish a share-based incentive scheme (Restricted Share Unit Plan) for 

senior executives and key personnel employed by the company and its subsidiaries. The scheme 

encompasses up to 240 863 shares and has a duration of three years.” (SalMar, company website1) 

What are the reasons for a company to opt for an equity-based incentive scheme instead of other 

compensations? And how is the fundamental value of the company impacted by it?   

                                                             
1 
Source:https://www.SalMar.no/en/feedposts/announcements/?dh=aHR0cDovL2N3cy5odWdpbm9ubGluZS5jb20vUy8
xMzg2OTUvUFIvMjAxODAxLzIxNjE0NTEueG1s  
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The first objective of the paper is to find the intrinsic value of Salmar as of 23/08/2018, following all the 

steps that a valuation requires. This will open the possibility of analyzing the effects that the Restricted 

Share Units (RSUs) have on the share’s value.   

Methodology  
 

The first step is to perform an intrinsic valuation of the company. In order to do so, financial information 

and data to elaborate and analyze have to be gathered. For this reason, Financial Statements such as 

Income Statement and Balance Sheet are needed. The financial analysis will be performed for both the 

company and its peers, which we want to use as a benchmark. All of them are listed on the Oslo Stock 

Exchange, hence it is possible to find the official annual reports publicly available on companies’ 

websites, from 2007 to 2017, which is the sample period of analysis. Also, data for both quarter one and 

quarter two of 2018 are available.  

Annual reports are also a very useful source of information for various and different topics such as the 

company’ s mission, the way in which it operates, which are the achievements, what accounting rules they 

follow, what output volume they have produced and plan to produce in the future, who the shareholders 

are and so on. The reliability of Financial statements data is very high, due to the fact that they come from 

a primary source and they are not taken from a third-party database or other external sources.  

Financial data from Bloomberg portal have also been gathered. They have been used as inputs for the 

estimation of the cost of capital, term structure of interest rates and forecast of salmon price. All the 

different data used will be better specified in the relative section of the paper. 

Graphs and tables used in this paper are mainly generated by our own elaboration of data from Financial 

Statements, unless differently specified. 

As underlined before, the first goal is to apply the valuation tools to value the common shares of the case 

company. We want to find the Intrinsic value of the stock, or the stock value. Unless differently specified, 

when “stock price” or “stock value” is mentioned, the reference is to the intrinsic value that the paper 

seeks to find with the model and the analysis performed throughout the study. Instead, when mentioning 

“market price” the reference is to the price of the company on the Stock Market, publicly available.  

The models and the valuation tools are then used as the starting point to analyze the effects of the incentive 

scheme, namely RSU. 

After an introductory first chapter on the Research question, the Delimitations and the Overview of the 

company, the Literature Review related to the Restricted Share Units is addressed in chapter 2.  
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After that, the valuation process takes place. The chapter 3 contains the Financial Statement Analysis, 

with all the related sub sections, in which the financial performance of the company is evaluated. Then, 

the Strategic Analysis in chapter 4 gives an overview of the competitive environment Salmar operates in 

and the dynamics that take place in the industry. Both chapter 3 and 4 will help discover the main drivers 

of the profitability for the company, and its competitive position; this information will be used as inputs 

in the chapter 5, where the Forecasting is addressed.  

The cost of capital is then estimated in chapter 6, following all the required steps. Once all the inputs are 

gathered, the Valuation model is presented in chapter 7 and the sensitivity of the share price to the various 

inputs a analyzed in chapter 8, together with the effects of Restricted Share Units on the intrinsic value. 

In the Discussion, the answer to the research question is thus given, together with a suggestion on either 

to buy, sell or keep the share and an analysis of the reasons behind the managerial choice of granting RSU 

to the employees and further considerations. The Conclusion is then presented and the possible further 

researches on the topic are highlighted.  Figure 1 below shows the structure of the paper described above.  
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Research question 
 

The aim of the paper is to give an answer to the following problem statement:  

“What is the share value of Salmar as of 23/08/2018? How do the Restricted Share Units affect the 

intrinsic value of the company?” 

The paper seeks to find firstly the share value of the company. Also, it tries to find out the effects that the 

issue of the above-mentioned equity-based incentive scheme have on the intrinsic value of a company. 

The restricted share unit is becoming more and more popular among companies, and specifically one of 

the most used incentive schemes that has shares as a mean of compensation, and not cash. And for this 

reason, they are called Equity-based incentive scheme or share-based incentive schemes. So, what are the 

effects of this decision?   

In the next section, some delimitations are listed, to define the boundaries of the study.  

Delimitations 
 
In performing this study, some delimitations have been set, which will be explained in the following 

section. The paper is primarily an analytical-oriented work. For this reason, it is chosen not to deepen 

too much the theory and the literature on the RSU, because it could result in a deviation from the main 

purpose of the paper. The Valuation is performed first and the effect of the incentive scheme is 

analyzed, by numerical analysis. The Literature Review on the topic is still present and used as an 

introductory chapter for those who want to have an idea of what Restricted Share Units are. But it is not 

intended to be an exhaustive and complete research on the topic. 

Hence, the goal is to calculate the effect that the share-based incentive scheme has on the intrinsic value 

of Salmar. The analysis conducted takes into consideration the impact of these incentive scheme on 

financial statements and therefore, on the figures such as Revenues and EBIT, Free cash flow and 

Residual Operating income which form the basis for the calculation of the value of the share.  

An incentive scheme can also have other indirect effects, which are neither easily visible from financial 

statements, nor precisely quantifiable. Compensation packages are used to align employees’ interests to 

the company’s interests; therefore, an incentive scheme may improve the motivation of the employees, 

leading the latter to put more effort. If the company’s overall performance is enhanced as a result of the 

higher effort, than it is a win-win situation and the effect of the compensation scheme is positive. But, in 

those industries or situations in which the company’s performance is mainly determined and heavily 

affected by external factors, the employees are barely able to control the outcome of the company’ s 
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performance. As an example, when the oil price goes down, a company operating in the oil industry can 

experience hard times, and the employees can realize that they are powerless. In this case, the incentive 

scheme can be considered ineffective, and no positive motivational effects are recorded on company’s 

value creation. 

Furthermore, when a company establishes a new incentive scheme, the market can react to it. Assume 

that a new share-based incentive scheme is established by a company. Maybe, the market believes that 

this event will enhance overall performances in the future as a result of employees increased 

satisfaction. Or maybe, the market can perceive an equity-based incentive scheme as a lack of liquidity 

of the company.  

In this study the focus will only be on the effects that the RSU incentive scheme has on the company’ s 

financial statements. It could also be interesting to study all the other dimensions mentioned above on 

which the Restricted share units have impact on.  

Also, when analyzing the profitability over time, it was chosen to evaluate the performance of Salmar 

relatively to other only four companies. The choice of the latter is made looking at the similarity in size 

and activities performed. The companies can be classified as direct peers, meaning that they operate in 

the same industry, and perform many of the activities of the value chain. Perhaps, one could perform the 

analysis expanding the number of companies analyzed, taking into consideration for example some of 

the indirect peers, such as companies from other countries, and expand the validity of the profitability 

analysis.  

In the study, the liquidity analysis is not performed. The liquidity risk analysis is a very fundamental 

tool to estimate the ability of a company to meet its financial obligations. When a bank or any other 

institution lends money to a company, it is exposed to a risk, namely the default of the borrower. So, the 

eventual higher liquidity risk implies a higher cost of debt, which is reflected in the interest rate paid 

back to the lender.  

“The cost of debt is the rate at which you can borrow at currently, it will reflect not only your default 

risk but also the level of interest rates in the market.” (Damodaran A. - Session 7: Defining and 

estimating the cost of debt2) 

In the paper it is therefore assumed that the assessment of liquidity and solvency risk is implicit in the 

historical cost of debt of the company estimated later in the relevant section.  

                                                             
2 Source: www.stern.nyu.edu/~adamodar/podcasts/BVR/BVR7ppt.ppt  
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Also, the future financial performances of the company are forecasted. Usually, proforma financial 

statements are built by analyzing past data and by trying to find a sustainable growth rate experienced in 

the past and which is then assumed that the company will keep on experiencing in the future. In this 

study, the Growth Analysis is not performed, because the inputs for the forecasting in this paper will be 

based mainly upon the estimation of two key elements, namely the Salmon Price and Output Volume. 

These two elements will be forecasted appropriately later on. Then, the financial statement analysis and 

the strategic analysis will provide the link between past performances and expected future developments 

of company’s profitability.  

Company and Industry Overview 
SalMar is one of the Norwegian leader company in the salmon farming aquaculture. It was first established 

in 1991 from the ashes of a former company which had gone into liquidation after the catastrophic 

performance of the salmon farming companies. The company’ s business involves the fish farming, 

processing and trading of Atlantic Salmon and invests and participates to joint investments which improve 

the farming quality, reduce risks and enhance the sustainability of the production for the all industry.   

From the first steps until nowadays, SalMar has acquired 100 licenses for the production of Atlantic 

Salmon and it detains 50% of the ownership shares of Norskott Havbruk AS, which is also the only 

shareholder of Scottish Sea Farms Ltd, the UK’s second largest producer of salmon. Moreover, SalMar 

owns 34% of the Icelandic aquaculture company called Arnarlax Hf which is an important resource for 

secondary processing plants. As of 23/08/2018, SalMar’ s outstanding shares are 113.299.999. The main 

shareholders are illustrated in the table 1 below.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The biggest shareholder, Kverva AS, detains more than 50% of the shares. It was established as a 

holding company for SalMar in 1991. Today, the company has become an Investment company, with a 

focus on the marine sector. 

Name Shareholding 31.12.17 Shareholding (%)
Kverva AS 60.500.000 53,40%
Folketrygdfondet 7.449.510 6,58%
State Street Bank and Trust Comp 2.485.075 2,19%
LIN AS 1.754.498 1,55%
State Street Bank and Trust Comp 1.433.702 1,27%
Total 5 largest shareholders 73.622.785 64,99%
Other shareholders 39.677.214 35,01%
TOTAL 113.299.999 100,00%
Shareholders 4.759
Total no. of shares 113.299.999

Table 1 
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During 2016 until end of 2017, SalMar as 

much as the companies in the industry, 

suffered from a lice disease crisis which 

led to a decrease in production of salmon. 

In 2018, the market (and Salmar within it) 

is witnessing an increase of the Stock 

prices (Figure 2), also due to good initial 

results for the long-term investments but 

also due to an increase in both the demand 

for Salmon and the underlying salmon 

Price. At the cut-off date, SalMar’ s share price is 410,00 NOK, with a total Market Capitalization of 

46,44 billion.   

Industry 

SalMar operates in the Salmon Farming Industry, which is one of the many aquaculture industries. 

“Aquaculture is the breeding, rearing, and harvesting of fish, shellfish, plants, algae and other 

organisms in all types of water environments” (NOAA3, 2018).  

Aquaculture is a method used to produce food and other commercial products. As the demand for seafood 

has increased, technology has made it possible to grow food in coastal marine waters as well as in the 

open ocean. (National Ocean Service, 2018). Aquaculture contribution in the global supply will continue 

to expand as to supply over 60% of all the fish doomed for human consumption, making the aquaculture 

industry facing a big challenge as well as opportunity.  

In the aquaculture industry, the farming of fishes belonging to the Salmonidae family increased 

tremendously over the last years. The Salmonidae include Atlantic and Pacific salmon as well as trout. 

The salmon production, in particular, it is the most present and popular in the market due to his content 

of healthy protein, omega 3 fatty and minerals.  

The supply of Salmonidae can be of two kind. It can be produced in farms or caught as wild. In particular, 

about 70% of the world’ s production of salmon is farm-raised, and about 30% is wild-caught. Farming 

takes place in large nets in sheltered waters such as fjords or bays.  The most commercially available is 

                                                             
3 https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/eutrophication.html.  

Figure 2 
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the Atlantic Salmon, which mainly comes from Norway, Chile, Scotland and Canada. (Marine Harvest 

Handbook, 2017) 

Market segments  

The 100 licenses of SalMar are distributed in more regions. In Central Norway (Møre & Romsdal, Sør-

Trøndelag and Nord-Trøndelag), they detain 68 of those, in Northern Norway (Troms and Finnmark) 32.  

The Sales and Processing segment exports the final product to more than 50 countries in 2017.  The most 

relevant geographical regions of exports the Europe, with Poland, Lithuania and Sweden as the largest 

individual markets, then Asia, with Vietnam, Japan and Singapore as the largest individual   markets.  

After sales to Russia were blocked in 2014, North   America has been the third largest market, with the 

USA as   the largest individual market and in particularly strong growth in 2017. (SalMAr, Annual Report 

2017) 

China also used to be a very important market, which then lost importance for political reasons. This 

aspect will be further analyzed at a later stage, when the PESTEL analysis is addressed.  

In 2017 the output rose by 6 per cent, bringing the total volume of Atlantic salmon harvested to around 

2.3 million tonnes. Norway increased its total output by 3 per cent, namely around 36,700 tonnes, during 

the year.  This is also due to the fact that, in Chile, previous years’ declining trend was reversed, and the 

region increased its output of salmon by 15 per cent, i.e. 74,700 tonnes.  

The next section introduces the main direct peers of the company.  

Peers 

The peer companies considered in this paper are the four biggest Norwegian salmon farming companies, 

namely Marine Harvest, Grieg Seafood ASA, Leroy Seafood ASA and Norway Royal Salmon.  

In the paper, they are used as a benchmark for the performances of Salmar. This will help addressing a 

good profitability analysis of the company. 

The selection of the peers has been done by considering the size, production processes and the final 

product. In particular, Marine Harvest is the biggest one, with a total market capitalization of almost 45% 

more than the second biggest one which is SalMar. Marine Harvest was founded in 1967 and it is the 

company which has been active the most, with his production level being the 20% of the total global 

supply. 
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Table 2 

As clearly showed in the Table 2, the third largest company is Lerøy Seafood, which has almost the same 

market Value of SalMar. Grieg is the fourth one and it accounts for a market capitalization of a fifth of 

SalMar’ s one and it is present also in other markets such Portugal and China. Finally, Norway Royal 

Salmon is the smallest of the five and it depends more on external suppliers since, differently than the rest 

of the peers, it is not self-sufficient in most of the stages of production. 

 2 - Literature Review: Equity-based Compensation and RSU  
 

Executives compensations have been in the last decades a topic of considerable debate in the academia.  

The executive pay has to consider the principal-agent problems that derive from shareholders delegating 

crucial choices to managers.  

“[…] because shareholders do not know and cannot specify every action an executive should take in 

every scenario,[…] the firm must instead delegate many of these choices to the executive ”  

(Core et al., 2003) 

 In order to motivate executives to make decision in line with the shareholders’value, the interests of both 

parties need to be aligned. Tying the compensation of executives to a performance measure can be a 

solution.  

The performance-related remuneration is broadly used and it can be built upon three different schemes or 

formats which are based on different performance measures:  

- Financial performance measures; 

- Non-financial performance measures;  

- Stock return. 

The first consists on bonuses based on the achievement of a target performance measures such as Revenue 

growth, ROIC, EBIT, EBITDA and other accounting figures. The second contemplates the non-financial 

related performance, such as the productivity, customer satisfaction or quality level. For instance, the 

Market CAP Shares outstanding
SalMar 46.452.999.590 113.299.999
Marine Harvest 48.499.606.014 276.303.800
Lerøy Seafood 36.127.715.955 595.773.680
Grieg Seafood 10.049.580.000 111.662.000
Norway Royal Salmon 8.801.582.582 43.572.191
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manager of a production department can have a compensation scheme that considers the number of defect 

products produced.  

 The third kind of compensation scheme has in his performance measure the stock price of the company. 

To this category belong for example entitlements of stock options or restricted stock grants. 

The quality of an incentive scheme is assessed looking at four dimensions, or criteria, as stated by Petersen 

& Plenborg4: 

- Congruence; 

- Controllability; 

- Simplicity; 

- Accounting issues.  

The Congruence is determined by the alignment of interests of both parties. When managers take a 

decision, it has to increase both the value of the company and his/her personal wealth. It has to be a win-

win situation. The higher remuneration of the employee must be the result of the increased company’ s 

performance, and only in that case the measure is said to be congruent.  

The controllability is determined by the ability of the employee to directly influence the performance 

measure. If a manager’s compensation varies with factors that are not under his/her control, he/she can 

lose incentives in acting in a proper way.  

Simplicity implies that performance measures and targets are easy to understand, communicate and 

manage. 

A good incentive scheme should also be free from accounting-related issues. It should reflect the real 

performance of the company, meaning that the manager should not be able to “influence” the performance 

measure by managing earnings or by including transitory and favorable items.  

The perfect incentive scheme is rather impossible to define. Each and every one of them has positive and 

negative aspects. The paper focuses on the compensation schemes that are linked with stock’ s 

performances, and in the following the characteristics of two of the most popular schemes are analyzed, 

specifically Employee stock options and Restricted Share Units, which have many similarities in common 

and some differences. 

Why do companies choose this kind of incentive scheme? 

                                                             
4Petersen C. V., Plenborg T, ”Financial Statement Analysis – Valuation, Credit Analysis, Executive compensation”, 2012  
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Looking at the congruence, the share-based incentive schemes are able to align interests of managers to 

the company’s one, because if the share price increases, both parties are satisfied. Secondly, it is a simple 

performance measure to look at, being a publicly available information which does not need particular 

calculations for both parties. Third, the stock price it is a performance measure that is hard to influence 

by accounting-related choices.  

“The advantages of tying executive compensation to the stock price rather than to accounting returns 

are premised on the assumption that stock prices incorporate most or all publicly available information 

and managers cannot take advantage of “too much” private information “  

(Hall B.J., Murphy B.J., The trouble with stock options,2003) 

As correctly stated by Murphy and Hall, share price is a bit more difficult to be influenced by management 

actions than for an accounting measure. This is therefore one of the main advantages of using 

compensation linked with the stock price.  

But, the downside of this aspect is that a manager can feel that he/she has not the total control over the 

share price, and therefore this can de-incentivize him from working hard. Controllability is therefore 

relatively low for incentive schemes linked to market price of shares. Many external factors can have 

impact on share price, which are no under the manager’ s control.  

There are mainly two different ways of how the bonuses are paid out for this category of compensation.  

The first one, is the cash-settled compensation scheme and the second one is equity-based. In the former, 

the company and the employee agree that every price appreciation will be settled by cash payment. In this 

way, no special accounting treatments are needed, because it is simply the cash payment of a salary, linked 

to an external benchmark. Moreover, this is seen by the employee as a low risk compensation compared 

to equity-based ones.  

The other way to settle the compensation is through the issuance of shares. One of the most commonly 

used Equity-based compensations are the Employee Stock Options.  

Employee Stock options 

The distribution of stock options complies with the need to incentivize employees and executives since, 

through these instruments, the firm ties the compensation to the share performance. The employee 

receives an Option, with a certain Strike Price, which is the pre-determined price per share paid by the 

employee to the company at the moment of the exercise. The option has to vest before being 

exercisable. Usually, employee owning company’ s stock is not entitled to receive dividends. The value 
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for the employee is therefore generated only after the option is vested, and only if the market price is 

higher than the Strike price at the moment of the exercise.  

Therefore: 

“[…] stock options reward only stock-price appreciation and not total shareholder return, since the 

latter includes dividends” (Murphy, 2004) 

These contracts entitle the employee-recipient the right to buy the stock of the firm at a pre-specified 

exercise price for a pre-specified term. The exercise price is usually equal to the price on the grant date, 

or it can be assigned with a discount or premium price. Employees options are non-tradable, and they are 

forfeited if the employee leaves the firm before reaching the vesting period which is the period in which 

the stock can be exercised. (Hall and Murphy, 2003). Typically, options are granted in one date, but they 

cover different vesting periods, usually related to different years.   

The main arguments in favor of stock option plans are: 

- Interests’ alignment between Management and Shareholders; executives who receive in the salary 

package stock options are more motivated to undertake investments which may increase 

shareholders value. 

- Increase in the retention rate since the firm is offering the performance compensation under a 

structured time framework which can be enjoyed only by employees who stay within the company 

at least until the end of the vesting period of the last call of stock option distribution. In fact, stock 

options are often offered to key employees. 

- Increase in attraction since paying in options will attract highly motivated employee who believe 

that in the long term the value of the company can increase, also with their contribution; 

- No Cash disbursement. Companies who suffer scarcity of cash attract employees through offering 

compensation which do not involve immediate payment in cash. (Damodaran, 2005) 

Conversely, many studies analyzed the problems and costs arose because of such equity compensation, 

namely: 

- Accounting treatment of stock options is not strictly regulated, it allows some sort of freedom to 

the company; over the years the debates have been going on and both professionals and 

academicals are not able to agree on the right treatment; 

- The detection of the key personnel comes also with relevant questions since it is difficult to 

determine and quantify the influence that each employee can have on the share value. Most of the 

options are granted to employees well below the top-executive level, and many firms offer options 
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to all employees. The lower-level employees are more attracted to cash compensation which is 

less risky than owning stocks while detaining a non-diversified portfolio.  

- the retention incentives created by the options granted to employees are higher when the stock 

price is already well above the exercise price of the options and the employee must be part of the 

company in order to exercise the option. When the stock price is below the strike price, the 

situation is reversed;  

- risk-averse employees value cash more than options, it seems reasonable that retention created 

with cash bonuses are a more cost-effective method than options; suppose, for example, that all 

firms in an industry offer identical compensation packages consisting of a base salary and an 

option grant with an exercise price equal to the grant-date market price. In a bull market, stock 

prices rise above the exercise price of the options and all workers will find it advantageous to stay 

with their current employers. But, in a bear market, stock prices fall below the exercise prices and 

workers will rationally leave their current firm to join a competitor offering a fresh compensation 

package. 

The cost of the option is intuitively the amount the firm would have gained if an investor from outside, 

which can hedge his position and detains a diversified portfolio, would have paid for the option. On the 

other side the value for the stock option for the executive is measured using as a benchmark the riskless 

amount of cash he would accept in exchange for the stock option identifying what is going to be the risk 

premium, namely the compensation for the higher risk on the option. (Hall and Murphy, 2003). The option 

cost is calculated with an option pricing model, such as the Black-Scholes formula which depends on 

parameters like the exercise price, stock price, volatility, risk-free rate, and time until expiration. When 

calculating the value of the option for executives, other parameters play a role such as the risk aversion 

of those, how much wealth of the executives is related to the firm and the number of granted stocks (Hall 

and Murphy 2003).  

This means that risk-adverse employees will consider the option having a lower value than the one implied 

by standard Black-Scholes calculations; therefore, this results in less-effective incentives.  

Restricted stock unit (RSU) 

RSUs are assigned to employees to align their interests to the company’s ones, like Stock Options. And 

also like a Stock option, an RSU gives the right of obtaining a share, when certain conditions are met. But 

the two equity-based compensations are different. Indeed, the main characteristics of an RSU are:  

- Subject to a vesting period, in which no share is issued yet; 

- Restrictions for the RSU to vest;  
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- Once vested, the restricted share is issued and given to the employee, usually free of charge (No 

strike Price) 

- Once issued, the restricted share is not like a normal share, because it is subject to constraints. 

Generally, one of the restrictions that come with the RSU is that the employee must stay in the firm for 

the RSU to vest. Also, companies may add other kind of restrictions such as performance-related target 

to reach, such as Revenue level compared to an internal or external benchmark.  

Once issued, the Restricted Stock cannot be traded freely by the employee until the end of the restriction 

period determined in the incentive plan. In order to become an “un-restricted” share, the company can 

force the employee to stay in the firm. 

There are also particular cases of RSU, such as the Phantom Stock and Restricted Share. The former 

consists of the employee enjoying benefits from the appreciation of the stock price while not effectively 

owning the shares. In this way the company does not issue new shares and the employee can still have his 

compensation, which usually is settled in cash. (Damodaran, 2005) The latter consists of stock already 

issued at the grant date, so there is no restriction in the vesting period. 

Restricted Stock Units have several advantages over stock options in providing incentives to top 

executives. Requiring top executives to hold company stock provides relatively stable incentives 

regardless of the stock price, whereas with stock options the incentive value of options depends on the 

market price of the stock relative to the exercise price.  

“Compared to stock options, RSU are arguably a better motivating tool, because unlike stock options 

that may become worthless in market downturns RSUs retain some intrinsic value. “(Liu S., The impact 

of equity incentive plans on analysts’ earnings forecasts and recommendations for Chinese listed 

firms: an empirical study, 2017) 

The difficult pressures and disincentives resulting from out-of-the-money options are avoided by granting 

RSU. Executives holding restricted stock rather than options have also better incentives to pursue an 

appropriate dividend policy. Since options reward only stock-price appreciation during the vesting period 

and not total shareholder returns, which include dividends, executives holding stock options have strong 

incentives to avoid dividends and to favor share repurchases. 

When the stock price fall sufficiently that the employee perceives that there is a low probability of having 

a gain from it, he/she would more likely to be less incentivized to stay in the company. This could result 

in the shareholders to try and issuing new stock options or lowering the previous strike price. And this of 
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course comes with a cost. These pressures and other problems resulting from the so-called underwater 

options can be avoided by granting RSU. 

Also, Restricted Stock Units can avoid some of the negative consequences of ESO on management’ s 

behavior: 

- Moral Hazard: when an option is Out-of-the-money, managers holding these options are more 

eager to undertake riskier investments compared to the situation in which the option is in the 

money; RSUs do not create this kind of problem; 

- Dividend policy: as said above, managers are less likely to favor dividend release, because this 

could negatively affect the share price and they also don’t capture the dividend, not being a 

shareholder; RSU, could mitigate this issue. Depending on the restriction, Restricted shares can 

also be entitled fully or partially to receive dividends.  

Accounting Treatment of Options and RSUs 

There has been a long debate on how to account for equity-based compensations during the years. 

Someone argues that, given that there is no cash disbursement, no expense should be recognized and 

therefore there is no effect on share value. Warren Buffet5 said: 

“If options aren’t a form of compensation, what are they? If compensation isn’t an expense, what is it? 

And if expenses shouldn’t go into the calculation of earnings, where in the world should they go?”  

(Buffet W., The Washington Post, 2002) 

As explained by Damodaran6, in the past there were mainly two common misleading rules in the 

accounting principles. First, companies were supposed to recognize the value of the Employees’ Options 

as an expense only when the shares were issued, and not when the options were granted. Therefore, all 

the outstanding options, already granted but not exercised yet, were not taken into consideration. Second, 

the value to be recognized at the grant date was only the difference between the exercise price and the 

actual price of the company. Therefore, at-the-money options were not recognized at the grant date.  

Nowadays, new rules are being applied. FASB 123R sets a series of rules for the accounting of equity-

based compensation. The basic concepts for both Options and Restricted Shares Units are:   

                                                             
5 Source: https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/opinions/2002/04/09/stock-options-and-common-
sense/a99334d1-c6b9-4207-9224-3d35bf3508d8/?noredirect=on&utm_term=.eab6c5e9dc40  
6 A. Damodaran, Employee Stock Options and Restricted Stock: Valuation Effects and consequences.  
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- At the grant date, companies have to calculate the fair value of the Options or of the RSU 

entitlement; fair value calculation may imply for example the use of a Monte Carlo simulation. 

- The value of the whole equity-based compensation entitlements must be spread over the vesting 

period and it should be treated as a compensation expense; 

- If any of the underlying variable used to calculate the fair value of the Option or RSU changes 

over years, companies must re-calculate the fair value and make adjustments to reflect the 

changes.  

SalMar and RSU plan 

“In accordance with the authorization granted by the company’s AGM, SalMar ASA’s board of 

directors has introduced a share-based incentive scheme (Restricted Share Unit Plan) for senior 

executives and key personnel employed by the company and its subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2017, 

the plan encompasses up to 237,228 shares, and has a term of three years. To this must be added the 

award for 2017, which formally took place on 15 January 2018 and encompassed a total of 240,863 

RSUs. “ (SalMar, Annual Report 2017) 

The restrictions applied by SalMar are the following:  

- The employee should be part of the company for the RSU to vest;  

- The vesting period is three years; in each year only the 33,33% of the RSU can vest;  

- Each year, the RSU will vest following these criteria:  

o One third will vest only if the company has the better EBIT/KG of the industry; 

o One third will vest only if the total shareholder return is higher than comparable 

companies; 

o One third will vest without performance restriction. 

- The maximum gain from the RSUs can not exceed the base salary of the participant in each year.    

Once the RSUs are vested, the Restricted shares are issued. The employees that are entitled of the RSU 

in SalMar are the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Directors of the Finance, 

Sales and Q&HSE departments. 
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3 – Financial Statement Analysis  
 
Accounting Quality 
When making any kind of analysis that involve using data from financial statements, the quality of data 

has to be carefully consider. It is true that companies report their annual figures in the Income statement 

and Balance sheet following the accounting standards, but this do not solve all the issues. Accounting 

regulations can not cover every single specific case and therefore they allow for a certain degree of 

flexibility. Also, many elements are marked at Fair Value, which many times include assumptions and 

estimation that cannot always be structured in rules. This is also partially framed by the independent 

Auditing companies, which examine financial statements of the company to avoid any kind of 

manipulation and non-compliance with the rules. 

Accounting policies may change over the years, underlying assumptions can change when making 

estimates, transitory items may affect the overall analysis of profitability of a company. Any possible 

problematic item, unclear rule or non-neutral estimation must be discovered and treated carefully. In the 

specific case of SalMar, the main Red Flags are represented by:  

- Biomass Asset and Fair Value Adjustments of Biomass: these items are marked at market value, 

and in the calculation of them, each company is allowed of certain flexibility; therefore, this could 

create problem in analyzing the performances across companies. As for the Fair Value 

adjustments of Biomass, in the subsequent analysis it is removed from the Core- operations of the 

company. Instead, the Biomass Asset is included in the calculation of Net Operating Asset, so the 

flexibility and subjective assumptions may affect the quality of the analysis. 

- Fair Value calculation of Equity-based compensation: when calculating the fair value of the 

options’ or RSUs’, the company uses Monte Carlo simulations, in which some idiosyncratic 

evaluations and assumptions are made.  

All the other possible reasons for bad accounting quality are not that significant, thus they are not analyzed 

in detail. No structural changes in the company’s business model happen throughout the period analyzed. 

Every changes and growth of the company is considered part of the normal, current and sustainable growth 

of the company.  

Reformulation of Financial Statements  
The main purpose of reformulating the various Financial statements is to understand which activities can 

be considered Value creating and Operating and which others are to be considered Financing.  
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Operating activities are those activities which are part of the core business of a company and contribute 

to the sustainable growth of it. Financing activities are all the other activities that are useful to obtain the 

right resources to finance the company.  

The reformulation is performed starting from the standard Financial Statements, which generally are 

constructed following specific Accounting Principles, such as International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) or Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Different accounting principles could 

translate into different policies and rules that affect Financial statements and therefore there is lack of 

uniformity among them. This clearly is another purpose for which reformulation is needed.  

Being a listed company, SalMar provides on its website a consistent amount of information useful for 

investors and analysts. For instance, information on the stock price’s current situation and developments 

in the last days are available as well as news or events which concern the company itself, the financial 

calendar for the upcoming months regarding for example Annual General Meetings schedule, and finally 

the annual and quarterly results. So, it was possible to find all the financial data needed directly on a 

trustworthy source with a good level of detail and reliability. Available we have SalMar’ s Annual Reports 

from the first IPO (2007) until the last Annual Report (2017). Annual Reports contains the three main 

Financial Statements, i.e. Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Shareholders’ Equity Statement, and 

other important documents like the Cash Flow Statement and the Notes related to the Financial 

Statements.  

Furthermore, in order to obtain a reliable evaluation of SalMar’ s performance, it is presented the analysis 

of the Financial Statements of four other companies that are similar or closely related to SalMar and for 

this reason we consider them as being part of the so-called Peer Group: 

 

- Grieg Seafood, 2007 - 2017 

- Marine Harvest, 2007 - 2017  

- Norway Royal Salmon, 2008 - 2017 

- Lerøy Seafood, 2007 - 2017 

 

As for the four peers, the relevant data are presented in the Annual Reports uploaded on companies’ 

websites. When missing the data from the company’s website, we found the data on Investext database, 

which is a reliable and widely used database.7 The sample of the four companies other than SalMar lead 

                                                             
7 Source: www.thomsonone.com  
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to which is the performance of one company relatively to the other companies, and therefore this will also 

drive the consideration on the Profitability of SalMar on this basis. 

For the purpose of the Valuation, and in order to obtain financial statements that are comparable among 

companies, the reformulation of them was implemented. The reformulation has been performed following 

Penman8’s guidelines; in particular, when creating the analytical financial statements, the clean surplus 

relation, 

!"#$ = !"#$&' + )$ + 	!+$ 

must be satisfied, where dt and CIt represent respectively the Transactions with Shareholders at year t and 

the Comprehensive Income at year t. In the next section insights will be given on each reformulated 

document more in detail, describing the reformulation process and giving arguments to support the 

different choices and approach taken in this study. 

The reformulated documents are a very important step for the reliability for the whole study since they 

are the basis of Valuation process.  

 
Reformulated Common Shareholders’ Equity Statement 
The purpose of reformulating this Financial Statement is to show all the elements that affected the 

Common Shareholder’ Equity throughout the years. The first step is to restate the beginning and ending 

balances of the Common Equity. After that, the elements that explain the link between beginning and 

ending balances ar analyzed, categorizing them into: 

- Transactions with Shareholders Items; 

- Comprehensive Income Items. 

 

Beginning balances. The first step consists of separating the Common Equity from the other Equity that 

belongs either to minority interest or to shareholders who own preferred stocks; these shareholders are 

considered creditors with respect to the Common Shareholders; therefore, these two categories of Equity 

need to be removed when considering Common Shareholders’ Equity. 

Furthermore, there is the need to assure that the so-called dividend payable is included in the beginning 

balance. Sometimes, when the board of directors deliberate the decision on the value of dividends that 

will be paid out in the near future to the shareholders, the company classifies them as a Liability. Clearly, 

                                                             
8 Penman. (2013) - Financial Statement Analysis and Security Valuation. 
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the common shareholders can not have a debt with themselves and this item should therefore be 

considered as part of Equity and not Liabilities. When the dividends will be effectively paid out, then this 

element will be considered among the transactions with Shareholders.  

As for SalMar, the financial statements clearly identify the different amounts of Minority Interest and 

Preferred Stock. Furthermore, as far as Dividends Payable are concerned, they are always included in the 

“Reserves”, which is part of Equity. 

Thereinafter, the other two categories mentioned earlier will be analyzed in detail. This step is especially 

useful to understand in which of the two categories the company has created or destroyed value for the 

Common Shareholders and therefore making consideration on the Sustainability of the company.   

Transactions with shareholders. In this section, the elements that explain the changes in the Equity 

balances from the beginning to the end of the year which are related to shareholders are listed.   

The elements that belong to this category can be mainly grouped in these categories:  

- Dividends paid to the common shareholders; 

- Capital Contributions 

- Shares Issue or Share Repurchase 

Examples of items found in this first part of Shareholders’ Equity Statement in the SalMar’ s Annual 

Reports are payment of dividends in cash to Shareholders, capital contributions from Shareholders, or 

issue of new shares for employees’ stock options and restricted shares for the RSU scheme.  

Also, detailed information is provided in the notes to the financial statements, especially regarding the 

entitlement of Share for the Restricted Share Unit incentive plan.    

Comprehensive Income. Then, in order to reconcile beginning and ending balances of CSE, the 

Comprehensive Income is considered. The starting point is the reported Net Profit, in the Income 

Statement.  

After that, all those items that are not included in the Income statement, but they affect the Shareholders’ 

Equity are treated. These elements are called Dirty Surplus Items since they bypass the income statement 

and therefore they are not included in the reported net income. In order to respect the clean surplus 

relation, mentioned above, these elements have to be considered.  
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FASB 1309 states that companies are required to report comprehensive items either inside the Income 

statement or in a separate statement. The most common element reported in this statement are:  

- Actuarial gains and losses; 

- Currency translation gains and losses; 

- Gains and losses on derivative instruments. 

SalMar reports these items in a separate statement right after the Income Statement.  

 

Reformulated Income Statement 
The Income Statement is a very important statement which shows how a company performed in a specific 

year. Using a metaphor, it is like a video that shows the different incomes and expenses that a company 

experienced in twelve months; the recognition of an expense or an income is based on the Accrual basis 

principle. 

The reformulation for both the financial statements for SalMar and for the peer companies is performed, 

following the same methodology and the same criteria as to obtain a consistent analysis of SalMar’ s 

performance relative to peer companies.  

First of all, the separation of Operating incomes and expenses from Financing ones . Moreover, all the 

items that are considered extraordinary and not current are pointed out and detached. When performing 

reformulation, a reasonable explanation on why one element is considered in one way instead of another 

is going to be stated as for the readers to be able to maintain a critical point of view and to understand 

whether it complies with the assumptions made in the study.  

Gross Profit. This first line item is obtained by subtracting the Cost of good sold to the Net Sales. This 

represents the margin that the company is able to realize before taking into consideration all the other 

costs.  

Net sales are the result of mainly two variables: the quantity of salmon which has been harvested and sold 

during the year, and the price that the company receives in exchange for its products. Cost of good sold 

is mainly composed by the production costs associated to the salmon production cycle, such as feed costs 

and other raw materials related to the latter. 

EBITDA. After that, all the other current operating expenses incurred by the company are subtracted, 

such as the salary costs, freight costs, delivery costs and operating equipment. There are also included the 

shares of profit/loss from associated companies in this section. The main reason for doing so is that 

                                                             
9 Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), source: www.fasb.org  
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associated companies operate in the same core business of SalMar. The participation in these associated 

companies is not considered speculative and therefore is not considered a Financial item.  

ESO & Restricted Stock Units. In the EBITDA there are also included the costs accrued in each year 

for the Employees’ stock options and the Restricted Stock Units (RSU). SalMar calculates the costs of 

these elements and clearly distinguishes them from the Salary payments. First, the Fair Value of the RSU 

is calculated by the company, which is obtained with a Monte Carlo simulation that takes into 

consideration variables like the market price of SalMar’ s share, the probability of  the employee still 

being part of the company and the likelihood of satisfying the performance- related restrictions that are 

necessary for the RSU to be vested. After that, the value of the RSUs granted is accrued over the three 

years period by SalMar. Every change in the underlying assumption across the years are than corrected 

and the cost is adjusted each year.  

Core EBIT. At this point Depreciations and Amortizations are considered. Throughout the years, the 

company has also entered some Leasing Contracts which have an operating nature, but the company do 

not capitalize them. Expenses related to Operating Leases are included in the “Other Operating Items”. 

Also, the company releases some additional Information such as duration of the contracts and separates 

out the Interests expenses which are incorporated in the lease payments.  

For the purpose of our analysis there is no need to capitalize the operating leases, because it has no impact 

on the Valuation of the company. As underlined by professor Aswath Damodaran in his study:  

“Converting operating lease expenses into financing expenses should have no impact on equity 

valuation. 

[…] The value of the firm increases, but so does the value of the debt.” (A. Damodaran, 1999). 

Furthermore, he underlines that this is true only when one condition is always satisfied. He states that the 

valuation of the company will not change when capitalizing leases if and only if the Debt-to-Equity ratio 

does not change over the valuation period. If this condition is not satisfied, the cost of equity will be 

changing accordingly to the leverage ratio. In this analysis, it is expected that the company will keep on 

having the same leverage throughout the Valuation period and this will also be reflected in the Proforma 

Balance Sheet that will be introduced in the Forecasting session. Also, none of the peers choose to 

capitalize operating leases, so when the performance of SalMar relatively to the peers is executed, 

Financial Statements are consistent between them.  

Tax Shield and Core NOPAT.  Once calculated EBIT, the so-called NOPAT, which is basically and after-

tax EBIT is calculated. The concept behind it is very simple. Different companies have different capital 
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structures, and therefore different financial expenses. This means that leverage influences net profit, 

basically because financial expenses reduce the amount of tax paid. In order to take this into account, and 

to have a line item that is not influenced by financing activities when making comparative analysis, we 

calculate the NOPAT, adding back the effect of Financial leverage, namely the Tax Shield. 

Fair Value Adj. of Biomass. This is an element that, even though operating and closely related to the core 

business of the company, it is not considered being part of the Core Ebit of the company. First reason is 

that it is extremely volatile across the years and it is not related at all to the operating performance of the 

company. Second reason is that, different policies in different companies may lead to different evaluation 

of this item and this will affect the consistency of the comparison of SalMar’ s performance and Peers.  

But, let’s see at how this item is calculated, so that the reader can have a clear idea of what is it related to. 

Basically, salmons’ life cycle lasts more or less three years, in which the live fishes go through the 

different stages of their lives. During this period, companies have to account for the value of them in 

economical terms. Therefore, fishes during the production process, are to be considered as an Asset and 

included in the balance sheet, usually under the name of Biological Asset. The exact value of this asset is 

hard to estimate, and companies use different assumptions and criteria to obtain a fair value of it.  

As for SalMar, Biological asset contains salmon roe, smolt and fishes in the sea. The first two categories 

are valued at cost. As for fishes in the sea, they are divided according to their weight and valued at Fair 

Value, as descried below:  

- Fishes with a weight < 1 kg. The best estimation of the Fair Value is accumulated costs; 

- Fishes with a weight between 1 kg and 4 kg. Fair Value is equal to expected Profit, distributed for 

the different classes of weight; 

- Fishes with a weight > 4 kg. Fair Value is expected Net Profit. 

And in particular: 

“The fair value of the biomass is calculated on the basis of market price for the relevant weight class on 

the balance sheet date, corrected for sales costs, including harvesting costs and wastage. The market 

price is adjusted for quality variations. The sales prices used are based on external forward prices 

and/or the most relevant price information available for the period in which the fish will be harvested.” 

 (SalMar,  Annual Report 2017) 

Also, the fair value of the Biological Asset can vary due to factors like extraordinary mortality, unexpected 

changes in water temperature and other random factors. Therefore, companies struggle with the exact 
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estimation of this value and each year they have to adjust their estimations, recognizing a profit or a loss 

in the income statement, that is Fair Value Adjustment of Biomass.  

Each year this element represents an important part of the company’s net profit. As for SalMar, from 2007 

to 2017 its weight varies from -11% of Revenues in 2011 to +8,5% of Revenues in 2013. Being an element 

of this relevance, in this study, it will be kept out of the NOPAT in the reformulation as to view at 

company’s performance regardless of its random impact.  

Comprehensive items.  

In this section of the Reformulated Income statements, all the comprehensive items are listed. They have 

already been analyzed in the previous section, which was about the Reformulation of Shareholders’ 

Equity. It is so determined in order to satisfy the clean surplus relation mentioned above.  

Financing Items. 

After that all the operating items are considered, it is now the moment to consider the financial items. The 

company in the Annual report lists four different categories of Financial items:  

- Financial income and Financial Expenses; 

- Interest income and Interest expenses. 

 

Interest income and Interest expenses are related to the interests paid and received respectively for Loans 

received by banks and Loans issued by SalMar to subsidiaries or income from Bank deposit; Financial 

income and Financial expenses are related to all the other financing activities that the company performs.  

After that, the Tax Shield effect which was already considered in calculating the NOPAT is added back 

as to obtain the Net Financial Expenses. Finally, the Net (Comprehensive) Profit is generated by the 

company for the Year. 

Reformulated Balance Sheet 
Continuing with the previous metaphor, while we defined the Income Statement as a movie of each single 

year, the Balance Sheet is more like a photograph instead. It pictures the balances of each of the Assets, 

Liabilities and Equity at a certain point in time, usually the last day of the year (when the fiscal year 

coincides with the calendar year). Balance sheet items are frequently sort following the liquidity order 

and also SalMar follows this rule. For the purpose of the analysis, as for the Income Statement, the 

reformulation of the Balance Sheet is performed, separating Operating Assets and Liabilities from 

Financial Assets and Liabilities. In this way it is  clearly understandable which activities performed by 

the company are related to the core business, which investments have been made and also which sources 
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the company uses to finance those investments. Also, consistency between Income statement and Balance 

sheet must hold. All the elements classified as Operating in the Income Statement will also have their 

related item classified as Operating in the balance sheet. 

Net Operating Assets (NOA) 

The net operating asset (NOA), also called Invested Capital (IC), is calculated by subtracting the 

Operating Liabilities to the Operating Assets. All the assets and liabilities that the are clearly related to 

the core business of the company are the ones considered to be the main source for sustainable value 

creation. Therefore, the NOA is a very important element and is a very reliable key indicator of the 

company sustainable growth.  

“Invested Capital represents the amount a firm has invested in its operating activities and which 

requires a return” (Petersen C. and Plenborg T, 2012). 

Most of the assets that are part of the NOA are easily related to the core activities of the company and 

therefore they do not require further specification. Elements such as Inventories or Property, Plants and 

Equipment, Accounts Receivable and Account Payable are for obvious reasons considered being 

Operating and you can find the relative element in the Income statement above the NOPAT.   

Some elements’ nature might arise some controversies consequently, hereinafter some explanation are 

given, on the reasons that addressed the classification. First of all, it has to be stated that an element must 

be either Operating or Financing. There is not a third category. A rule of thumb when classifying an 

element is to understand whether it is Interest Bearing or non-Interest Bearing and classify them 

respectively as Financing and Operating Activities. Also, Penman says:      

“Operating assets are those involved in the business, in selling goods and services. Financing Assets 

and Liabilities are those that are involved in raising cash for operation and disbursing excess cash from 

operations.” (Penman S. H., 2013). 

Following these parameters, the items which composed NOA are so reformulated.  

Biological Assets. As mentioned earlier, the calculation of the Biological Asset is dubious and their value 

is tied to the Market Value of salmon in different stages, for example by using Forward Contracts Price 

when estimating the Sales Price of the salmons which are bigger than 4 kg. Nevertheless, this element is 

considered as being an important and consistent part of the business of the company, and therefore this is 

treated as being Operating.  
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Investment in Associated Companies. Equity investments in other companies always need attention. First 

of all, it has to be understood the nature of this Investments, and also if the investment is a long-term or a 

short-term one. Short-term Equity Investments usually are used to make a return on some excess cash by 

investing in a liquid asset, and therefore they are to be considered as being a Financing Items. Long-term 

Investments are different; especially when a company invests in Associated companies which operate in 

the same core business. And this is the case of SalMar. SalMar invests in companies which operate in the 

Salmon farming industry, and they are intended to be long-term investments.  

Other Current Receivables and Other Non-Current Receivables. These elements are usually composed by 

the aggregation of multiple elements. Therefore, the only way to correctly classify them is to read through 

the Notes in the Financial Statements, in the Annual Reports. For SalMar, all the items included in these 

two categories are related to core operations, such as VAT-related and Pension-related Assets. There is 

only one element inside Other Current Receivables, namely Derivates, which in the reformulation is 

separated out from the NOA and will be included in the next section related among Financial Assets.   

Net Financial Obligations 

The Net Financial Obligations (NFO), or Net interest-bearing Debt (NIBD) is the difference between the 

Financial Liabilities and Financial Assets. It is a measure of Financial Position of the Company; Net 

Financial Expenses incurred by the company every year are tied to the NFO. 

As already mentioned for the Invested Capital, some elements are directly classified as Financing 

elements, because of their clear Financing nature; among them long-term and short-term Loans, 

Derivatives and Financial Leasing liabilities.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents. When classifying Cash and cash equivalents as either Financing or operating, 

the companies use of the cash have to be assessed. Therefore, if a company uses cash to finance its Net 

Working Capital during daily transactions, then this proportion of cash must be considered as an operating 

Cash. SalMar does not release much information on what is inside “cash and cash equivalents”, therefore 

the exact amount of cash and the exact amount of liquid assets is not known hence, the amount of 

Operating cash is not expressed. Therefore, as also suggested by Penman:  

“[…] as many firms have cash swept daily into interest-bearing accounts, she [the analyst] should be 

safe in classifying all cash as a financial asset.” (Penman S. H., 2013). 

Other Current Liabilities. In this item, the company aggregate elements such as Derivatives and other 

Accrued expensed and interest-bearing expenses. Therefore, it is treated as a Financial Liability.  
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Other current Receivables. As anticipated in the section on the NOA, the company aggregates in this 

element a lot of operating assets, but some portion of it is related to Derivatives. Therefore, Derivatives-

related part are separated out and added among the financial assets.  

Pension obligations and Pension assets. Even if these elements are both referred to employees, whose 

costs are mainly operating, pension costs and assets are to be considered differently. In a defined-benefit 

pension scheme, the firm can be sure about the payments received in the future. But in a defined-

contribution pension scheme, the company is only sure about the payments to be made, not about future 

benefits. 

“The Group [SalMar] switched from a defined-benefit to a defined-contribution pension scheme with 

effect from May 2006” (SalMar, Annual Report 2007) 

As a result of this change, the Value of the Pension Asset in the company’s Balance Sheet is not certain, 

but it is tied to some variables such as interest rates and the performance of the Pension Fund. Clearly, 

this can not be considered as an Operating item, but a Financing one instead. 

Equity 

Little needs to be said concerning the Equity. First, the distinction between which part of the Equity is 

related to Common Shareholders, and which part is not it is offered. Also, usually companies classify 

Dividends Payable as part of the Liabilities. But, as mentioned above, shareholders can not have a debt 

with themselves, and therefore Dividends Payable need to be included in Equity and not in Liabilities.  

And SalMar already classifies this item in Reserves, which is included in Equity. 

Time-series Analysis of Financial Statements 
To judge the performance of a company, some kind of benchmark to compare it with is needed. It can be 

affirmed whether in a certain year a company is performing good or bad only if the company performance 

is compared to something else.  

Historical performance can be one benchmark, to understand how a company performed year after year. 

This comparison with historical performance is usually called Time-series analysis. Moreover, a company 

can be evaluated relatively to other companies, maybe belonging to the same industry. In this way, the 

comparison is made with an external benchmarking, and it tells about the company’s ability to perform 

better then competitors. This kind of analysis is called Cross-sectional Analysis. In this chapter the focus 

is set on SalMar’ s performance only; first of all, a time-series analysis of the company’s performance is 

made. In order to facilitate the process, the single main figures are represented in a Trend-Analysis as to 

see the development during the sample period and then a Common-size versions of Income Statement and 
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Balance Sheet is prepared, which will help identifying unusual features that require more attention. The 

time series analysis of financial statements is also helpful in uncovering structural changes made by the 

company across the years and also it is very useful to make assumptions on how the elements in the 

financial statements will develop in the future when making the forecasting. In the next chapter more 

specific judgements are made on how SalMar performed compared with Peer Companies’ performances.  

Trend Analysis  

Income Statement. In this section the focus will 

be only on two main line items which will give 

an idea of the growth of company’s operations 

over time, namely Revenues and 

Comprehensive Income, which are respectively 

the first and the last line of the Income 

Statement.  Revenues is a very important 

element of a company’s financial statements. It 

tells you about the size of the company’s 

operation and usually the growth of revenues is 

the starting point of estimating the sustainable growth for the future. As showed in Figure 3, SalMar has 

always increased its Revenues year after year, slightly slower in the first years and more intensive after 

2012. In 2017 SalMar has totalized an amount of Revenues which is 6,46 times the beginning value in 

2007. But surely, raising revenues it is not enough to generate value for the Common Shareholders. The 

next item to investigate it is the Comprehensive Items to Common Shareholders. It tells basically what is 

available to the shareholders each year after all the costs have been deducted and tax have been paid. Or, 

when negative, it is the amount of value 

destroyed during the year.  During the sample 

period SalMar’ s Comprehensive income has 

fluctuated a lot as showed in Figure 4, for 

example when in 2011 it went down from 3,24 

times to 0,51 times its original value of 2007. 

Even though it is highly cyclical and unstable, the 

trend seems to be positive and in 2017 SalMar has 

recorded a Comprehensive Income 8,18 times 

bigger than 2007.   
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Balance Sheet. As far as the Balance Sheet is 

Concerned, the analysis of the trend of two of the 

major components of this Financial Statement, 

i.e. Net Operating Assets (NOA) and Net 

Financial Obligations (NFO) is of interest in this 

study.  As seen for the revenues, also the NOA 

have constantly grown during the whole period 

for SalMar. Slowly in the first years, faster from 

2010. The Figure 5 shows how in 2016 they have 

reached the maximum level of the sample 

period, namely 4,57 times of the value in 2007. This is mainly due to the investments in Property, Plant 

and equipment Assets and in Biological Assets. The outstanding level of growth is also confirmed by this 

item, which is a very good element to understand how much a company has increased its operations.   

The other Balance sheet item of concern is the NFO, which shows the level of the Net Financial Debt that 

the company has had during the years. From 

the Figure 6 it is shown that in the first years 

the company has experienced a very limited 

growth in the Financial Obligations, but then in 

2016 its value reaches 3,64 times the beginning 

value. Also, it seems that the company makes 

use of Financial Debt in a cyclical way, trying 

to reduce the leverage from time to time and 

therefore the default risk associated with it, 

which also is correlated with the interest rates 

paid on loans to the banks or financial institutions.  

Common-size Analysis 

Common-size Financial Statements show each line-item as a percentage of one main element of reference. 

In this way, when analyzing efficiency of the company or when making comparisons across the years, the 

absolute value and therefore the size of the operations is excluded although only considering the weight 

that every single element and how it has developed during the years. In this way it is easy to follow some 

characteristics and investigate any unexpected change.  
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Common-size Income Statement. It is 

constructed dividing each line-item by the 

Sales. Therefore, the size of the operations is 

not important anymore, but everything is 

expressed as a percentage of the revenues. A 

detailed study on how each line-item developed 

during the years is below presented.  

Here on the left it is shown the development of 

two different categories of Operating costs, 

namely Feed Cost & Variable costs, which 

include all the variable costs related to generate sales such as, feed cost and Operating costs, which include 

all the Indirect operating costs such as Salary, Maintenance, Marketing and Administration Costs. These 

two categories of costs represent a very consistent percentage of the Revenues. Considering them together, 

their values range from a minimum of 67,28% in 2017 to a maximum of 97,70% of the Sales in 2012. As 

we can see from the graph, these items fluctuate a lot during the sample period; this is mainly due to the 

fluctuation in Feed Price. Despite the fluctuation throughout the period, a positive trend in cost reduction 

for SalMar it is notices, which it is likely to persist in the upcoming years. And also, they clearly state: 

“SalMar’ s business operations have two clearly defined strategic objectives, 

which underpin our strategic foundations: 

1. On the farming side, we will produce our fish at the lowest cost by having the best operational 

efficiency. 

2. On the sales and processing side, we will strive to achieve the best possible price for our salmon and 

ensure optimal yields. 

These two goals have remained unchanged over many years, and have ensured that SalMar has 

maintained a leading position in the global salmon industry. In the years to come, these goals will 

continue to underpin SalMar’ s strategic foundations.” (SalMar, website 2018)10 

The company tries hence to pursue a clear strategy; it aims to obtain a competitive advantage, also in the 

long run, by reaching a cost leadership position.  

 

                                                             
10 Source: www.SalMar.no/en 
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The next item is Depreciation.  Even though its 

weight it is relatively low, ranging from a 

2,81% to a 4,40% of Sales, it seems that it will 

represent an always more important part of the 

Income Statement, as pictured by the trendline 

in Figure 8. This is the result of always more 

important investments in fixed assets made by 

SalMar throughout the years.  

All the companies operating in the Salmon 

Farming Industry have to deal with the next 

item, namely Fair Value Adjustments of Biomass.  

This is an item that can impact significantly on a company’s result of the year, even though it is not linked 

to the yearly performance of the company. As pictured in the Figure 9 its value ranges from -10,98% of 

Sales in 2011 to +8,48% of Sales in 2013. So, if this element is included in the profitability analysis, the 

company core profitability is affected and so should be for all the peer companies. Above, the 

reformulation section describes in detail how the company calculates this item. The high volatility is due 

basically to the fact that it is an item which is 

influenced by external factors, such as the 

Salmon Forward Price or the sea temperatures; 

the latter, together with the lice diseases, can 

undermine the normal growth of salmons. 

Therefore, this amount it is not exactly 

determined by the ability of the company to 

perform well in a determined year. The average 

over the eleven years is circa 1% of Sales and 

the median is 0,55% of Sales, meaning that the 

value of one year will most likely be offset in the future years and the expected long-run level is close to 

zero. For these reasons in this paper the Core-NOPAT is kept out even though it is clearly an Operating 

Item that is linked to salmon, which is the main product of the core business of the company. 

Also, the company has other Operating items such as Gains on Acquisitions, Onerous Contracts, Excess 

value of inventory from acquisitions, which are a very small percentage of Sales each year (Appendix 7). 

Taken together, their summed value goes from a minimum -0,8% in 2011 to a maximum +1,9% of Sales 
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in 2013. The Comprehensive items represent a small fraction of the Income statement. Their value is -

0,5% on average over the sample period.  

After having listed the Operating Items, now the next step in the time series analysis of the Income 

statement is to take a brief look at the Financing items. The Figure 10 pictures Net Financial Expense, 

before tax, i.e. without considering the Tax 

Shield Effect that Financial expenses create. As 

expected, the development throughout the years 

of the Net Financial Expenses as a percentage 

of Sales is highly interrelated with the Profit 

Margin, which is going to be anlayzed in detail 

in the chapter on Profitability Analysis. The 

correlation between these two elements is 75% 

circa. It is a reasonable outcome since the 

company increase its financial leverage in those 

year in which performance and margins are not satisfying.  

Common-size Balance Sheet. It has the same underlying principle of the Common-size Income Statement, 

but instead every line-item is expressed in percentage of Total Assets. Sometimes one can prefer to express 

everything as a weight of NOA instead. The analysis would still not differ much. In this analysis not all 

the items of the Balance Sheet are analyzed, but the focus will be set on the ones that can be helpful to get 

an idea of company’s performance and growth across these years.  

The first item is the so-called Net Working Capital, which is an index of the company’s ability to meet 

short-term obligations. It is calculated by summing up the Current Assets and netting them with current 

liabilities. Therefore, it is better for the 

company to always have a positive Net 

Working Capital. As shown in Figure 11, 

SalMar has experiences in many years a 

negative value for this aggregate amount. The 

consequences are obvious, and in fact in the 

years 2011-12 SalMar has had a high level of 

Debt, as showed by the NFO trend analysis 

(Figure 6).  The expected trend for the future 

years seems not to be positive for the company, 
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and therefore this can imply that the company will need to borrow financial resources to meet the short-

term obligations that need to be satisfied in order to keep the company in the business. And, this will be 

implicitly reflected in the cost of Debt, because interest rate applied takes into consideration the credit 

spread or credit risk of the company.   

The second important element of the Balance 

Sheet is the Biological Asset. It shows the value 

of the live fish that the company has invested in 

and all the companies operating in Salmon 

Farming Industry have this item in the Balance 

sheet. It is set at market value, using also 

Salmon Forward Price for different maturities 

for different ages of fishes, and adjusted every 

year with the correspondent item in the income 

statement. 

During the years its weight it is more or less stable (Figure 12), with an average of 29,89% with a 

maximum of 37,29 % of Total Asset in 2016 and a minimum of 22,49% in 2011. The cycle of a Salmon 

from the birth to the harvesting is not short, and therefore the company needs to keep a consistent amount 

of live fish in different stages that will be harvested in different points in time in the future.  

After that, the next item is the one that takes into consideration the investments that the company has 

made in Licenses. This is a very crucial item for 

a company that operates in this specific 

industry. The strategic importance of this 

element will be analyzed more in detail below, 

in the Strategic Analysis. For now, it is 

important to understand that a company is 

allowed to harvest only a limited amount of live 

fish, which is determined by licenses. The 

Amount of this item has grown, in absolute 

values, from 2007 until 2014 and then it has 

remained unchanged from 2014 to 2017. But it grows way slower than the rest of the Company’s Assets. 

And in fact, the Figure 13 shows its development in percentage of the Total Assets has decreased over 
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time. This kind of situation limits the possibility to grow, because company’s output is restricted and 

linked to the number of Licenses.  

So far, the focus has been on SalMar’ s Financial Statements developments and the relative growth and 

characteristics across the years of each line item. The benchmark has been SalMar itself and its past 

performances. In the next chapter SalMar’ s profitability is analyzed, its performance to those of the four 

peer Companies is compared looking at the main ratios, and the understanding of what drives company’s 

sustainable growth is stated. 

Profitability Analysis 
So far, we have seen the Reformulated Financial Statements, the assumptions we have made in the 

reclassification process and finally the developments of some of the important line item during the past 

year, to understand the size, growth and some characteristics of the company, such as the level of 

Revenues or the Financial Obligations across the years. 

In the following, a Profitability Analysis is performed, looking at the main ratio that can tell us what has 

driven the growth in SalMar so far, understand whether it is a sustainable source of Value and in the 

second part of the chapter we will compare its performance to those of the main companies operating in 

the same Industry.  

What is Profitability?  According to Penman11, “Profitability analysis establishes where the firm is now. 

It discovers what drives current ROCE. With this understanding of the present, the analyst begins to 

forecast. […] the purpose is to identify the sources of value generation” (Penman, 20104) 

The profitability analysis performed in this section is based on the model introduced by Petersen C. and 

Plenborg T., in their book12, also called Du Pont model, with some changes that we consider being more 

appropriate for our Analysis. Ratios are calculated using figures from Reformulated Income Statement 

and Reformulated Balance Sheet. For the latter, we use average figures between the two years, because 

values in balance sheet do not reflect the changes during the year.  

Figure 14 shows the framework of our Profitability Analysis. 

 

                                                             
11 Penman S., “Financial statement analysis and security valuation”, 2010. 
12 Petersen C, Plenborg T, ”Financial Statement Analysis: Valuation, credit Analysis and Executive Compensation”, 2012 
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Figure 14 

Profitability Analysis - SalMar 

The starting point of the Analysis is the Return on Common Shareholder’s Equity (ROCE): 
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It is a ratio that briefly explains whether the company performed positively or not for a determined year. 

It represents the profitability of the shareholders’ Investment. It is also the rate of the growth or decrease 

of the Equity caused by the Business Activities for that specific year. Therefore, it is important first of all 

to look at how SalMar’ s ROCE has been throughout the period.  

From Figure 15 we can see that SalMar has always had a positive ROCE, therefore the Business Activities 

have always added value to the common 

shareholders. It is clear from the shape of 

the curve that the company has 

experienced some sort of cyclicality in 

the ROCE, which goes from low levels, 

11,58% in 2008, to high levels, 45,08% 

in 2010, and then again to a low level, 

6,47%. And a similar cycle is repeated in 

the following six years. The purpose of 

the Profitability Analysis is to understand 
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what affects the company’s profitability, and therefore, which factors, either internal or external, make 

the company’s performance so volatile.   

First level Breakdown. The next step of the Analysis is the breakdown of the previous ratio in two 

components. The first one is about the Operating Profitability of the company, which is the sustainable 

source of Value creation for the shareholders, and the other one is the Financial Leverage effect:  

,-./ = BCDE + F4943;G4	#HH4:@ 

The main focus is to understand what drives the Operating profitability of the company because in the 

future, value is sustained thanks to the core business of the company. The leverage effect contributes to 

the final value creation for the shareholders, but it is not considered to be sustainable in the long run.  

Return on Net Operating Asset (RNOA), also called Return on Invested Capital (ROIC), expresses the 

ability of the company to generate value from the Operations. In order to obtain a reliable Profitability 

Analysis, drivers of the sustainable value creation are to be considered; for this reason, two different kinds 

of RNOA, namely a Core-RNOA and a Non-Core RNOA, are identified and they are plotted together 

with the overall RNOA. The former is nothing but the Return generated by the company through the core 

and recurring activities and is a pure indicator of company’s performance.  The latter is also a measue of 

company ability to generate return on the Net Operating Assets, but throughout the years is influenced by 

non-recurring items, therefore can not be assumed to be sustainable in the long run. Also, when comparing 

SalMar with other peers, attention is paid on the avoidance of the Ratios being influenced by firm’s 

policies and personal assumptions, such 

as the one implemented for the fair value 

calculation of the Biomass Assets and 

therefore the Far Value Adjustments 

which derive from that. The focus of the 

Analysis will be therefore the Core-

RNOA: 

.IJK	,L-M =
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From the graph in Figure 16 it is clear that the ciclycality also affects the RNOA, both core and non-core 

one.  
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Also, the core RNOA seems to be a slightly less volatile than the overall RNOA, given that the non-

recurrent, random, elements are excluded; and this is the reason behind the choice to exclude the non 

recurring items.  Throughout the years, SalMar has a good level of Operating profitability, with a Core-

RNOA that goes from a minimum level of 6,60% in 2012 to a maximum level of 28,20% in 2017. From 

the graph it is also clear the correlation with the ROCE.  

What affects the latter, beside the RNOA, is the leverage effect, which is calculated as: 

P/Q. /SS.= (BCDE − CV!) ∗ 	
CYD
!"#  

The first part of the equation tells us 

whether the company is creating value by 

borrowing resources at a certain Net 

Borrowing Cost (NBC) and investing 

them in the Operations of the company, 

which give a Return equal to the  RNOA. 

The second part of the equation is the 

Financial Debt/Equity Ratio, which 

amplifies or limits the effects of the 

SPREAD. During the years, the Spread 

has always been positive and therefore the Financial Debt has increased the Value for the Shareholders. 

It also fluctuates as the RNOA does, and that is also given by the positive relation between Spread and 

RNOA. So, as long as the company keeps a positive Spread, the financial Leverage can will contribute to 

increasing the value of the Company. 

Second level breakdown.  The development of SalMar’s operating profitability throughout the years was 

studied and how the Financial leverage positively affected the overall profitability of the company. The 

goal is  to understand what are the drivers for the company’s profitability and value creation. Therefore 

break down the Core-RNOA is further performed:  
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The two drivers of the RNOA are the so called Profit Margin and the Asset Turnover rate. Profit Margin 

is a ratio that explains the percentage of Sales that is transformed in Operating Profit, after considering 

the expenses and the costs. From Figure 18 it is shown that the Profit Margin across the years is almost 

as equal as the RNOA. This is of course because the Turnover rate is always close to 1. Being in a capital 

intensive industry, SalMar has a low 

Asset Turnover rate in the whole period, 

meaning that the company need to invest 

heavily in Net Operating Assets in order 

to generate more sales. Also, if we 

consider that among the Net Operating 

Assets there is also the Biological Assets 

and that the production cycle for a SalMar 

is approximately three years long, than it 

makes sense that the company need to 

invest a lot in NOA today be prepared to 

sell salmon for the next years. The next step is to further narrow down the investigation, in order to 

understand what factors ultimately influences company’s performances. And this will be very useful when 

Forecasting the company’s future performances. 

Third level breakdown. What factors influence the changes in the core Profit Margin ? What influences 

the Asset Turnover instead ? The main components of the core profit margin are the Core Nopat, and 

Sales. Core Nopat is influenced by variable costs, depreciation, employee compensation and other 

operating costs. In the common-size analysis it was analysed how some of these elements develop as a 

percentage of revenues. Core profit margin is an indicator of the ability of the company to transform a 

unit of sales in a unit Operating Profit and 

is therefore a measure of efficiency. But, 

the ratio is somehow cyclical as verified 

in  Figure 18. And also all the elements 

that determine the core Nopat look like 

they follow the same ups and downs 

throughout the years.  What factors can 

influence both revenues and variable 

costs in a very similar way ? Some 

analyses show that the company’s 
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performances are tied to the salmon price changes. The Figure 19 on the right shows the developments of 

both Revenues and Costs are higly correlated with the Salmon spot price throughout the years. The 

correlation coefficient between salmon price and he revenues is 91,4%. The correlation between Variable 

costs and salmon price is 86,1%.   

Salmon Price. The determinants of the Salmon price can be severals and different. First, it is legit to 

assume that the two factors that directly affect it are the Supplied and the Demanded Quantities of Atlantic 

salmon; every shift in one of the two elements can cause changes in price. A clear example is when in 

2010 the production of Chilean atlantic salmon went down to the 10% of the quantity previously produced 

in 2008 because of the so called Infectious Salmon Anemia (ISA) virus spread. This shift in the supply 

caused an increase of salmon price from 26,36 NOK (average 2008) up to 37,34 NOK (average 2010), 

with an upside change of +40% circa. The atlantic salmon development cycle is around 24-36 months 

long, and therefore it took some time before the supply was restored.  

The Chilean example introduces to one of the factor that can cause shifts in the production of atlantic 

salmon, i.e. disease outbreaks. There are also other factors that influence supply, such as sea water 

temperatures, fish escapes or feed quality. As for the Demand side, some of the determinants are the 

population number, the always growing consumption of healthy food and the income level can be the 

main drivers.  

So it is clear that SalMar profitability is higly influenced by External factors as mentioned above. And, as 

explained in the next section, these factors influence the whole industry. The next section mentined is 

about the evaluation of SalMar’s performances relatively to the peers, in order to see what drives the 

profitability internally for SalMar compared to thr other companies.  

Profitability Analysis - SalMar & Peers 

So far, the focus has been on Salmar only. But in order to better assess the performance of the company, 

an external benchmark is needed, namely the four peer companies, which will be used as a proxy for the 

Industry average performance.  

How did SalMar perform compared to the other Peer Companies, namely Marine Harvest, Grieg Seafood, 

Norway Royal Salmon and Lerøy Seafood, in the sample period ? 

Each ratio or driver will be analysed and plotted for all the five companies in the same graph over the 

sample period. The analysis will not focus in detail on how the single peer performed, but the focus is set 

on SalMar. In the following, the analysis of the overall profability of the companies across the years will 

be addressed, looking at the level of ROCE.  
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From the graph in Figure 20, we can see that SalMar had a higher Return on Common Equity than the 

peers throughout the period, in almost all years. Only in 2016 Norway Royal Salmon had a better ROCE, 

but already in 2017 SalMar is again the company with the highest value for this ratio. This is mainly due 

to the high Operating profitability that SalMar has experienced throughout the years (Figure 21). Indeed, 

the company has in most of the sample years the highest Core Return on Net Operating Assets. As 

displayed from both graphs, all the companies are influenced by the same cyclicality, due to the changes 

in the underlying Atlantic Salmon Price. Nevertheless, SalMar is able to obtain a higher Profitability than 

the other companies. To better understand where SalMar is exactly doing better than the Peers, it is 

possible to isolate the single components of the Core RNOA, namely the Core Profit Margin and the Asset 

Turnover.  

 

From the Picture 22 it is possible to note that SalMar has a low Asset Turnover compared to some of the 

peers, and in particular to Norway Royal Salmon, which has a turnover never lower than 1,5. This 

means that SalMar does not efficiently exploit the Net Operating Assets to generate high sales, as NRS 

does for example. On the other side, SalMar is the most cost-efficient company among the peers 

throughout the selected period (Figure 23). Indeed, its core profit margin is almost in all years above the 
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other companies’one, except for the 2011 when Marine Harvest over performed. In the last year, Marine 

Harvest had a big increase in Profit Margin, recovering the gap with SalMar.   

One last ratio, is the EBIT/Kg. It is another measure of efficiency, just like the profit margin. This ratio is 

used to compare salmon companies’ performances against each other. It would be more consistent and 

coherent to study the Core-Nopat/KG, but given that the EBIT/kg is also one of the criteria for the RSU 

to vest, this ratio is analyed instead. It is a measure of both efficiency and VAP potential realisation. 

Efficiency, because the EBIT is a ratio that indicates what is left after all the operating expenses have 

been considered. The higher the efficiency, the lower the costs, and as a result, the higher the Ebit (all else 

being equal). As for the VAP, companies use value added processes in order to improve the perceived 

quality of the product. This leads to a higher premium price, and therefore higher Ebit/Kg (all else being 

equal). Being an important measure of company’s 

performance, Salmar has chosen it as one of the 

restrictions for the incentive scheme. Namely, 

restricted shares are issued only when Salmar has 

the highest Ebit/Kg among salmon companies 

listed on the OSX. In this way, the achievement of 

a high Ebit/Kg is not only a company’ s goal, but it 

is also in the managers and employees’ interests. 

Salmar, over the sample period, have struggled in 

many years to be the best among peers. Then, in 2015, the company started granting the RSU, and in 2015 

and 2016 the company had the best EBIT/Kg among the peers. So, for the first two years the RSU suggests 

had a positive impact on Company’s performances.  

Conclusions of the Profitability Analysis 

SalMar is not the biggest company operating in the Salmon Farming industry, as seen also in the 

introduction to the industry. It is neither the biggest in terms of Sales, nor in terms of market capitalisation. 

But for sure it is the most cost efficient in the industry. And when operating in this particular industry, 

which is higly affected by external factors as we have seen above, in which Revenues and profitability for 

all the industry largely depends upon Salmon price development,  internal efficiency is crucial.  

Efficiency is probably the main Internal driver for the future profitability and sustainability of the 

company in the long-run. And Salmar has also built a RSU-based incentive scheme linked with a measure 

related to the efficiency. In the next section, a strategic analysis of the Industry is performed, to better 

understand what are the competitive dynamics that take place in the Salmon Farming Industry. After that, 
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concepts from both Profitability and Strategic Analysis will be useful to picture the SalMar strategic 

position in a SWOT Analysis.  

4 - Strategic analysis 
 

In this section, the competitive dynamics that take place in the Norwegian Salmon Farming Industry are 

addressed and the position of SalMar in this context is clarified, trying to identify how this can affect the 

future performances of the firm and the role that it can play in the industry. Quoting professor Les Worrall 

from the Wolverhampton Business School the strategic analysis is:  

“… a theoretically informed understanding of the environment in which an organization is operating, 

together with an understanding of the organization’s interaction with its environment in order to 

improve organizational efficiency and effectiveness by increasing the organization’s capacity to deploy 

and redeploy its resources intelligently.” (Worrall L., “Strategic analysis: a scientific art” - 1998). 

The starting point is the analysis of the external macro-level variables that influence the industry where 

the company operates, namely the political, economical, social, technological, environmental and legal 

factors. This is referred to as PESTEL analysis. Subsequently through the Porter’s five forces analysis we 

are going to consider the competitive dynamics which shape the competition intensity in the industry. 

Ultimately, the internal factors are assessed through a Value Chain analysis, which entails the chain of 

activities that add value to the final product in the industry. The strategic analysis will have its conclusion 

in SWOT and TOWS analysis, which will assess the relation between internal characteristics of the 

company and external factor coming fro the industry.  

PESTEL Analysis 
 

The purpose of PESTEL analysis is to identify what is happening outside the control of the company and 

how these factors may affect the environment of the industry. An analysis of the following factors will be 

provided: Political, Economical, Social, Technological, Environmental and Legal.  

Political Factors  

The Norwegian juridical system enjoys high levels of public trust and has a long-standing reputation for 

independence, competence, and integrity (FER, 2014). It is considered efficient both in protecting 

property rights and in enforcing commercial contracts (ICS, 2015). Businesses experience the juridical 

system as independent and as effective in settling disputes (GCR, 2015-2016). Public polls reveal that 

bribes and abuse are almost never experienced (European Commission, 2014) and very few citizens 
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believe that the judicial system is corrupt (GCB, 2013). Therefore, Norwegian salmon companies can 

operate in a politically stable environment. 

Also, Norway is not part of the European Union. However: 

“As member of the European Free Trade Association (EFTA), Norway seeks to conclude bilateral Free 

Trade Agreement in the so-called EFTA framework. This means that Switzerland, Norway, Iceland and 

Liechtenstein can negotiate a Free Trade Agreement with a respective third country via EFTA” 

(European Commission13). 

Being a Norwegian company, SalMar enjoys the benefits of the Trade Agreements signed by the 

Norwegian Reign as much as it is affected by restrictions of other countries against Norway.  

Recent political crises had led to relevant reduction of the exports. Since August 2014, Russia restricted 

the food imports after receiving sanctions from Europe because of the Russian controversial policies in 

the unification of the Ukrainian Crimea region inside the Russian borders and jurisdiction. The cooling of 

the relations brought to the food embargo reports, which caused a decrease of 10% of salmon export from 

Norway.  

Furthermore, other old tensions have been relaxing in recent time, allowing a new journey of cooperation 

between Norway and China. In 2010, the Nobel Peace Prize was awarded to the Chinese dissident Liu 

Xiaobo, a human rights activist and as a consequence China reduced consistently imports from Norway. 

“In 2010, the country almost accounted for all of China’s salmon exports, according to data from the 

Norwegian government and DNB Markets, a Norwegian bank. Since then, its salmon exports to the 

mainland have plummeted, and by 2015 even the Faroe Islands, Norway’s tiny Nordic neighbor, was 

exporting more salmon to China.” (Quartz14) 

Nowadays, and once Xiaobo passed away in 2017, the relationship between the parties is going back to 

the normality. The coming positive situation opens a big opportunity of growth for the Norwegian Salmon 

industry. 

 

 

 

                                                             
13 Source: http://ec.europa.eu/trade/policy/countries-and-regions/countries/norway/ 
14 Source: https://qz.com/1000541/norway-wants-china-to-forget-about-the-human-rights-thing-and-eat-salmon-instead/   
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Economical factors 

Most of the economy is based on natural resource exploitation, including fishing, petroleum as first 

components of the GDP. Being the Norwegian Economy a small but very open one, exports and imports 

are heavily influenced by external events. (OECD, 2018). 

Consequently, the exchange rate of the currency has a great relevance for the development of the country 

since it affects the foreign demand for Norwegian goods and services and it attracts foreign investment in 

Norway. (Bernhardsen T. and Røisland Ø, 2000). The Norwegian krone (NOK) has been depreciating 

against all major currencies since October 2017, in parallel with the sharp downward trend in oil prices. 

In fact, the wholw economy and therefore the exchange rate of the Norwegian currency is influenced by 

the oil price. (Bernhardsen T. and Røisland Ø, 2000). In Figure 25 it is evident that there is a great 

correlation between the oil price trend and the exchange rate USD/NOK.  

 

Figure 25 - Source: OECD Economic Surveys, Norway, 201815  

This depreciation of the currency has indirectly helped the non-oil sectors to push the exports, being the 

Norwegian goods relatively cheaper to the foreign countries. (OECD, 2018).  

The Norwegian economy continues to perform well, despite low oil prices, a testimony of the fact that the 

Norwegian Government is helping other non-oil business to grow. Being the salmon aquaculture one of 

the major non–oil industry in the country, advantages are mainly expected for it; this is confirmed also by 

the Norwegian exports increase of 5,1% in 2017, attributable also to the fishing industry. (FAO, 2018).  

High relevance should be given to the exchange rate fluctuations since the main production of business 

are accounted in NOK and most of the exports from Norway are all over the world. Policy needs to help 

                                                             
15 Source: https://www.oecd.org/eco/surveys/norway-2018-OECD-economic-survey-overview.pdf 
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business seize opportunities from globalization and facilitate diversification away from oil-related 

activities.  

As far as the taxes attributable to Norwegian companies are concerned, Norway is a country with the 

highest taxation in the OECD area but from recent reforms a reduction of taxation was implemented by 

the Norwegian Government.  

In fact, recent reforms are leading to a reduction on direct taxes, rebalancing this missing income tax with 

more indirect taxes. The Norway taxation seeks a shift from the expansionary fiscal stance to a neutral 

fiscal stance which implies a decrease in government spending while intensifying spending reviews. This 

would increase companies’ revenues and push for investments. (OECD, 2018).  

Social factors 

The Norwegian fishing industry position has a world leading role on technological development and above 

all on the production and export. This makes the Norwegian fishing companies more aware and caring 

about the world condition in the future for what concerns fishing consume.  

By 2050 the world´s population will increase by 34% resulting in 9.1 billion of people on the planet. One 

of the most relevant consequences is the tremendous increase of food production’ s need, which is about 

70 % more of the actual production (FAO, 2018). Moreover, the FAO “Prospective on for Fisheries and 

Aquaculture” paper announces how the future urbanization will bring together more people with different 

consumption patterns in the cities which will need more and more semi-processed or ready to eat food. 

This will trigger an increase in the demand for grains as well as for vegetables, fruits, diary and fish. 

In this new scenario, the seafood can play a major role in feeding the growing global population. In 

particular the middle-income class will increase from 1.8 billion in 2009 to 3.2 billion by 2020 and 4.9 

billion by 2030 and will require to consume a higher proportion of fish as a source of protein (Pezzini M., 

2012).  

Therefore, because of the higher predicted demand for seafood, and hence for salmon, a larger 

production is required together with a higher amount of workforce. Also, the foreign workers in 2017 

accounted for more than 50% of the total employees in the Norwegian fish processing industry, 

compared with the 12% in 2003. “The increase in overseas workers suggests that the fish processing 

industry is struggling to be competitive for Norwegian workers, but that this industry is very competitive 

in the EEA” (Henriksen E., 2017)16 

                                                             
16 Source: https://nofima.no/en/forskning/naringsnytte/fewer-norwegians-working-with-fish/.  
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The level of seasonal variation and inability to offer year-round work are the reasons why Norwegian 

workers are reluctant to work in the fisheries industry where they may sometimes have to accept only a 

few months of work a year. This attracted immigrants, especially from Eastern Europe since the wage 

level in Norway is often five times what workers can earn in Eastern Europe. It is going to be fundamental 

the availability of new workforce and the welcoming of foreign employees. 

“The processing industry in Norway is far from causing wage inflation, but wages here are still much 

higher than workers in many EEA countries can earn at home. Therefore, people often are happy to 

take seasonal work in Norway” (Henriksen E., 2017).17 

Therefore, Norwegian salmon companies need to consider also the social aspects and the effects that they 

can have in the long run.  

Technological Factors 

This aspect has become a key factor, in the salmon farming industry as in every other industry in the 

world.   Through researches and advanced discoveries, instruments to exploit opportunities and to update 

production are made available to the companies in the aquaculture segment.  

The production technologies can be land based or positioned in the sea water, at different distances from 

the coast, as shown in the below Figure 26. Different setups require different technologies and they have 

different implications for companies. 

 

Figure 26 - Source: Marine Harvest Hand Book 2017 

The traditional Open Net Pens (ONP), for instance, are pens enclosed on the bottom of the sea, sided all 

around but still directly in contact with the surrounding enviroment. The farms which employ this 

technique are located in areas along the coast. In the sea water the fish is oxygenated thanks to sea-currents 

and the waste such as faeces and feed are dispersed into the water with no cost for the firm. This certainly 

                                                             
17 Source: https://nofima.no/en/forskning/naringsnytte/fewer-norwegians-working-with-fish/.  
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affects the surrounding water which was proved to change the chemical composition and to endanger the 

other species, while keeping a high risk of fish escape from the pens. 

Other technologies have been applied as land based located such as the Closed and Semi Closed Systems 

(CCS), which aims to control the development of the smolt, and Recirculation Aquaculture Systems 

(RAS), which is characterized by a low water requirement, relatively small space needed and by the 

controllability of the seasonality of production. Both methods are aimed to avoid salmon escapes and lice 

diseases and to produce the Atlantic salmon up to the weight of one kilogram before transferring it to the 

traditional pens in the ocean. In fact, further developments are focusing on producing larger juvenile fish 

before putting them in open waters; by being able to grow more before going into the ocean waters, the 

risks linked to lice and other diseases can be reduced (Nofima, 2015). Moreover, through methods such 

as CCS and RAS, the production can happen near the markets; as an advantage there is the reduction of 

air freight costs, but as a disadvantage there could not be any more natural advantage for the Norwegian 

salmon farming companies derived from the production in the Norwegian fjords. (PwC, 2017). 

Nowadays the ONP system is still the most cost efficient and large investments are needed to build CCS 

and RAS system and to provide them with specialized workers. PwC in its report “Sustainable growth 

towards 2050” expects both RAS and CCS to be more competitive in the future, exploiting the fact that a 

long run obsolesce of the ONP is probable (PwC, 2017).  

The Economist journal, in an article dedicated to the new technologies and the salmon farming industry, 

also including SalMar. According to it, following the thrive to technological improvements, SalMar has 

taken a leading position in the industry investing in the so-called Ocean Farm 1, the most recent 

infrastructure technological advance. It consists of the first of the six experimental fish farms that the 

company is planning to build, and which will account for 300 million of USD. Ocean´s Farm frame can 

contain 1.5 million baby salmons and it has 12 echo sounders, cameras dangled into the water at different 

depths. These sensors are going to gather data in order to build a learning program which will elaborate 

the behavior of salmons in order to optimize feeding. This new structure is positioned in the seawater of 

Norway and this would help to solve some key problems of near-shore farming such as the pollution 

derived by the excrements of the salmon population. One more advantage of Ocean Farm 1 is the ability 

to exploit deeper ocean water which will increase the capacity of production and it will provide better 

oxygenation for the fish. (The Economist, 2017), (SalMar, Annual Report 2017). 

The R&D investments have hence become crucial for the companies in the salmon industry since a 

continuous flow of new technology that can reduce costs, enhance efficiency or mitigate biological risk 

is needed. The extensive focus on R&D is partially due to the biological issues the industry has faced, 
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especially with sea lice and diseases (PwC, 2017). As a matter of fact, the salmon farming segment is 

regarded as the most sophisticated and developed segment within aquaculture (Intrafish, 2018).  

The Norwegian Government, in order to address the need of new licenses along with the urgency of 

creating a sustainable growth for the industry released in the summer of 2013, 45 new salmon farming 

licenses which are entirely related to environmental criteria (Intrafish, 2018). These development licenses 

are intended to motivate innovations and investments into new technologies that can undertake and solve 

the biological issues which are the most negative factors pertaining to the industry such as fish escape and 

sea lice, while supporting an environmentally friendly growth. Nowadays the frontier of new 

technological discovering will enable the companies in the seafood industry to optimize the decision-

making process with the use of Artificial Intelligence and Big Data models.  

To sum up, technology can therefore create new opportunities in a near future that can help companies to 

reduce costs and mortality rate, improving quantity and also quality of salmons. 

Environmental Factors 

The Norwegian Veterinary Institute (Veterinærinstituttet) testifies the good health of Norwegian salmon 

from aquaculture. The Norwegian fish health service is leading the way in the industry on a global scale. 

(SFN, 2017). 

When it comes to salmon production, Norway’s ecological footprint is impressive, especially in view of 

carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions. This result was determined by SINTEF, the largest independent research 

institute in Scandinavia, NTNU, the Norwegian University of Science and Technology, and SIK, the 

Swedish Institute for Food and Biotechnology. Direct and indirect emissions of CO2 during fish 

production were measured and the Norwegian salmon resulted to be production with the smallest 

ecological footprint:  

in order to produce 1 kg of salmon, just 2.5 kg of CO2 is consumed. (Salmon Facts, 2016). In order to 

have a clearer idea of the impact, pork has an ecological footprint of 5.9 kg of CO2, whilst the figure is 30 

kg for beef, with 1 kg of meat being produced in each case. Given that salmon is a protein-based food 

which is eco-friendlier for the planet, salmon farming companies can gain competitive advantage on other 

food products if we consider that customers are more and more oriented towards more sustainability in 

food production. (SFN, 2017).  

One fundamental environmental factor is the temperature of the water which is a constraint for the survival 

of salmons. Due to biological characteristics, seawater temperature required it has to be in a range from 
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8° to 14° degrees. Moreover, the presence of currents of a certain intensity are highly required; this is why 

typically production stands are located by archipelagos or fjords. (Marine Harvest, Hand Book 2017). 

The salmon farming segment faces also other environmental challenges which mainly are the lice presence 

in the sea water and the escape of salmons. 

The latter phenomenon was proved by the Norwegian Scientific Advisory Committee for Atlantic Salmon 

which announces the status of the wild salmon population every year. From the report of 2017, there is a 

confirmation of the actual trend of decreasing of the wild population; the amount of Atlantic Salmon 

which return from the ocean to the rivers as adults, is half of the amount of those returning in the 1980s. 

The most relevant cause is identified to be the farming salmon industry which is the protagonist of a 

consistent amount of escaped farmed salmon.  

Sex ratios, length distributions and times of ascent of wild and farmed salmon differed significantly, 

reflecting major variations in biology and behavior. High proportions of farmed salmon (>20%) were 

found only in rivers having fish farms situated closer than 20 km from the outlet. (Gausen D. and Moen 

V, 1991). Norwegian authorities together with the firms involved have taken measures with the aim of 

keeping the number of escapees to a minimum, in fact there was an 80 percent reduction in the number of 

escapees in Norway between 2006 and 2016 as shown in the Fig 27 below (SFN, 2017). 

 

Figure 27 - Source: own production from Nofima Report data 2017 

The other problem faced by Norwegian salmon companies is the salmon louse (lat. Lepeophtheirus 

salmonids), which is a parasite that naturally occurs in all oceans in the Northern Hemisphere. (Marine 

Institute Foras Na Mara)18. These insects live and breed on wild and farmed salmon alike and it is actually 

                                                             
18 Source: : https://www.marine.ie/Home/site-area/areasactivity/aquaculture/sea-lice/life-cycle-salmon-louse  
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a species of crab with eight stages of development. During the initial stages, they are carried along by 

bodies of water, meaning they can spread over large areas. When it attaches itself to the salmon, it can 

develop into an adult louse that can reproduce itself. 

A single salmon louse does not actually pose any problems for the farmed salmon and it will not impact 

negatively on the quality or food safety of the flesh of the salmon. However, if a salmon has too many 

lice attached, it can die. The mortality rate caused by lice is a serious problem for companies. When 

looking at Financial Statements, extraordinary mortality rate caused by lice can represents in some years 

a consistent part of the company’s Income statement. 

Given that Norwegian salmon farmers take animal welfare very seriously, government institutions, the 

fish industry and scientists work closely together to continually reduce the salmon louse population. 

Monitoring and documenting the existence of lice is crucial in this quest. This means that Environmental 

factors is something the companies have to cope with during their daily operations.  

Legal Factors 

Fish Farming industry in Norway is subject to numerous regulations such as the Aquaculture Act of the 

17th June of 2005 and the Food Safety Act of 19th December of 2003. The quantity of harvested salmon 

is regulated by licenses granted by the government. For example, the number of licenses for the Atlantic 

Sea water was limited to 990 in 2016 and farming licenses in fresh sea water can be used up to four 

farming sites (Marine Harvest, Hand Book 2017). 

New licenses are awarded by the Norwegian Ministry of Trade and they are assigned in specific years. 

Licenses are granted in perpetuity, but the right can be revoked if the company in question breaches some 

fundamental condition imposed by the Aquaculture Legislation.  

Licenses restrictions force a company to respect a certain “maximum allowed biomass” (MAB). At the 

end of the fourth quarter of 2017 the total biomass in Norway was calculated to be 769,700 tones round 

weight and the maximum biomass allowed for companies to produce is set to be 780 tons. (Marine 

Harvest, Handbook 2017) 

New Restrictions and allowances were issued by the Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries. Eight out 

of the thirteen zones by which the Norwegian Sea is divided, was given a green light, meaning that the 

salmon produced in the farms that are located in these areas, could be increased by 2 percent in those 

areas. In addition, these firms have to comply to rules which ensures investment towards complete 

sustainability of the production. (Marine Harvest, Handbook 2017). SalMar can take advantage of the 

latter, since it owns 40 production sites in the areas that have been given the green light. 
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Figure 28 - Source: Marine Harvest Industry Handbook 2018 

 As shown by the Figure 28 the control of MAB available is constrained mostly by biological boundaries 

who have been pushed to the maximum in all producing regions (Marine Harvest Industry Handbook, 

2017). As a result, new licenses have become increasingly scarce, resulting in a stronger consolidation of 

the market which favors the competitive position of the companies already in the industry (Asche et al., 

2013).  

If companies want to be granted a license, they must submit an extensive application for their new farm 

site to the Directorate for Fisheries, which challenges back the firm. The process is not straightforward 

and easy.  

Many structural rules have to be respected in order to comply with the law. The design of facilities must 

allow for the salmon to have plenty of room. The fish to water ratio here is regulated by legislation in 

Norway: 97.5% of the space must be filled with water and 2.5 % with fish. (NSC, 2018). Pens must also 

be adapted to suit the weather conditions and other environmental factors. Facilities may not have any 

sharp edges or be made of any materials that may be harmful to the fish. They should also be designed to 

provide maximum protection for the fish to avoid them being attacked by other animals. In 2004, the 

regulation on the technical requirements for floating aquaculture facilities (Nytek, 2006) was introduced 

with the aim of preventing fish from escaping from farms; all facilities must have been complying with it 

and provide relevant farm certification. (Seafood from Norway, 2017).  

Therefore, Legal factors are quite important in shaping the performance and the developments of the 

farming salmon industry.  
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Porter´s 5 forces 
 

The model theorized by Michael Porter analyzes the competitive position that each company has and what 

are the competition forces that influence the company’s profitability. The five forces that operate inside 

the industry are the following: 1) Threat of new entrants; 2) Bargaining power of suppliers; 3) Threat of 

substitutes;  

4) Bargaining power of buyers; 5) Rivalry among existing competitors. In the following, each single force 

will be analysed and the single elements that characterize the strength of every specific force are outlined.  

Threat of New Entrants  

How can the new potential competitor influence the company’s position? And how easy is for a new 

company to enter in the Salmon farming industry? Does it look like an attractive industry from the outside?  

When evaluating the strength of this competitive force, the analysis starts in the understanding of whether 

the so-called “barriers to entry” are either high or low. For example, an industry that requires a very 

massive initial investment has high barriers to entry.  Or, an industry in which earnings will be negative 

during the first years due to high research and developments costs has a high barrier to entry too.   

As noted by Grant, an industry that offers a return on capital which is higher than its cost of capital will 

attract new organizations in that industry or firms from other industries will seek to diversify themselves, 

vertically integrating into the production (Grant, 2006). Furthermore, in his book19 lists the sources that 

determines the entry of new firms and the ones that will be analyzed are: Capital requirements, Economies 

of scale, Absolute cost advantages, Product differentiation and Governmental & Legal barriers. 

Capital requirements. The salmon industry is a volatile industry since the well going of the business is the 

result of a long production cycle, a fragmented industry and of the vivid consequences created by eventual 

disfunctions which might be caused by multiple external factors. (Marine Harvest, Handbook 2017). The 

high costs of feeding, the expensive required production equipment leads to an initial high capital 

requirement for entering the salmon industry.  

High capital requirement requires a high amount of disposable income or a significant amount of output 

to be profitable in a short time. But, given that the production cycle of a salmon lasts more or less three 

years, it is more challenging for new entrants to recover the initial expenses in a reasonable time. On 

                                                             
19 Grant, ”Contemporary Strategy Analysis”, Wiley, 2006. 
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evidence, currently the market is controlled by very few firms in the world (Marine Harvest, Handbook 

2017), which confirms the obstacle that new entrants would have to deal with.   

Economies of scale. As mentioned in the previous paragraph economies of scale plays a fundamental role 

in the industry. Cost efficiency can be reached by implementing new technologies which allow an increase 

in output for a lower marginal cost. Being able to produce large amounts of output is important since over 

a third of global fish production is traded internationally and being able to export big quantities becomes 

extremely significant for the salmon farming industry to meet global demand.  

Another aspect is the existence of a leapfrogging effect, which state that small and incremental innovations 

usually lead the dominant firm to stay ahead, but suddenly a disruptive innovation from small firms can 

change the rules of the game. (Nielsen, 201020)  

Sometimes, profound innovations are easily undertaken by new entrants which are able to take advantage 

of the already tested best-practice of the incumbents. Nielsen in his paper performs a stochastic production 

frontier model in which the results sustain how young firms (the 3 to 5 years old firms) performing slightly 

better than the older ones and his might be explained by the technological leapfrogging hypothesis.  

Economies of scale are possible when the total full cost of the output is lowered with the increase in output 

because the fixed costs are spread over a higher number of units. In the Salmon farming industry there are 

of course some advantages derived from economies of scale; but the main category of costs that a company 

in this industry incurs are mainly variable, and they are represented by the Feed Costs. So, the economies 

of scale are not a high obstacle for new entrants.  

Product Differentiation. The industry is characterized by a low differentiation of the product. As an 

attempt to reach a favorable market position firms innovate their product in order to gain brand recognition 

and customer loyalty surpassing competitors.  

But still, salmon is a product with very low differentiation, and also since the food retailing industry is 

characterized by transparency (Regulation (EC) No 178/2002), for new entrants it would not be difficult 

to imitate and maybe improve the original product. (Marketline, 2017) Even though there are some 

differentiation of the salmon products such as the smoked salmon, or organic salmon or other VAP 

activities, all the salmon-related products among different companies and brands share almost the same 

characteristics which are easy to imitate, leaving room for new entrants. (Grundvåg G. S, Young J. A., 

2013). However, different studies concluded that for the salmon farming companies there are no 

                                                             
20 Nielsen O. B., Learning by doing or technological leapfrogging: production frontiers and efficiency measurement in 
Norwegian salmon aquaculture, 2010)   
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attributes added to the final product which “could be described as truly innovative, unique, or difficult 

to imitate”. (Grundvåg G. S, Young J. A., 2013). 

Governmental and Legal Barriers. Governmental regulations might exercise pressure to incumbent firms. 

For instance, fresh fish is subject to stringent health and quality regulations. International regulations such 

as the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) affects the level of chemical contaminants 

and aquaculture drugs allowed and it imposes in US and EU traceability systems (through bar codes 

applied to each fish). These costs have to be beard by the firms which are required to make significant 

investments. 

Moreover, a fundamental relevance is given to the limited access to licenses in Norway. Historically 

companies had to apply for approval of the Norwegian Government if they were detaining more than 15% 

of the total licensed biomass in Norway. Nowadays this limitation has been removed but no company can 

detain more than 50% of the total control of the biomass in any of the regions of the Directorate of 

Fisheries. (Marina Harvest, Handbook 2017). Therefore, if a new company wants to enter the industry, it 

first needs to obtain licenses. One way of obtaining them is through the acquisitions of other companies 

that own licenses.  

The technological advances which allow for an increase in production thanks to the new land-based station 

drive the license regulations to be less restrictive as land-based production might not pose a threat to eco-

system in the oceans (PwC, 2017). This might decrease the level of entry barrier attributed to the Licenses.   

Absolute Cost Advantage. Incumbents some time can have a cost advantage which is independent from 

the scale of production. (Grant, 2006).  Due to biological constraints such as the natural environment for 

the development of the fish, the seawater temperature and other natural constraints, the farmed salmon 

can only be produced in certain regions which give the established firms already in the territory, an 

advantage against new entrants.  

Norway in particular is characterized by a long coastline of clean, fresh seawater that provides the best 

conditions possible for the operation of sustainable aquaculture activities and belongs to the well know 

Norwegian expertise related to the operation and the research and development in the field of aquaculture 

that gave them the great potential of actual value creation. (Norwegian Ministry of Fisheries and Coastal 

Affairs, 2008). 

The empire that Norway has established in the salmon production is extremely powerful, in 2001 Norway 

was producing the 65,4% of the world´s farmed salmon. In 2017 this market predominance has been 

shrinking resulting in 52,7% (SalmonBusiness, 2018). New players came such as Australia, The Faroe 
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Islands, Russia and Iceland due to technological advances in the countries highlighting that the new 

entrants have taken away part of the market share of the well-established Norwegian salmon companies  

Moreover, the vertical integration can give access to competitive advantage that could be a success factor 

for the firm. (Kvaloy O., Tveterås R, 2008). In the industry there was a clear tendency of verticalization 

of the production process by almost all the main competitors in the market, including SalMar. In the 

industry, as a consequence, there appears to be strategically important for firms to vertically integrate 

through their Value chains. Therefore, for a potential new entrant to be competitive, it should start the 

business by being present in more than one stage of the Value chain. And this is not easy, especially in 

the beginning.  

In this study it is considered that the new entrants’ threat is low. Overall the entrance of new competitors 

finds substantial barriers to entry represented mainly by:  

- Substantial initial capital requirements; 

- Long production cycle;  

- Licenses regulation. 

Bargaining power of suppliers 

The power of suppliers indicates if and how the firms in the industry have been charged high prices for 

buying their inputs. A high degree of bargaining power of the supplier can affect the quality and service 

of the output of the firm in the industry.  

The most fundamental input to deal with, for the firms in the salmon industry, is the cost of feeding, which 

is composed also by fish ingredients. This requires the farming of fish and production of fish oil used to 

feed salmons. It is the most prevalent cost of the fish farming (EY, 2017) that accounts for more than 50% 

of the total production cost (Marine Harvest, Handbook 2017). The fish feeding is fundamental for the 

industry since jeopardizes the quality of the salmon from consistency, color and taste (Forsberg & 

Guttormsen, 2006).  

In the Norwegian Industry, since 2008, there are three main producers of salmonid feed - Biomar, 

Skretting and EWOS. Both parties have a mutual dependence since the salmon industry needs fish feed 

and also the fish feeding can be sold only to fish farming companies. In fact, the larger fish farming 

companies usually enter long-term contracts in order to secure a stable relationship with advantageous 

conditions (Marine Harvest, Handbook 2017). An example would be the close relationship between 

Marine Harvest and BioMar (Biomar, 2010).  
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Nevertheless, these companies operate also trough cost-plus contracts, meaning that all the salmon 

farming companies are exposed to the risk of increased input prices and the number of companies in the 

fish feeding segment is lower than the number of salmon-farming ones, enhancing the power of suppliers. 

This gives to the suppliers a substantial bargaining power (Marine Harvest, Handbook 2017). 

Volumes of production of salmon are expected to increase, tightening the relation that salmon companies 

have with feeding ones. (EY 2017). According to Rick Barrows, founder of Aquatic Feed Technologies 

and USDA feed researcher: 

“There is just not enough of the current fish-based ingredients available to match the expansion of 

aquaculture as the human population grows.” Rick Barrows21 

In order to address this problem more and more companies are developing alternatives (Marketline 2017). 

such as Advanced Plant-Based Products, Algae and Insect Protein (Craig S., Helfrich L, 2017), but more 

researches on the quality of salmon nourished by new feeding has to be done.  

Therefore, the bargaining power of suppliers is considered very high.  

Bargaining power of buyers 

In an industry the firm competes in two markets; one involves the trade of inputs such as raw materials 

and the other one involves the trading of the final output though distributors or directly to consumers 

(Grant, 2006) 

In the market of output, buyers can exhibit the ability to drive price down through demanding better 

quality and service and hence increasing costs and increasing the competition among the firms. (Porter, 

2008) According to Porter buyers can exercise their bargaining power when they are few or when their 

purchase volume is large relative to the size of the vendor; but also, when products are undifferentiated 

and when there are few and low switching costs to face. 

The production of salmon is a fairly homogenous product which is difficult to differentiate from the 

competitors in the industry. However, firms try to compete with Value Added Processing (such as 

filleting, portioning smoking) and exhibit some product differentiation also through the eco-labelling and 

quality certification awards (Marketline,2017). In fact, the average buyer for the industry has become 

more demanding with respect to product specifications, licenses, all documentation regarding regularities 

sustainability and quality of the food (Tvereras R., Kvaløy O., 2004).   

                                                             
21 founder of Aquatic Feed Technologies and USDA feed researcher, source: https://medium.com/sustainable-
seafood/3-promising-alternative-feeds-for-aquaculture-2742c011e3cc.  
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To determine in depth the buyer power there is the need of understanding of how salmon is distributed. 

The main globally distribution channels for the seafood market are hypermarkets and supermarkets which, 

according to Marketline account for 65.0% of the total market value in 2017. Supermarkets usually have 

low-profit margins (Petersen C. and Plenborg T., 2012) and the end-consumers are considered price-

sensitive (Porter, 2008) asking therefore to farming companies to negotiate better conditions, by lowering 

the price for instance.  

On the other side, the restauration and catering companies are also buyers for salmon companies, either 

directly or undirectedly. In this segment, customers are less sensitive to price, and this allows the 

companies like SalMar to obtain high margins.  

In addition, we know that in most of the developed economies importing seafood the market channels 

consist of a wide number of intermediate relationships including importers, agents, traders, wholesalers, 

processors, retailers, and restaurants.  Almost 30% of the price of the final product is derived from the 

cost of activities in the channel after the fish leave the processor (Shaw S. and Muir J.F., 1987). In order 

for the processors to choose the right intermediary for his products the issuance of short‐term exchanges, 

promotions, long‐term contracts, franchising, and vertical integration strategies is required. An urgency 

for long term contracts or vertical integration has emerged since the salmon farming supply chain if 

affected by biological   uncontrollable inputs which should be maintained under control.  

Combining the characteristics of the product, the relative low sensitivity to price exercised by customers 

and the fragmentation of buyers, the bargaining power of this actors is considered moderate. 

Threat from substitutes 

The threat of substitutes provides the valuation with an understanding of the potential pressure between 

substitute products that contest the same share of the market (Petersen C. and Plenborg T., 2012). Grant 

(2016) argues that the power of substitutes depends upon two elements: First, the buyer’s propensity to 

substitute, which grounds in the willingness to pay for substitute products. Secondly, the relative price-

performance of these substitute products. 

The salmon is a kind of food rich in vitamins and Omega 3 and most importantly full of proteins. Being 

the latter a fundamental component of the human diet, the substitutes are identified though the “Protein 

Retention”, which measure how much protein is produced per unit of fee protein given to the animal 

(Marine Harvest, Handbook 2017). According to Kontali Analyse 2016, Cited in Marine Harvest 

Handbook 2017, the typical substitutes of salmon are Pork, Poultry, and Beef.  
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Table 3 - Source: Marine Harvest Handbook, 2017 

As showed in the Table 3 above, salmon is the provider of proteins with less waste per kilograms. 

Producing 100 kg of salmon guarantees 61 kilograms of edible meat while for 110 kilograms of beef, at 

maximum, farmer can provide 10 kilograms of edible meat.  

It should be beard in mind that, even though producing salmon is more cost efficient in terms of retention 

and edible ratio of proteins, the global production of farmed salmon is far behind from the production of 

his substitutes. (PwC, 2017). Pork represents 118 tons of global consumption; poultry 115 million tons 

and beef 69 million tons and the total production of farmed Atlantic salmon was around 2 million tons. 

(FAO, 2016), (Marine Harvest, Handbook 2017). One big step was reached in 2013 when the global 

production of farmed fish resulted to be more than the beef production (FAO, 2016). Still the global 

production of poultry and pigs is much bigger than salmon production. 

However, it should be noted that components of salmon, other than protein, might give a clear 

differentiation from substitutes, namely, the presence of omega-3 and multiple vitamins. If properly 

advertised, it can be a great opportunity for salmon producing firms. (PwC, 2017).  In addition, another 

opportunity for differentiation is the use of a VAP product such as the smoked salmon which can compete 

with the pork and beef value added products such as ham for fast consumption.   

Finally, the threat of substitutes is relevant since salmon production size is much smaller than the rest of 

protein- food substitutes but it can gain advantages from differentiation, resulting in a moderate to low 

pressure for salmon producers.  

Rivalry among existing competitors  

The level of competition and profitability is generally measured by the rivalry among the firms in the 

industry. From the literature (Grant, 2008, page 72) it is explained how the competition if fierce, it would 

push prices even lower than the marginal costs and if high would increase other non-price dimension of 

rivalry such as innovation, new product, advertising campaigns. (Grant, 2008) and (Porter, 2008). 

Porter argues that the degree of rivalry is shaped by multiple factors. The ones of interested in the salmon 

farming industry are, among others, the following: competitors’ numbers and size, meaning the seller 

concentration, the industry growth, the exit barriers, the production of the nearly same products, high 

fixed costs with low marginal ones, the presence of perishable product being commercialized.  

Salmon Poultry Pork Beef 
Protein Retention 31% 21% 18% 15%
Edible Meat per 100 kg of fed 61 kg 21 kg 17 kg 4-10 kg



 63 

Firstly, the industry is characterized by a high number of firms which are equal in size. In particular in 

Norway there is a fragmented reality of small to very large firms which will lead the market to be a 

competitive one. Secondly, in the last decades the industry growth historical trend has witnessed a 

tremendous increase with a 384% since 1995 until 2016 (annual growth of 8%) (EY, 2017). As the price 

of salmon has skyrocketed, there was a visible change in the traditional cycle of EBIT margin in Norway. 

The Global supply of Atlantic Salmon has record a CAGR from 2012 till 2016 equal to 2% which is lower 

than the CAGR from 1992 till 2011 which had been equal to 10%. (Marine Harvest, 2017). This common 

growth, shared by all the firms would lead to a softener competition since each of the firm, while 

expanding their capacity, find more and more consumers demanding. Nevertheless, the growth reached a 

moment of stagnation for the industry with a 3 % annual growth forecasted from 2016 until 2020. This is 

due to the supply side reaching the maximum capacity of production while the mortality of salmon, due 

to lice presence. In fact, recently, the lice disease affecting the life cycle of the salmons is pushing prices 

upwards and have consequently increase the costs for all the firms (EY, 2017), (DNB, 2015).  

For the firms already in market change in growth does not substantially modify their market share. 

However, the products of these firms are undifferentiated, leading to a much fiercer battle to sell their 

output. Balancing both forces pushing or reducing competition, in this paper the rivalry competition is 

considered to be low. 

Value Chain 
 

The production cycle of a salmon lasts more or less three years. During this period, the salmons go through 

different stages that require different processes. What are the strategically important activities that need 

to be performed across the value chain? What supporting activities can be outsourced instead? Where in 

this chain is SalMar? And peers? The answers to these kinds of questions are given in the following by 

the Value Chain Analysis. 

The value chain analysis disaggregates “the sequential chain of activities that the firm undertakes” 

(Grant, 2006) trying to find out where the competitive advantage for the company lies (Porter, 2008) 

Firstly, w the position and presence of SalMar and his peers in the stages of production is going to be 

assessed and secondly, the focus is going to be steer on  whether the company is able to achieve a 

competitive advantage thanks to the activities performed. 

The production starts with having access to broodstock which provides for the sperm and therefore the 

eggs required to produce the next generation of salmon (Figure 29). The next stage involves the 

development of alevins (baby salmons) in the hatcheries. In the next few weeks of their life the nutrients 
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for their growth is provided naturally by the yolk sac they have attached, leaving the temperature of the 

water as the fundamental variable constraining their development. Once the yolk vanishes the feeding 

process starts.  

The process of transition from a juvenile fish, also called smolt, to a salmon is called smoltification. More 

expensive variables come into play at this stage 

such as regular quality check of the water, 

prevention of fish escape from the pen, regulation 

of light and of course the feeding process, which 

represents a very important part of the process in 

every kind of animal farming. Harvesting comes 

a year later; the so grown-up smolts are 

transferred to net-pens placed in the sea where 

they fully complete their development. In the 

harvesting stations, salmons are killed and bled 

out. After that, salmon is then subject to various processing activities; the fish is sold and distributed 

around the world in the form of a wide range of end-products. 

 

Figure 30 

Broodstock and eggs supply. While following the path of a complete vertical integration in the value 

chain, having access to high quality supplies of broodstock, smolt and feeding is crucial to SalMar. It has 

a great strategic importance to be as self-sufficient as possible. (SalMar, Quarter1 Report 2018) 

SalMar produces itself the broodstock and egg sperm; the onshore salmon roe production facility located 

in Vågstranda has the capacity to produce 60 million roe each year. However, current output stands at 

around 25 million roe leaving plenty of room for increase in growth rate of production. 

Figure 29 - Source: Bestfishes.org 
https://www.bestfishes.org.uk/did-you-know/scottish-salmon-life-cycle/  
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Most of the peers are present in this part of the value chain, but only Lerøy Seafood Group is self-

sufficient. SalMar from 2017 has increased the emphasis on breeding and genetics starting a joint venture 

with Benchmark Holding plc’s SalmoBreed and Akvaforsk Genetics which are among the biggest 

suppliers of roe. The strategic partnership is called SalMar Genetics and signals the company’ s 

willingness to be self-sufficient on early stages of production. (Leroy Annual Report 2017).  

Fry and smolt – hatchery production. SalMar produces fry and smolt at six separate facilities in Møre 

og Romsdal, South Trøndelag, North Trøndelag and Troms and has five hatcheries located in Central 

Norway; SalMar owns the majority of these hatcheries expect for the biggest one of which owns the 60 

percent  

(Langstein facility). (SalMar, Annual Report 2017).  

Therefore, SalMar is not self-sufficient in smolt production, giving a more strategic relevance on the 

quality of smolts and on day-today operations. SalMar is focused on changing the production of smolt 

aiming to use recirculated water (RAS) in order to save costs and environmental negative impacts through 

projects involving the smolt supply partners. Facilities are being expanded in order to increase the output.  

The SalMar Settefisk AS Follafoss facility will go into operation in the autumn of 2019 and is going to 

produce up to 19 million  smolt, up from the current maximum capacity of 15 million.  

 

Table 4 

Growth of production is essential to confront the increasing demand. While struggling for new 

revolutionary technological equipment that will be operative and effective in the following years the goal 

is to implement new strategies of positively exploit the production potential of SalMar’s fish farms.  One 

of the facilities reduces energy costs using the waste water coming from a near facility processing wood 

and the overall production is busted since SalMar is putting a lot of effort in breaking the seasonality of 

Legend: Self-Sufficient Partially Self-
Sufficient

Missing

Broodstock Smolt Farming Pricessing VAP SalesValue Chain Activities

SalMar

Marine Harvest 

Grieg Seafood

Norway Royal Salmon

Lerøy Seafood
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smoltification and harvesting transferring smolt to the sea-farming facilities all year.  

One crucial aspect from this stage and on is the supply of feed, as mentioned in the above paragraph of 

bargaining power of suppliers. First, because the quality of feed will affect the quality of the salmon. 

Second, because feed cost is very high and in the near future, costs are expected to rise. The cost is high 

mainly because the always increasing demand for fish feed is not followed by the supply.  

“During the last decade, the salmonid feed industry has become increasingly consolidated. Since 2008, 

three producers have controlled the majority of the salmon feed output”  

(Marine Harvest, Handbook 2018) 

SalMar, as many of its peers, is not present in this stage of the chain. Marine Harvest has started in 2014 

to produce its own feed, but still it is not self-sufficient.  

Sea Farming. After the initial stages in freshwater, finally the smolt is transferred to the sea, where it will 

grow into an adult salmon. The salmon will spend the rest of its life in salt water and here is where it will 

grow until reaching the weight of approximately 4,5 Kg, when they will be ready to be harvested. During 

this phase, salmons have to deal with water temperatures, lice and other diseases that can undermine their 

stable growth. The use of vaccines on fish tries to limit the spread of diseases and the consequent high 

mortality rate.  

SalMar is self-sufficient in this phase and it has many different farming sites across Norway. Also, the 

new “Ocean Farm 1” project in which SalMar has invested will allow the company to be able to produce 

more in a more innovative way.  

Harvesting, packing and processing. When salmons reach a sufficient weight, they are harvested and 

transferred to the processing plants. SalMar’ s efforts steered towards an after-harvesting processing of 

the final outcome at a local level. Since these kinds of after-harvesting activities are closely linked with 

the farming operations, the company expanded the harvesting centers such as to have the harvesting and 

processing of the farmed salmon in the same facility. The new expanded facilities will allow the company 

to take advantage of the economies of scale opportunity that comes from providing the harvesting plant 

of a large volume of salmon directly to processing while allowing for a more flexibility in short-time 

storage of the fish. A new harvesting and processing facility was built and it aims to be the most innovative 

through the guarantee of constant traceability of the product throughout the whole value chain, from roe 

up to packaging, processing and sales. Companies in this stage also perform value adding processes that 

can enhance the standard product. As for SalMar:  
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“New products are constantly being developed, with various seasonings and packing methods to make 

them easier for the consumer to prepare. InnovaMar is the name of SalMar’s new harvesting and 

processing facility in Frøya, central Norway. It aims to be the world’s most innovative and efficient 

facility for the landing, harvesting and processing of farmed salmon.” (SalMar, company website)22 

 Sales & Distribution. The traceability of the production process has brought SalMar to be fully 

integrated from the farming up to sales and distribution relying on in-house salesforce and partners. The 

closeness to markets and customers has a great relevance as to enhance high-quality products. The 

integration of the facilities with harvesting and processing brings value to the company since the 

expansion leads to a greater capacity of storage and better handling of the salmon which has to be safely 

frozen and quickly sold.  

SalMar salmon is present in the market with a wide variety of products, from basic gutted salmon (fresh 

or frozen), to value added products, which include filleting, portioning, smoking, freezing (Marine 

Harvest, Annual Report 2017). 

 The company distributes his salmon in more than 50 different countries in Europe, Asia and the USA 

taking care of the positioning through offices located all over the world, especially the ones geographically 

far from Norway such as Japan, South Korea and Vietnam.  

The peers are all of them present in the sales and distribution segment highlighting the great importance 

of the positioning of salmon as a final product.  

So far, the key points of the industry dynamics have been analyzed.  

SalMar is well integrated, being present in many activities of the value chain. The production activities 

are the ones on which SalMar focuses, which is also the most important activity for value creation. 

Therefore, SalMar has a competitive advantage in this sense, and in fact its cost effectiveness is also in 

their mission.  

Feeding production is the major issue regarding SalMar, and also the other peers. Suppliers of fish feed 

are only a few, and therefore they have the control over the fish feed price and salmon farming companies, 

except Marine Harvest, are fully dependent on them.  

 

 

 

                                                             
22 Source: https://www.salmar.no/en/business-areas/  



 68 

SWOT Analysis 
 

Financial performance of SalMar throughout the years has been assessed, through the financial 

statements and profitability analysis. Then the focus switched to the industry in which the company 

operates, to understand what are the main characteristics and dynamics of it, and also what are the 

factors that can affect the profitability and the competition inside it. Now all the useful information 

gathered from above are summarized in the SWOT matrix.   

The SWOT matrix allows us to filter the relevant elements and focus on four main variables:  

- From an internal perspective:  

o Strengths, advantages and strong core competencies that the company has; 

o Weaknesses, disadvantages and other elements that the company struggles with; 

- From an external point of view:  

o Opportunities, that arise in the industry or in the market thanks to external factors;  

o Threats, that put the stability and profitability of the company in a danger situation.  

We following figure shows the SWOT matrix for SalMar.  

 

Figure 31 

Strengths. The first strength and maybe the most important characteristic that belongs to SalMar is the 

Leadership of cost. In the past, SalMar has in almost all the years obtained the best Core Profit Margin 

among all the peer companies. In this particular industry, the companies are mainly price takers, and 

therefore it is hard to compete on the price. The price is obtained by an equilibrium of supply and 
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demand and it is out of the control of the single companies. In an industry of this kind, the competition 

is moved to the cost side, and therefore the profitability in the long term relies on the cost efficiency 

and reduction of operating expenses. And SalMar is the best in the industry in doing so.  

The other Strength relies on the fact that SalMar is one of the largest producers of Organic Salmon in 

the world:  

“In 2009 SalMar was certified to farm, process and sell organic salmon, and in March 2011 the first 

organic salmon from SalMar was harvested. Since the start the development has been nothing but 

positive, and we have seen an increased demand for organic salmon from the market.” SalMar, 

company’s website 

This implies a very high potential for SalMar. Organic salmon is perceived as a high-quality salmon, and 

people are willing to pay a higher price for it. The demand for Salmon in general is growing, but also the 

relative demand of organic salmon is growing, as people are adopting healthier lifestyles and the 

attention to organic products is growing.  

Weaknesses. The internal analysis continues with the weaknesses. The most relevant one is the fact that 

SalMar is dependent on other companies for the feed production. The feed price is a very important 

element in the cost structure of the salmon production. Prices are rising, mainly because of the 

increasing demand and the non-increasing supply of fish feed. One of the peers, Marine Harvest, is an 

example of a company that is planning to become auto-sufficient in the feed production in order to be 

independent from and unaffected by the movement in feed prices. The other weakness is related to the 

fact that the company is not always able to realize the VAP potential, and it shows a not always high 

Ebit/ Kg. This has probably been also one of the reasons that lead to the establishment of the Restricted 

share units incentive scheme. In the first two year, the incentive scheme seemed to work well, but 

already in 2017, Salmar shows a relatively low value for this ratio.  

Opportunities. As far as the opportunities are concerned, the great favourable circumstance that comes 

from outside the company is of course the fact that people consume always more salmon in their diet. 

Salmon is a unique kind of meal, mainly because it is an important source of omega 3 fatty acids and 

other proteins and minerals. Everyone wants to include more salmon in the diet. Furthermore, growth 

in population, the increasing income level and the always more promoted healthy life styles are factors 

that will boost the demand in the coming years. This is a great opportunity for the company to improve 

revenues growth and profitability.  
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Also, new techniques for aquaculture are being developed and this can both improve the cost efficiency 

of companies and also can help them harvest a bigger quantity of salmons, mainly due to the reduction 

in mortality rate. These new technologies have already been introduced in the PESTEL analysis. The 

company is already trying to exploit this new opportunity. SalMar launched a pilot project that consists 

of bringing back the production of salmon to the open sea, called Ocean Farm.  

Threats. The analysis of the external variables continues with the threats. The first one is linked to the 

salmon high mortality rate. “A surge of parasitic sea lice is disrupting salmon farms around the world. 

The tiny lice attach themselves to salmon and feed on them, killing or rendering them unsuitable for 

dinner tables. […] Aquaculture sector loses $1 billion a year to outbreaks of tiny crustaceans infesting 

and devouring fish farmed for human consumption” (Patrick Whittle, independent23). Finally, the other 

threats is represented by the increasing prices of feed. The feed producers are few, and the supply Is 

not able to follow the high demand, meaning that the prices are increasing. Feed price have an high 

impact on company’s Gross Margin, and overall performance. Therefore, this is something that Salmar, 

and other companies in this industry, have to cope with.  

TOWS Analysis 
The SWOT analysis has helped to highlight the Strengths and the Weaknesses of the firm compared to 

the peers and the Opportunities and Threats were pinpointed from the external circumstances in which 

SalMar is involved. But, what does this imply for the company’s future profitability? How do they impact 

on future developments of Salmar’s performance? A TOWS analysis can therefore give a contribution to 

the SWOT and help addressing the future elements that will be used as inputs in the Forecasting.  

The TOWS is “a conceptual framework for a systematic analysis that facilitates matching the external 

threats and opportunities with the internal weaknesses and strengths of the organization.” (H. 

Weihrich, 1982) 

In this framework, each scenario that appears in a matrix is the result of internal factors matching with the 

external factors, showing how the former can cope with the latter. Strengths and weaknesses of the 

company are matched with threats and opportunities coming from the external environment.  

In the SWOT analysis, two main strengths were highlighted for SalMar, namely Cost leadership and First 

producer of organic salmon. As for the Weaknesses, the SWOT highlighted the Reliance on feed 

                                                             
23 Source: https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/food-and-drink/news/salmon-sea-lice-plague-
outbreak-fish-farms-global-stocks-depleted-acquaculture-industry-a7955326.html 
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producers and the relatively low Ebit/Kg ratio, which is one of the most important ratio of efficiency and 

maybe the most popular among salmon companies.  

Furthermore, the main Threats are the Lice and diseases and the expected increase in feed prices. Finally, 

the opportunities are considered to be the new technological development in production techniques and 

the expected increase in salmon demand;  

As showed in the matrix below, the TOWS framework analyzed in this study identifies four regions. In 

order to facilitate the reference to each scenario, the regions have been renamed as follows: Opportunities 

& Strengths (O&S) shows the in which strengths match with Opportunities; Threats & Strengths (T&S) 

is the case when firm’s strengths have to face the threats affecting the industry’s wealth; the Opportunities 

& Weaknesses (O&W) presents the case in which the internal weaknesses could preclude the company 

from exploiting the external opportunities; and finally, the Threats & Weaknesses (T&W) region, which 

represents the case in which the external threats mixed with the internal weaknesses can undermine 

company’s profitability and wealth.  

 

Figure 32 

T&W:  

In the following scenario, the weaknesses of the firm are analyzed along with the possible threats that can 

impact on the industry. In particular, the feeding supply is a fundamental activity of the salmon’s value 

chain. Salmon quality depends on feed quality. Also, the producers of feed are only a few, and the demand 

for it increases year after year. These elements make the feed production a strategically important activity 

of the Value chain, and the suppliers of feed have a high bargaining power on salmon companies.  
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Dependency on feed producers jointed with the threat of increasing feed prices can have a very negative 

impact on SalMar’ s sustainability and value creation for the long run. Furthermore:  

“The major cost elements when producing salmonid feed are the raw materials required and production 

costs. The feed producers have historically operated on cost-plus contracts, leaving the exposure of raw 

material prices with the aquaculture companies.” (Marine Harvest Industry Handbook 2018) 

 

O&W  

SalMar does not show a high Ebit/Kg throughout the years. With the expected increasing demand, SalMar 

risks to lose a high margin potential on the harvested volume, which it will translate in lowered 

profitability and value destroyed for shareholders. 

The Ebit/kg can be increased for example by 

obtaining a higher Ebit for the same amount of 

harvested salmon. This can be possible by harvesting 

salmons of a higher weight class, which have also a 

higher selling price per kilogram (Figure 33). With 

new technological techniques, new stations of 

production can be built, allowing for the harvesting 

of bigger sized salmons. The price premium of such 

salmons will increase the NOPAT while having a 

lesser increase in kilograms of salmon gutted as to 

increase the ratio of core-NOPAT per kilograms. 

T&S 

In this part, the analysis focuses on whether the strengths of the company are able to minimize the negative 

consequences brought by the threats and what strategic choice the company can make for the future.   

The high mortality rate caused by lice has a high impact on company’s profitability. The risk associated 

with them will always be present since the louse is a natural inhabitant of the marine water. In addition, 

costs related to feeding is an inevitable cost for every animal farming company. The outlook for the future 

development of feed prices is expected to be very negative, meaning that the price of feed is expected to 

increase. These threats can seriously damage the profitability of a company, especially if considered 

together.  

Figure 33- Source: Nasdaq  
https://salmonprice.nasdaqomxtrader.com/public/
report;jsessionid=F8C4BB122745E2371C0FE71
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The company is among the first producers of Organic Salmon in the world. On average, organic salmon 

has a considerably high premium price, allowing the companies a high margin. So far, SalMar has not 

been able to realize a high premium price, also when comparing it to the peer companies; in the 

Profitability Analysis, the EBIT/Kg ratio was seen not to be always at top levels. Also when considering 

that organic salmon usually has an even more inelastic demand than the standard salmon and people are 

willing to pay a premium for it.  

“The necessary conditions for the price premium existence are consumers ability to identify organic 

goods at retail sale (i.e., through labeling), and the willingness to pay extra price relative to the 

conventional salmon. […] The findings indicate that there is an approximately 20% price premium for 

organic salmon compared to the conventional alternative.” (Ankamah-Yeboah I., et al - Price 

premium of organic salmon in Danish retail sale) 

O&S 

New opportunities arise in the near future. The demand is growing, people are always more aware of the 

salmon’s nutritional benefits and the demand for healthy food is growing at a very fast pace. Relationship 

between Norway and China is getting stable, and China is one of the biggest consumers of Salmon. Also, 

new technologies are being developed and the aquaculture techniques are being improved. New off-shore 

farming facilities let companies to harvest a higher quantity of salmon, by reducing the mortality rate. 

Furthermore, companies can collect data on salmons and study behaviors and growth patterns.  

As far as SalMar is concerned, the leadership position in cost efficiency is clear. In this industry, 

companies’ profitability is influenced by salmon price trends. When salmon price goes down, revenues 

goes down for every company, and profitability depends upon the ability to reduce costs, being able to 

partly absorb the drop of revenues. Moreover, the increase in demand for the entire industry is a great 

opportunity for the industry.  Also, organic salmon ‘s demand is constantly increasing. Nowadays 

consumers are more concerned about the quality of salmon. A bigger pool of consumers ready to pay high 

prices for high quality of Salmon can be a relevant source of revenues.   

The project is still under development, and some test phases are undergoing. In doing so, increasing 

demand can be satisfied and profitability increased consistently. The Ocean farm 1 “[…] features a 1.6m-

metric-ton capacity over a 25-year lifespan but will likely produce about 1m salmon a year 24”. This 

                                                             
24 Bard Skjelstad, SalMar’s head of Biology; source: https://www.undercurrentnews.com/2017/08/17/SalMar-sees-
big-potential-for-offshore-expansion-as-ocean-farm-1-arrives-in-norway-from-china/  
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therefore is a very good opportunity and SalMar can keep on investing in new facilities and projects, as 

long as the above assumptions are satisfied.   

5 - Forecasting  
 

So far, the focus has been on historical data and past performances. We have looked at what kind of 

industry the company has been operating, how SalMar has performed across the years and also what are 

the strengths and weaknesses of the company, given the quantity and the level of competition in the 

industry. 

In this chapter the focus changes. The goal of this chapter is to forecast, trying therefore to shed some 

light on the future. This chapter looks forward.  Pro forma Financial Statements are prepared for the 

upcoming years, and this will be done on own estimations and consideration and referring also to the 

considerations made in both the Profitability Analysis and SWOT Analysis. 

In the following, the paper addresses first the future developments of the most important factor which has 

impacted historically on company’s performance and it will continue doing so in the future, i.e. the 

Salmon Price. Then, the assumptions on the future harvested volume are reviewed, given that the Volume 

is the other element that contributes to the formation of Revenues. Taking this as a starting point, we will 

build proforma financial statements which will be the basis of our Valuation model.  

Salmon Price 
 

As we have seen so far, the Salmon Price is a very important factor for the profitability of the companies 

operating in the Salmon Farming Industry. Salmon Price has been very volatile during the past years, and 

therefore its predictability is not straightforward. Usually for commodities such as Oil or Power Price, 

companies use the Future contracts prices to hedge against uncertainty and also to predict future spot 

prices. In these kind of mature markets, Forward prices are very reliable and have a high ability of price 

discovery. Starting from 2006, Fish Pool25 has also launched a regulated marketplace where Futures 

Contract on Salmon Price at different maturities are traded. 

“Fish Pool is to be the global exchange for price hedging of fish and seafood products. […]Fish Pool 

creates predictability in risk exposed fish and seafood markets.” 

(Fish Pool26) 

                                                             
25 Fish Pool Exchange, part of Oslo Børs ASA – www.fishpool.eu  
26 Source: http://fishpool.eu/trading/terminology/ 
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The Salmon Futures Contracts are primarily useful for hedging purposes, allowing the company to remove 

a bit of uncertainty and be less exposed to price fluctuations. For example, a company can use Forward 

Contracts to sell now a certain amount of Salmon with delivery scheduled in the future, at a price fixed 

today equal to the Forward price for a determined maturity. But obviously this does not automatically 

imply the ability of price discovery. Recent studies (Asche F. et al 2016; Asche.,et al. 2008 ) have 

underlined the limits of this financial instruments to predict the future spot prices: 

“[…] while the spot and lagged futures prices are unbiased estimates, we do not find support for the 

hypothesis that futures prices provide a price discovery function. […] the salmon futures market is still 

immature and has not yet reached the stage where futures prices are able to predict future spot prices.”  

(Asche F. et al The Spot-Forward Relationship in the Atlantic Salmon Market) 

 This concept is also clearly visible in the Figure 34, which shows the back-testing analysis of Forward 

Salmon Prices, by comparing the Spot Price throughout the years (black line) with the estimated Forward 

Prices at different closing dates (colored lines).  

 

Figure 34 

The starting point of each of the colored lines is the quarter in which prices are quoted, and the lines 

represents the various estimated developments of prices, i.e. the Forward prices. The sample chosen for 

this analysis is quarterly data and therefore the number of colored lines (different closing dates) is equal 

to the number of quarters between the years 2016 – 2018.  
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What clearly emerges from the graph is that the difference between the real Spot Price and the one 

estimated by forward contracts in each quarter becomes bigger with time, and that in the medium- and 

long-run the forward prices are just represented as a flat line.   

Due to the fact that we an explicit forecast of 5 years is needed, the Forward prices are not good enough, 

and therefore it is chosen not to use Forward Prices in the model to forecast Salmon Prices.  

Another way to estimate the Salmon Price is to build a regression model that considers Supply and 

Demand. A Regression Model is than set up, to estimate the changes in Salmon price as a function of 

some proxies for the changes in Salmon Supply and changes in Salmon Demand. This simple method was 

tried because it has clearly an economic rationale behind it, which says that a price is determined by the 

equilibrium between supply and demand curves. Just like many analysts have already done in literature, 

many different proxies for these two elements are tested, such as Globally Sold Quantity of Salmon for 

the Supply side and the Gross Domestic Product of Europe (GDP EU) for the Demand side as an example.  

However, when a model of this kind is tested, the regressions output are not sufficiently good statistic-

wise. Many different proxies have been tested for the Demand side, which results to be not statistically 

significant in most of the cases. Proxies such as GDP Europe, GDP USA and GDP Japan have been used, 

being these three the principal markets for Salmon; also proxies such as “Imports Value”, “GDP per 

Capita” or “Income per Capita” in the same geographical markets mentioned above were examined. But 

the outputs of the Regressions performed were not statistically satisfying enough, showing a very low R-

squared and Adjusted R-squared. Here we can see one example of the Regression outputs, where changes 

in Exported Quantity of Salmon (Supply) and changes in Gross Domestic Product of USA (Demand) were 

used as Independent Variables.  

  

 

 

 

In all the regressions such as the one showed in Table 5, the P-values of the single explanatory variables 

for the Demand were often higher than critical value, which is set to be 5%. In this specific case p-value 

for GDP USA is 34%. Also the overall goodness of the model is very low, with an Adjusted R-squared 

of only 14,08%. Also, when back-testing the models, the precision over the sample period is not excellent.  

Variables Coefficients P-value
Multiple R 0,40715781 Intercept 5,5% 27,9%
R Square 0,16577748 Export Salmon -14,6% 0,1%
Adjusted R Square 0,14087532 GDP USA -953,1% 34,2%
Standard Error 0,14666591 F
Observations 70 6,657151388

Significance F
0,00230645

Regression Statistics

Table 5 
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Then, in one of our tests we have noticed that when including in the model also the lagged explanatory 

variables to the normal explanatory variables, the overall goodness of the model increases. Also, giving 

that Salmon Price is affected by seasonality, we thought that past changes in Salmon Price can help explain 

the future changes. And for this reason, we also tried to include the lagged dependent variable in the 

model, and also this improves the goodness of our model.  

The model 

After many different trials, with non-adequate results, a model that performs better is set up.  Given that 

the forecast needs to consider many years in the future, we decided to exclude weekly and monthly data 

for the analysis, because they are too fragmented and hardly reliable to explain changes over years. Yearly 

data are also excluded, because of the high level of aggregation which also implies limited availability of 

data and therefore a small sample size that could undermine reliability and significance of the model.  

The model therefore considers quarterly data, from Q1 2003 to Q2 2018. In order to have only stationary 

variables, the Log Return of the independent variables are calculated, also called Log First Difference, 

which is calculated as Ln ( Pt+1/ Pt ). In the Appendix 25 all the graphs showing the stationarity of he three 

variables (non-lagged) used in our model. The dependent variable, Y, is represented by the “Norwegian 

Salmon Export Price” taken from Bloomberg. In the table 6, the Regression Output is illustrated, and all 

the explanatory variables are shown together with their relative Coefficients, or so-called Betas; these are 

a measure of sensibility of the Salmon Price to each of the explanatory variables.  

 

Most of the p-values are below the 5% level, which means that the variables are statistically significant 

also when considered alone. As we can see from the output, the model has an R-Squared of almost 0,45 

and adjusted R squared of 0,39 which is not too bad. The variables that explain Y0 in the model are the 

log returns of :  

 

Explanatory Variables Coefficients P-value
Multiple R 0,67 Intercept 0,05 0,02
R Square 0,45 Log Exported Tonnes (T) -0,22 0,00
Adjusted R Square 0,39 Log Exported Tonnes (T-1) -0,26 0,00
Standard Error 0,13 Log GDP EUROPE (T) -0,67 0,39
Observations 61 Log GDP EUROPE (T-1) -1,94 0,01

F Significance F Log Salmon SPOT (T-1) -0,30 0,02
7,51 0,00001 Log Salmon SPOT (T-4) 0,17 0,14

Regression Statistics

Table 6 
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- X1 = Exported Fresh Quantity of Norwegian Salmon at time 0 ; 

- X2 = Exported Fresh Quantity of Norwegian Salmon at (t-1), i.e. previous quarter;  

- X3 = Nominal Gross Domestic Product Europe at time 0; 

- X4 = Nominal Gross Domestic Product Europe at (t-1);  

- X5 = Salmon Price at (t-1);  

- X6 = Salmon Price at (t-4), i.e. same quarter of previous year. 

It is a different version of the Supply and Demand model, where the lagged effect of changes in Supply 

and Demand occurred in the previous quarter are added; furthermore, Lagged Dependent Variable is 

added as an explanatory variable, both for the previous quarter and for the same quarter one year before. 

 

To understand also the reliability of the model, a backtesting is performed to see how good the model fits 

when estimating the past Salmon Spot prices throughout the sample period. Figure 35 and Figure 36 show 

the backtestings both for the quarterly and annual figures of Salmon Prices. The result is very satisfying.  

The correlation between the historical Salmon Spot Price and the one estimated with the model is 93% 

for quarterly prices and 96% for annual prices. Once we have a new and reliable model, the future forecast 

of the salmon price for the next years can be performed. Assumptions on the future developments of the 

explanatory variables are made, which are based on market consensus and reliable sources, and then value 

of our dependent variable is tied to them. The starting point is given by Marine Harvest in his Industry 

Handbook 27:  

“Supply of Atlantic Salmon has increased by 417% since 1995 (annual growth 8%). The annual growth 

has diminished in recent years with 5% growth in the period 2005-2017. Kontali Analyse expects 

                                                             
27 Salmon Farming Industry Handbook, 2018, Marine Harvest - http://marineharvest.com/about/news-and-
media/news_new2/marine-harvest-osemhg-2018-salmon-industry-handbook-/  
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growth to diminish further going forward and has projected a 4% annual growth from 2017 to 2021.”  

(Salmon Farming Industry Handbook, 2018, Marine Harvest)  

The exported Salmon Quantity is in line with the general Supply of Atlantic Salmon, also because the 85-

90% of total salmon supply is exported from Norway and only the 10-15% is consumed in Norway. 

Furthermore, to be more conservative, we will assume a growth of 3% from 2022 to 2023. And we think 

it is also a reliable outlook for the future years: 

“The background for this trend is that the industry has reached a production level where biological 

boundaries are being pushed” (Salmon Farming Industry Handbook, 2018, Marine Harvest) 

These biological limits are mainly set by the limited access to new licenses and by the diseases which 

cause a very high level of mortality at early stages of salmon farming.  

As for the demand side, growth estimations in the Gross Domestic Product of the European Union are 

linked to the ones depicted by Pwc in their “European Economic Outlook 2018-202228”: 

“The ongoing recovery is expected to continue in the near to medium term, but the slowing pace of job 

creation and household purchasing power growth will mean a slight decrease in momentum over the 

next two years. Growth is expected to slow to 2.1% in 2018 and 1.9% in 2019. […] Additionally, in the 

longer term, adverse demographics continue to weigh on the EU with particularly hard felt  effects in 

some countries, especially if coupled with low productivity growth and, potentially, insufficient R&D 

funding. “ (European Economic Outlook 2018-2022, Pwc) 

Also, for the remaining years the GDP is assumed to grow at the same level until 2022. And we assume 

constant growth rate also for the remaining year. The following table summarizes the assumptions for the 

expected developments of Salmon Supply and of GDP of the European Union.  

 

Table 7 

At this point, the yearly growth rates are transformed into quarterly log returns, in order to be consistent 

with the model. After this, the Spot Prices at the end of each quarter are estimated through the model. The 

purpose is to have annual figures for salmon spot prices to insert in the annual figures of proforma 

                                                             
28 European Economic Outlook 2018-2022, Pwc 

Assumptions 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Supply Growth - Yearly 4,00% 4,00% 4,00% 4,00% 3,00% 3,00%
GDP Growth - Yearly 2,10% 1,90% 1,90% 1,90% 1,90% 1,90%
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financial statements; hence, we take the average of Spot prices in the four quarters. In the graph of the 

Figure 37 the yearly Spot Prices for the years 2003-2023 are plotted.  

 
Figure 37 

The blue shade indicates that with time the uncertainty increases, together with the error margin. 

Therefore, future Spot prices forecasted with the model for the years 201829 - 2023 and implemented in 

the valuation model are the following:  

 

Table 8 

 

The salmon price is thus expected to increase to around 95 NOK/kg in 2023, from a level of 61 NOK in 

2017. In six years, the salmon price is therefore estimated to be 1,55 times the actual value. And this is in 

line with what has happened in the past. For example, in 2017 the salmon price reached 1,90 times the 

value in 2011, or in 2014 salmon price was 40 NOK/KG, which is 1,53 times higher than the price in 

2008.  

                                                             
29 Spot Prices known  and used in the sample period are up to the second quarter of 2018. Third and Fourth quarters 
are Estimated through the model. And the price shown for the 2018 is the average between the four quarters. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Salmon Spot Price - Forecast

Forecast (NOK/Kg) 2018E 2019E 2020E 2021E 2022E 2023E
Salmon Spot Price 60,67 63,02 69,76 77,34 85,93 95,66



 81 

Obviously, it is not presumed that the model is able to predict exactly the salmon price five years from 

now. It is barely possible to do that. Underlying assumptions can become insignificant and wrong when 

an event occurs, making the model insignificant. The model implemented in the paper has a strong 

statistical significance, it fits perfectly with the past observations (as shown in the backtesting) and, 

assuming that the underlying assumption will remain consistent with the actual ones, the estimations will 

keep having a statistical validity.  

Harvested Volume 
In order to forecast Revenues, we also need to know the amount of Output that the company will produce 

in the coming years. Harvested volume is also a volatile variable and it is also dependent on some external 

factors that are not under company’s control, such as sea temperatures and diseases that affect salmon 

ability to grow up smoothly. The following table shows the output volume in tonnes of gutted weight 

salmon for SalMar during the period 2007 – 2017. 

 

 

Furthermore, Salmon farming industry is a highly regulated Industry, and therefore companies can not 

raise capacity as they please. Licenses are made available by the competent authorities once in a while 

and they are assigned through auctions. 

Since 2007 SalMar has invested consistently in capacity and specifically in licenses. In 2007 the company 

had 52 production licenses and in the end of 2017 the company had 100 production licenses. Also, the 

company has expanded production capacity via the acquisitions of other farming companies that also own 

licenses themselves. In the previous section the Norwegian Salmon Supply was estimated to raise at an 

annual rate of 4%, as suggested by Marine Harvest in its Industry Handbook based on Kontali’ s research. 

Also, many external factors influence the quantity harvested by Salmon companies. SalMar is heavily 

investing on capacity through license purchase and through acquisitions of other companies. Also, as 

underlined in the strategic analysis, Ocean farm 1’ s project is undergoing:  

“So far, SalMar has invested around NOK 700 million in its offshore fish farm concept, Ocean Farm. 

The project has now embarked on a 12-month pilot period to test the concept under normal operating 

conditions. The company continues to experience good biological results from the Ocean Farm 1 pilot 

Tonnes 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
Harvested Volume 64.000 65.000 77.000 79.000 104.000 116.100 128.000 154.800 150.000 129.600 151.000

Table 9 
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facility, with strong fish growth and low mortality rates. The first fish raised at the farm are expected to 

be harvested in the second half of 2018. “30 (SalMar Quarterly Report, First quarter 2018) 

Also, in the second quarterly report of the 2018, SalMar estimates that the harvested volume in 2018 will 

be around 143.000 tonnes, with a negative growth compared to 2017 of 5,2 %.  

Putting everything together, it is reasonable to assume that SalMar ‘s Harvested volume will increase at a 

yearly rate of 4% after 2018 in the explicit forecast period. The following table shows the Forecasted 

Harvested Volume for SalMar in the period 2018-2022.    

 

Table 10 

Proforma Financial Statements – Income Statement 
Proforma Financial Statements are useful to give a shape to our assumptions and considerations on SalMar 

future performances. Assumptions and considerations need to be translated in accounting line items and 

measures and therefore in Financial Statements; in order to be helpful for the analysis, they must be 

reformulated, just like the historical ones. In this way, it will be clear the split between Operating and 

Financing activities, allowing us to understand whether the company will have the ability to create and 

sustain value for shareholders in the future. 

In the Profitability Analysis the factors that drive the profitability for SalMar have been addressed. Almost 

every line item in the income statements is influenced by Salmon spot price and also the Harvested volume 

can have an important impact. Also, in salmon farming industry operating costs represent a consistent part 

of the sales in each year, meaning that companies must look at cost reduction and operational efficiency 

with a particular attention. So, putting everything together, the information will be used as input and 

translated into Proforma Financial Statements. The analysis starts from forecasting the 2018 YTD figures 

for the Income statement, because the model implemented in the paper analyzes yearly figures.  

Revenues 

The starting point of the analysis is the estimation of Revenues. Their estimation is made through the 

Salmon Price and the Harvested volume, which were forecasted in the previous section. Looking at the 

historical data, SalMar has been able to obtain in most of the years a Premium Price on the volume sold 

                                                             
30 Quarterly report – SalMar: https://www.SalMar.no/en/latest-reports/  

Tonnes 2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
Harvested Volume 151.000 143.000 148.720 154.669 160.856 167.290
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compared to the Salmon Spot price. In the last six years, the average premium price for SalMar has been 

of 13,18% and it is fair to assume that SalMar will be able to keep on having this favorable trend.  

The main determinant of the price premium lies in the perceived higher quality of SalMar products, such 

as the Organic fresh salmon. Also, the premium can be related to the hedging activities performed 

throughout the years by the company. On average, a range of 15-30 % of company’s Harvested volume 

is sold on a fixed price, previously defined. For these reasons, and for the fact that the salmon price is 

expected to grow, revenues of the company are assumed to grow in the forecasted period. The YTD 

Revenues for the 2018 are in line with the Q2 report.   

 

Table 11 

Gross Margin 

There are many Operating variable costs associated to salmon farming throughout the whole production 

cycle. Among them, feed costs represent the most important part, just like in every animal farming kind 

of industry. In the Gross Margin there are also included other costs such as eggs or smolt production 

expenses and the processing and VAP-related costs. The relative importance of these costs is clear from 

the following table. (Marine Harvest Industry Handbook 2018) 

The weight and the importance of these costs for SalMar was already clear from the Common-size 

Analysis of the income statement line-items. It is true that SalMar is pursuing the goal of becoming one 

of the most cost-efficient salmon producer; but it is also true that some of the costs are simply unavoidable, 

being variable costs that go along with the output. Salmons need to be fed in order to survive, and very 

little can be done in this regard. The principal ingredients for feed are illustrated in the Figure 38.  

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
Harvested Volume 151.000 143.000 148.720 154.669 160.856 167.290
Salmon Price Forecasted 60,71 60,67 63,02 69,76 77,34 85,93
Volume x Price 9.166.978 8.675.480 9.372.688 10.789.073 12.440.682 14.375.968
SalMar Premium Price 17% 13% 13% 13% 13% 13%
Revenues 10.755.452 9.819.128 10.608.246 12.211.347 14.080.680 16.271.086
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Fish feed costs are linked to the prices of the main feed ingredients. Historically, prices have increased 

consistently. 

“ Fish feed prices vary from a 

few hundred dollars a ton to 

more than USD 1,000 a ton, 

depending on the species being 

fed. Aquaculture relies on a 

basket of common ingredients 

such as soybean, corn, fishmeal, 

fish oil, rice and wheat, but since 

2005 prices of these commodities have soared — prices of wheat, rice and fish oil have increased 180, 

225 and 284 percent, respectively.” 31 (Seafoodsource.com) 

 

And feed prices are not expected to decline in the future, mainly because of the always increasing demand 

for fish feed from aquaculture companies.  

“The price of fish feeds is now also significantly influenced by the price of other proteins. The bad news 

for producers is that the price of other proteins is also increasing. […]. The good news is that the price 

of other sources of proteins has not escalated as rapidly as fish meal resulting in more moderate 

increases in the price of fish feeds.32” (Aquaculturenorthamerica.com) 

Future Gross margin for the company needs therefore to reflect this future outlook.  

From 2007 to 2017, this category of costs has represented on average 53 % of Revenues, reaching 65 % 

in two years. In proforma Income Statement, the costs in 2018 are expected to be close to the average in 

the period and then every year a slight increase it is expected during the forecasted period by 1,5% a year, 

due to expected increase in input prices.  

The following table shows the Forecasted Gross Margin for the Explicit Forecast period.  

                                                             
31 Source: https://www.seafoodsource.com/news/aquaculture/fao-fish-feed-costs-to-remain-high  
32 Source: https://www.aquaculturenorthamerica.com/nutrition/price-of-fish-feed-on-the-way-up-1424  

Figure 38 
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Table 12 

EBITDA  

Now, the EBITDA figures will be addressed, focusing on the other operating expenses or profits that the 

company will experience in the next years. The EBITDA is calculated by subtracting the salary costs and 

other operating expenses to the Gross Margin and adding the Profit or Loss from Associated Companies 

and other Operating income. Also, costs related to Restricted Share Units are included in the EBITDA. 

Salary costs are closely related to company size. A good proxy for the size of the company is represented 

by Revenues.  Therefore, the weight of this line items is calculated relatively to Revenues during the 

sample period and calculate the average, which is 10,5% approximately.  This item is expected to remain 

at a stable percentage weight during the explicit forecast period. 

Same goes for the following operating items. The average weights on Revenues throughout the sample 

period are calculated. These weights are then expected to be a good approximation for the 2018. Then, 

given the leadership of cost and the consequent positive trend in cost reduction attributable to SalMar, it 

is expected that the company will be able to cut down some of the operating costs that are not directly 

linked with the volume of activity. For this reason, it is assumed that SalMar will reduce the so-called 

“other operating expenses” by a constant rate of 0,5% yearly.  

Then, the rest of the items above the EBITDA are expected to remain constant throughout the year at the 

same level of the sample period’s average. Except one, namely the cost related to the Restricted Share 

Unit compensation scheme.  

Restricted Share Units 

Restricted share units are nothing but a compensation expense in the Income statement and therefore they 

represent an operating cost for the year in which they are granted and for the vesting period. The company 

has issued RSUs in the last three years, and therefore we expect this to happen more frequently in the 

future, also because there are no reasons to think that the company will suddenly stop using this kind of 

incentive scheme. In the first two years after the first grant of RSU, Salmar’ s performance has been very 

good, also when compared to the Peers.  

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
Revenues 10.755.452 9.819.128 10.608.246 12.211.347 14.080.680 16.271.086
Feed Costs / Revenues -44% -54% -56% -57% -59% -60%
Gross Margin 6.032.978 4.472.105 4.672.384 5.195.297 5.779.391 6.434.374
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After that, the expected level of RSU needs to be estimated for the years to come. The weight of the RSU 

cost during 2017 is 0,27% of Revenues. In the future, given the positive trend that RSUs are experiencing 

among companies in general and given also that in the first years of their utilization Salmar performed 

well, it is expected that this cost will increase at a rate of 0,1% yearly. This means that in 2022 its weight 

is expected to be at around 0,77% of Revenues.   

Table 13 shows the calculation of the EBITDA for the years between 2018 and 2022.  

 

Table 13 

EBIT 

Depreciations & amortizations and write downs items are now considered. These elements are mainly 

related to the amount of Fixed Assets in each year. And fixed Assets can be found in the “Non-current 

Assets” in the Reformulated Balance Sheet. It is true that the company can change depreciations’ policies 

too, affecting these items significantly. But, there is no announcement or signal that the company will 

start to do that. Therefore, these items will be forecasted as to be in line with the level they represented 

on Non-current Assets in the last year, 2017.  

 

Table 14 

Taxes and NOPAT 

To forecast the Net Operating Profit After Tax, the estimation of the taxes on the Operating Profit 

throughout the years is needed. They will be calculated as a percentage of EBIT and it assumed that this 

percentage will remain stable in the future. Afterwards, the effect of the Financial expenses and the related 

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E

Revenues 10.755.452 9.819.128 10.608.246 12.211.347 14.080.680 16.271.086

Gross Margin 6.032.978 4.472.105 4.672.384 5.195.297 5.779.391 6.434.374

Salaries and personnel expenses -8% -10,5% -10,5% -10,5% -10,5% -10,5%

Other operating expenses -15% -15,9% -15,4% -14,9% -14,4% -13,9%

Share of profit/loss from associated companies 2% 2,2% 2,2% 2,2% 2,2% 2,2%

Other operating items 1% 5,7% 5,7% 5,7% 5,7% 5,7%

Restricted Share Units Compensation (RSU) -0,27% -0,37% -0,47% -0,57% -0,67% -0,77%

EBITDA 3.789.780 2.613.359 2.706.681 2.981.373 3.282.865 3.614.553

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
EBITDA 3.789.780 2.613.359 2.706.681 2.981.373 3.282.865 3.614.553
Non Current Assets 7.608.825 7.205.708 7.493.937 7.793.694 8.105.442 8.429.660
Depreciation / NC Assets -5,5% -5,5% -5,5% -5,5% -5,5% -5,5%
Write downs / NC Assets -0,1% -0,1% -0,1% -0,1% -0,1% -0,1%
EBIT 3.371.168 2.216.925 2.294.390 2.552.590 2.836.931 3.150.781
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Tax shield effect need to be considered. This item will be calculated by multiplying the expected tax rate 

and the Estimated Net financial Expenses Before Tax. The tax rate is expected to remain stable at 25%. 

Then, Tax allocation to Fair Value Adjustments of Biological Assets and Other Operating items are 

expected to be zero.  

 

Table 15 

Adjustment of Biological Assets and Other Non-Core items 

As for the Adjustments made each year for the Biological Assets, they are forecasted to be zero in the 

future. The decision is made first because each negative change made in one year is than almost offset by 

the positive change in the following years, and vice versa. Indeed, the average net weight of this item is 

0,8 % of revenues from 2007 to 2017. It is expected the long-run level of this item to be zero. And the 

same goes for the other non-core items, which are Non-recurring gains on acquisitions, Onerous Contracts 

and Exceptional biological items. These items have been equal to zero in the last four years, and therefore 

they are estimated to be zero also in the future.  

Dirty Surplus items and Comprehensive NOPAT 

As for the dirty surplus items, the company report in the annual reports each year all the transactions that 

have bypassed the Income Statements during the year. Foreign exchange differences on net investments 

in foreign units and Equity transactions in associated companies have been most of the time equal to zero. 

The rest of the items are Currency translation differences in associated companies and in subsidiaries and 

changing in fair value of hedging instruments.  These elements are basically are hard to predict, giving 

the fact that they are linked to market values and currency exchange rates, and also their importance 

relative to revenues is not high. Therefore, it is assumed that the comprehensive items will be zero 

throughout the explicit forecast period.  

Net Financial Expenses and Comprehensive Income to Common Shareholders 

Net financial expenses are the result of four different items. Financial income and expenses are related to 

non-core financial activities performed by the company and not used for core operations. Interest expenses 

are related to interests paid on loans received by financial institutions and interest income is payments 

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
EBIT 3.371.168 2.216.925 2.294.390 2.552.590 2.836.931 3.150.781
Tax as reported / EBIT -16,6% -21,8% -21,8% -21,8% -21,8% -21,8%
+/- Tax Shield from NFE / NFE 25,0% 25,0% 25,0% 25,0% 25,0% 25,0%
+/- Tax allocated to Adj. Of  B. A. -2,7% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
+/- Tax allocated to non-core items 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
Core NOPAT 2.406.513 1.723.610 1.783.781 1.985.355 2.207.364 2.452.444
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received for debt issued to subsidiaries and associated companies. Financial income and interest income 

are estimated as a percentage of the financial assets and financial expenses and interest expenses are 

estimated as a percentage of financial obligations. The respective average percentages throughout the 

sample period are calculated, and then it is expected that the percentages will remain stable in the explicit 

forecast period. Then, the tax shield and the net financial expenses after tax are calculated. Summing 

comprehensive NOPAT and net financial expenses after tax, the comprehensive income is obtained. By 

subtracting the minority interests’ part of the income, we obtain the comprehensive income to common 

shareholders. The minority interest has been estimated as a percentage of the comprehensive income. We 

assume that this percentage will be the same as the average on the sample period. The following table 

shows the calculations of the net financial expenses after tax and the comprehensive income to 

shareholders.   

 

Table 16 

Proforma Financial Statements – Balance Sheet 
 

Now, proforma balance sheet needs must be forecasted. As for the other financial statement, the proforma 

balance sheet needs to be on a reformulated basis, and therefore it has to clearly distinguish Operating 

assets and liabilities from Financing ones, enabling us to quickly understand the developments of Net 

Operating Assets, Net Financial Obligations and Equity.  

 

 

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
NFO 1.587.395 1.503.295 1.563.426 1.625.963 1.691.002 1.758.642

Interest income / NFO 0,70% 0,30% 0,30% 0,30% 0,30% 0,30%
Financial income / NFO 0,00% 2,59% 2,59% 2,59% 2,59% 2,59%
Interest expenses / NFO -6,74% -5,01% -5,01% -5,01% -5,01% -5,01%
Financial expenses / NFO -3,09% -0,82% -0,82% -0,82% -0,82% -0,82%
NFE Before Tax -144.952 -44.260 -46.030 -47.871 -49.786 -51.778

Tax rate 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%
NFE After Tax -108.714 -33.195 -34.523 -35.904 -37.340 -38.833
NOPAT 2.406.513 1.723.610 1.783.781 1.985.355 2.207.364 2.452.444

Comprehensive Items 33.767 0 0 0 0 0
Comprehensive Income 2.331.566 1.690.415 1.749.259 1.949.451 2.170.024 2.413.611
Minority Interest 23.816 26.949 27.887 31.079 34.595 38.479
CI to Common Shareholders 2.307.750 1.663.466 1.721.371 1.918.372 2.135.429 2.375.132
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Net Operating Assets 

This item is a measure of the net Investment of the company in Operating Assets, and it is an index that 

explain the development in the size of a company. In order to be able to sustain a growth in the level of 

operations and to harvest more salmons, a company needs to invest in Fixed Assets and in Biological 

Assets, which, all else being equal, results in an increase in the Net Operating Asset. And this is the reason 

why it is decided to estimate the future Net Operating Assets based on the developments in Harvested 

volume. It is therefore assumed that each asset and liability divided by the harvested volume in the explicit 

forecast period will stay at the same level as for 2017.  

For example, the ratio biological assets/harvested volume was equal to 27,39 in 2017, and we will assume 

that it will be unchanged during the explicit forecast period. In the following table we can see the estimated 

value for the Net Operating Assets for the next five years.  

 

Table 17 

Net Financial Obligations and Equity 

Every company needs to attract resources in order to finance the operating expenses and capital 

investments. Therefore, it is quite fair to assume that the NFO will develop according to the net operating 

assets throughout the explicit forecast period.  

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
Harvested Volume 151.000 143.000 148.720 154.669 160.856 167.290

Asset / Harvested Volume:
Current assets

Accounts receivable 3,32 3,32 3,32 3,32 3,32 3,32

Other current receivables 1,36 1,36 1,36 1,36 1,36 1,36

Inventories 1,72 1,72 1,72 1,72 1,72 1,72

Biological assets 27,39 27,39 27,39 27,39 27,39 27,39

Non current assets
Other non-current receivables 0,37 0,37 0,37 0,37 0,37 0,37

Licenses 16,41 16,41 16,41 16,41 16,41 16,41

Property, plant and equipment 23,87 23,87 23,87 23,87 23,87 23,87

Investments in associated companies 6,78 6,78 6,78 6,78 6,78 6,78

Goodwill 2,96 2,96 2,96 2,96 2,96 2,96

Liabilities / Harvested Volume:
Accounts payable 8,27 8,27 8,27 8,27 8,27 8,27

Tax payable 4,45 4,45 4,45 4,45 4,45 4,45

Deferred tax liabilities 9,02 9,02 9,02 9,02 9,02 9,02

Public Charges Payable 1,13 1,13 1,13 1,13 1,13 1,13
Net Operating assets (NOA) 9.255.523 8.765.164 9.115.771 9.480.402 9.859.618 10.254.002
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The value of NFO/NOA ratio is kept constant and equal to the value at for the future five years Then, the 

total equity is calculated by subtracting the NFO to the NOA. Of the total equity, the minority interests’ 

part is derived assuming that its percentage on the total equity will remain stable and equal to the last year.  

 

Table 18 

Proforma Financial Statements – Cash Flow Statement 
Once we have prepared the proforma Income Statement and Balance Sheet, it is also possible to construct 

the proforma cash flow statement, which will be the starting point for the Discounted cash flow model 

later on. To calculate the free cash flow to firm (FCFF) using the indirect method, the starting point is the 

net operating profit after tax at time t. This measure expresses the profit left after accounting for all the 

cost. But cost is not a measure of cash flow. All the items that have no cash-effects incurred at time t 

needs to be added back, such as depreciation and amortization. After that, the changes in net working 

capital and net capital expenses have to be considered. This part shows the part of cash that has been 

invested in Operating Assets, both current and non-current. Net working capital expenses and Capital 

expenses can simply be calculated by taking the the amount of NOA at time t and subtract the amount of 

NOA at time t+1  

Therefore, FCFF can be calculated as follows: 

Y!YY$ = C02;@$ + (	CDE$ − CDE$[') 

 

Table 19 

All the proforma Financial Statements can be found in the Appendix.  

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
Net Operating assets (NOA) 9.255.523 8.765.164 9.115.771 9.480.402 9.859.618 10.254.002
NFO/NOA 17,15% 17,15% 17,15% 17,15% 17,15% 17,15%
Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 1.587.395 1.503.295 1.563.426 1.625.963 1.691.002 1.758.642
Total Equity 7.668.128 7.261.870 7.552.344 7.854.438 8.168.616 8.495.360
Minority Interest / Total 1,15% 1,15% 1,15% 1,15% 1,15% 1,15%
CSE 7.580.059 7.178.466 7.465.605 7.764.229 8.074.799 8.397.790

2017A 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E
NOPAT 2.440.280 1.723.610 1.783.781 1.985.355 2.207.364 2.452.444
Change in NOA 526.227 490.359 -350.607 -364.631 -379.216 -394.385
FCFF 2.966.507 2.213.969 1.433.175 1.620.724 1.828.148 2.058.060
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6 – Cost of Capital  
 
When performing a valuation, an appropriate discount rate needs to be calculated. In a risk-neutral 

world, the appropriate discount rate is the risk-free one. The risk-free rate is the required return of an 

investor when no risk is associated with the investment. Conventionally, analysts value companies using 

government bond yields as a proxy for risk-free rates (Petersen C. and Plenborg T., 2012) having as un 

underlying assumption that a government bond is risk free. As stated in the “Estimating risk-free rates 

for valuations” by EY, using bonds could be critical to calculate the cost of capital since starting 2008 

significant volatility in yields arise leading to not always appropriate calculations of the cost of capital. 

For this reason, the term structure is performed as to obtain the risk-free interest rates.  They are going 

to be used for the calculation of the cost of capita and will also point out the long-run risk free rate, 

which is then used in the Terminal period when performing the Valuation.  

Term Structure of Interest rates 
The term structure of interest rates is simply the implied Yield-to-Maturity of zero-coupon bonds. 

Damodaran in his paper “Estimating risk-free rate”33 explains that an asset to be risk free cannot have 

reinvestment risks; the actual return has to be equal to the expected return and this is possible with zero-

coupon bonds. Otherwise we need to evaluate and discount the coupon and face payment as to reach a 

rate that equals the price observed and the present value of the future cash flow. Since there are no zero-

coupon bonds actively traded for each maturity needed, another proxy needs to be used. The same result 

can be achieved by using actively traded Swap rates or default free coupon bonds which are highly present 

in the market. 

A Swap Rate is a derivative instrument used between two parties as an agreement to exchange one stream 

of interest payments for another, over a set period of time with no exchange of principal.34 

Because of their nature which doesn’t imply exchange of principal, credit risk does not arise. Therefore, 

the estimation of the term structure is performed using interest rates from Swap Rates. The data used as 

input are the traded Norwegian Swap rate for maturities from 1 to 10 years and 15, 20 and 30 years.  Their 

annual fixed leg can be, in fact, treated as a bullet bond traded at par. 

                                                             
33 Source: Damodaran A., “Estimating Risk free Rates”, Stern School of Business, New York. 
34 Source: https://global.pimco.com/en-gbl/resources/education/understanding-interest-rate-swaps  
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The method used to derive the implied YTM is the Extended Nelson-Siegel35 method, which fits the 

discount rate 3(	1	) as a function of time ( t ) and a series of parameters ф. The asymptotic function is the 

following:  

3(\,1, , ф	) = _` + _' ∗ a
1 − 4&

c
de

1
\'

f + _g ∗ a
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dh

1
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The parameters ф: are calculated minimizing the sum of the squared difference between the real swap 

prices and the value estimated with the model, i.e.:  

186
∅ j(kl)g

m

ln'

 

In the above formula ϵi indicates the difference between observed price and theoretical price.  

The formal statistical values are shown below:  

 

The β [0] found indicates that in the future the risk-free rate will converge towards the long-run level of 

2,77%. This will be used as input for the growth rate in the Terminal period in the Valuation. 

The interest rates calculated through the model are continuously compounded interest rates. Since discrete 

interest rates are needed to get the discount rate for each specific maturity, interest rates are converted 

from continuous to discrete via the following formula:   

8$ = 4op − 1 

Being 8$ the discrete interest rate and 3$ the continuously compounded interest rates. 

In addition, forward interest rates are calculated. At time t, the Forward rate between τ and τ+1 is calculated 

as:  

H$(		dd[') =
(1 + 8$d[')d['

(1 + 8$d)d
 

 

                                                             
35 Bliss R.R., ”Testing term structure estimation methods”, Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, Working paper 96-12a, 
1996. 

Parameters [ø] β[0] β[1] β[2] β[3] Ϯ[1] Ϯ[2]
2,77% -0,02296 -0,00685 0,014495 1,433342 0,130611
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                                                                                        Figure 39 

The Figure 39 above shows the Term structure interest rates together with Swap rates and the Forward 

Rates. 

Once estimated, the term structure also allows to include in the discount rate calculation the time-

varying component. Therefore, the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) is calculated as follows:  

qE!!($) = 	
r
s 	ku	

(1 − T) +
#
s wx($) 

where ke (t) is the cost of equity at time t, kd the cost of debt and T is the company’s marginal tax rate; D 

is the net financial obligations, E is the market value of Equity and V is the enterprise value. The cost of 

equity is determined using the capital asset pricing model (CAPM). This model determines the return on 

equity as a sum of the risk-free rate and the company’s risk premium, which is the expected market risk 

premium multiplied by Beta, that is the sensitivity of the company’s returns to a change in the market 

return. 

The after-tax cost of debt is approximated to be the yield to maturity of the long-term debt of the company. 

If the company has nontraded debt, a ratio between interest expenses and the overall interest-bearing debt 

of the company is considered. (Penman, 2013). 

Finally, the capital structure was then calculated as the approximated debt to equity ratio using market 

values.  
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Beta Equity estimation 
 
The Beta for an asset can be estimated by regressing the excess returns of the asset itself against excess 

returns of an index representing the market portfolio, over a reasonable time period and its fluctuation 

reflects the sensitivity of the company’s volatility with the market’s volatility. (Petersen C. and Plenborg 

T, 2012).  

In this model, Beta Equity for Salmar is calculated. This is done by using historical data, even though this 

is considered not to be the best assumption since the goal is to measure the future Beta and not the 

historical one (Koller T, 2005). Generally, estimates of Beta are imprecise since there is no common 

standards measurement of the period of estimation (Koller T, 2005). For this reason, following the 

suggestion of the McKinsey manual (Koller T, 2005), the estimation of the latter will be after subject to 

a rolling 2 years Beta which will investigate for any structural deviations or abnormal values.   

For estimating the regressions, the excess return is the return considered since, more broadly, financial 

models are always evaluated from the prospective of the marginal investor who is a well-diversified kind 

of investor. (Penman, 2008). The marginal investor it is well described by Damodaran in its paper 

“Estimating Risk Parameters”,  

“The capital asset pricing model, with assumptions about no transactions cost or private information, 

concludes that the marginal investor holds a portfolio that includes every traded asset in the market, 

and that the risk of any investment is the risk added on to this "market portfolio" (Damodaran A., 

2012). 

Then, since there is no commonly shared standard for the historical data necessary to give a proxy for the 

regression which will lead to find the right Beta equity, different regressions were performed at different 

maturities and frequencies. The short intra-bank interest rate of three months is chosen as the risk-free 

rate to calculate the excess return. These interest rates were chosen since they are the short-term loans 

between banks which are widely recognized as a good approximation for the risk free. In particular for 

Norway, the NIBOR3M is the one used. 

Furthermore, another proxy is needed for the market portfolio. The latter should reflect the well diversified 

portfolio of the marginal investor which should include every traded asset in the market (Damodaran, 

2012). From the literature it is explained how that is basically not possible, no indices can measure the 

market portfolio so determined. (EY, 2017).  
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Nevertheless, there are market indices that measure returns on subset of securities; the wider the indexes 

the better the proxy. The excess return of the SalMar stock have been regressed against five different 

market indexes being OBX, OSEAX, MSCIWORLD, MSCINORIDCS and MSCIEUROPE such as to 

verify the significance of the output and to assess the validity of the standard model in use (CAPM). 

Different time spans of 2, 3, 5 and 10 years were considered with a weekly, monthly, quarterly and yearly 

frequency. Hence, 70 regressions were derived in which the significance level was set at 5 %. 

Below in Table 21, the CAPM validities in the different regressions are presented. For a clearer 

understanding: 

- the green regions (YES) indicate a non-significance of alpha (pvalue > 5%), namely a validity of 

the model; 

- the red regions (NO) indicate a significance of alpha (pvalue < 5%), namely a violation of CAPM 

assumption; 

In the Table 22, all the Beta values are presented: 

- the grey regions indicate the regression in which Beta is not significant; 

- the red regions indicate the regressions in which Beta is significant, but CAPM is not valid; 

- the green regions indicate the regression in which Beta is significant and CAPM is valid.  

 

Table 20 

 

Table 21 

2 years regression results to be not significant for every frequency, confirming the statistical irrelevance 

of a short time analysis; also, 2, 3 and 5 years regressions with quarterly frequencies are not statistically 

significant, meaning that the amount of data available might have been not sufficiently large. Moreover, 

CAPM validity Y 10y Y 5y Q 10y Q 5y Q 3y Q 2y M 10y M 5y M 3y M 2y W 10y W 5y W 3y W 2y

OBX YES YES YES NO NO YES YES YES YES YES NO NO YES YES

OSEAX YES YES NO NO NO YES YES YES YES YES NO NO YES YES 

MSCIWORLD NO YES NO NO NO NO YES YES YES YES YES YES YES YES

MSCINORDICS NO NO NO NO YES YES YES YES YES YES NO YES YES YES
MSCIEUROPE NO NO NO NO NO NO YES YES YES YES NO YES YES YES

Beta Y 10y Y 5y Q 10y Q 5y Q 3y Q 2y M 10y M 5y M 3y M 2y W 10y W 5y W 3y W 2y

OBX 1,09 -0,56 0,64 -0,33 -0,43 0,10 0,65 0,22 0,38 1,01 0,26 -0,10 -0,29 -0,35
OSEAX 1,24 -0,33 0,70 -0,21 -0,29 0,39 0,72 0,28 0,38 0,96 0,29 -0,13 -0,34 -0,42

MSCIWORLD 1,56 -2,06 0,77 -1,19 -1,78 -4,50 0,68 0,68 -0,88 -2,93 0,59 0,51 0,37 0,25
MSCINORDICS 1,03 -2,31 0,58 -0,67 -1,04 -1,17 0,55 0,55 -0,54 -1,09 0,43 0,44 0,37 0,35
MSCIEUROPE 1,22 -2,06 0,61 -0,94 -1,78 -2,28 0,58 0,58 -0,59 -1,41 0,46 0,43 0,37 0,39
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estimation on a weekly basis shows low value of Beta which is not realistic for the food processing 

industry since that would lead to a low cost of capital. (Damodaran A.,2018)36 

There is no agreement among analysts on the choice of the right time period needed to estimate Beta. If 

the firm in question is historically fairly stable and comparable, in terms of business mix and leverage, 

the time period can be expanded to more than 10 years with confidence. By going back further in time, 

there is the advantage of having more observations in the regression, but this could affect the estimate 

since major changes might have been happening during the long-time span which doesn’t reflect anymore 

the present situation of the company. The right Beta should be chosen always having a forward-looking 

perspective.  

Among the possible Betas, two of them presented the higher statistical reliability in terms of R-squared 

(highlighted in the Table 22); the monthly 10 years basis regressed against OSEAX and Quarterly 10 

years basis regressed against OBX, having the highest R square respectively of 0,207 and 0,220. 

Further in the analysis, a rolling window of Beta is performed for both the series of Beta corresponding 

to the above-mentioned time period and considering OBX and OSEAX as market portfolios.  

   

As we can notice from the Figure 41 and 42 above, graph shows the fluctuation of 2- years Rolling Beta 

in order to visually investigate for structural deviations. For the OBX the deviation from the Beta 

coefficient estimated by the regression is high. Whereas the OSEAX Rolling Beta window sticks more to 

his above-mentioned Beta which reveals to be the average. Still the volatility even in the second case is 

high but being the OSEAX also a larger market index we assume the Beta to be 0,72. 

 

                                                             
36 Source: http://www.stern.nyu.edu/~adamodar/New_Home_Page/data.html  

Figure 5 Figure 4 Figure 40 Figure 41 
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Market risk premium 
 

The determination of the market risk premium estimation has a central relevance since it heavily 

influences the price of the stock.  

There are different approaches in estimating the equity risk premium. First, an historical one which 

considers the historical performance of stocks and bonds and ultimately the difference between them. Or, 

the survey approach where the managers as well as investors try to predict the risk premium given the 

information. And the implied approach, which tries to have a more forward-looking into the future 

predictions of equity and price. (Petersen C. and Plenborg T, 2012).  

Historical estimation and survey estimation share the same reliance on past performance. The historical 

data collected is often statistically not significant since the time framework is likely not long enough with 

volatility being too high and with the survivor bias affecting the historical premium for market premium 

being higher than expected premium (Petersen C. and Plenborg T; Jorion P., Goetzmann W. N, 2002). 

The phenomenon is even more accentuated for shorter time periods. 

Moreover, the estimation from historical data presents a fascinating puzzle (Benartzi S., Thaler R. 

H.,1993) well described and analyzed by Mehra and Prescott; they recognize the “enormous 

discrepancy between returns on stocks and bonds” (Mehra R., Prescott E.C., 1985) 

and that the equity premium was estimated being too high reflecting an unrealistically high relative risk 

aversion. A myopic risk aversion was stated to be a possible explanation of the historical high equity 

risk premium. Investors perceive the risk related to equity to have a high likelihood of loss in the short-

term, while not considering the long – term expected returns which are higher than for bonds. 

Ultimately, risk premium calculated with the implied approach is derived from the known present price 

of the stock and of the risk-free rate. All of the methods have their legacy leaving the estimation of the 

market risk premium controversial. 

The discussion between investors and the academia is extensive and it is not on the purpose of this thesis 

to give a contribution on the topic since it could be likely neither relevant nor coherent. Historical data on 

past researches are used to estimate the risk premium following the guidance of professor Damodaran 

which ultimately indicates the market risk premium being determined by a mature risk premium such as 

the implied equity risk premium of S&P500 while adding the default spread for the country which for 

SalMar is Norway.  
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The marginal investor is the investor interested in the valuation of a company and she is the one looking 

for diversification for its portfolio. This could have led us to choose a global average risk premium which 

are calculated either though surveys (Fernandez et al.’s 2017) or from historical averages. Despite the fact 

that our marginal investor is potentially investing on a global level the cash flows and risk-free rate are 

traded in NOK and for consistency the market risk premium chosen is the Norwegian one. With a survey-

based approach Fernandez et al.’s (2017) calculated an average risk premium for Norway of 6% collecting 

a total of 42 answers from researchers and managers and it is the figure that is going to be implemented 

in the calculation of the cost of equity. 

Cost of equity  
 

The cost of equity, or required return on equity, can be estimated with different model as the APV model, 

the Fama French model but in this paper, the most common one has been used which is the Standard 

Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). The required return on equity is defined with the following 

formula: 

3xyzl${($) = 3|oxx($) + _x(ZBN) 

where required return on equity at time t is equal to the risk-free return at time t plus the market risk 

premium (MRP) times the beta equity.  

The cost of Equity components and calculations are shown below in the Table 23: 

 

Table 22 

Usually, analysts estimate the cost of equity using a fixed risk-free rate. In this paper, as introduced in the 

section on Term structure of Interest rates, the value of time is considered, and a time-varying risk-free 

rate is implemented. 

Beta equity used in the model is fixed and equal to 0,72, as calculated in the section Beta Estimation; the 

market risk premium is also fixed, and it is equal to 6%, as explained in the relative section.  

Cost of Equity 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Risk-free Rate 1,16% 1,70% 2,16% 2,42% 2,58% 2,67%
Beta Equity 0,72 0,72 0,72 0,72 0,72 0,72
MRP 6,00% 6,00% 6,00% 6,00% 6,00% 6,00%
Equity Rate 5,47% 6,01% 6,46% 6,73% 6,89% 6,97%
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The graph in Figure shows the development of the cost of Equity over time, together with the Term 

Structure of Interest rates. The difference between the two curves is represented by the firm-specific risk, 

namely Beta-equity (0,72) multiplied by the Market Risk Premium (6%), equal to 4,31%.  

 

Figure 42 

Cost of Debt  
 

The cost of debt is a “weighted average of all components of net financing obligations” (Penman), also 

seen as the required return on the Net Financial Obligations, which include Financial Assets and Financial 

Obligations. This cost of borrowing affects the discount rate of the company, since the company it is 

financed both by Equity and Debt. 

The cost of debt estimation relies on credit analysis of the Yield To Maturity of the company’s long-term 

bonds (Goedhart and Wessels, 2015).  Since SalMar does not issue bonds to raise capital, the implied cost 

of debt is calculated using the ratio between interest expenses and the overall NFO.  

As explained by Penman the net borrowing cost, which is our implied cost of debt, derives from the 

historical data taken from the Reformulated Income Statement and Balance Sheet. From the first one, we 

calculate the financing expenses being the difference between interest expenses and interest income. From 

the Reformulated Balance Sheet, we take the average Net Financial Obligation  

The calculation of the cost of debt before tax is shown in the table 24 below: 
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Table 23 

The cost of debt to be implemented in the model, is calculated by taking the average NBC throughout the 

years, which is 4,61%. Then we consider the tax shield effect, with a tax rate of 25%, and derive an after-

tax cost of debt of 3,46%.  

Weighted Average of Cost of Capital  
 

One more element is missing for the final estimation of WACC and it’s the capital structure of the 

company which is reflected by the ratio of Market value of Equity and the Net interest bearing debt each 

of the over the enterprise value. Penman suggests to use market values in the calculations hence in this 

paper all figures are at market value. The debt is already considered to be at his market value. The equity 

is calculated as being the quantity of outstanding shares “multiplied by the most recent price” (Goedhart 

and Wessels, 2015) since SalMar is publicly traded company. 

In the table 25 we provide the inputs for the calculation considering the term structure of interest rate as 

to obtain the discount rates needed for implementing the Valuations.  

 

Table 24 

The capital structure was derived by calculating the market value of equity and the value of debt respect 

to the total value of the firm. Indeed, the market value of the equity is calculated as the total amount of 

shares outstanding times the price of the share the 23rd of August of 2018 and the value of the net interest-

bearing debt is taken from the Annual Report of SalMar 2017. (SalMar, Annual Report 2017) 

 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Interest expenses 47.104 72.178 32.078 49.597 98.791 169.084 168.053 124.193 98.780 106.328 106.961
Interest income 4.706 3.485 330 5.639 5.276 2.956 9.958 9.057 3.477 5.014 11.109
NFE 42.398 68.693 31.748 43.958 93.515 166.128 158.095 115.136 95.303 101.314 95.852
NFO 851.632 1.046.851 819.488 1.889.419 2.780.753 2.835.139 1.946.159 2.675.962 3.083.009 3.100.918 1.587.395
Average NFO n/a 949.242 933.170 1.354.454 2.335.086 2.807.946 2.390.649 2.311.061 2.879.486 3.091.964 2.344.157
NBC before Tax n/a 7,24% 3,40% 3,25% 4,00% 5,92% 6,61% 4,98% 3,31% 3,28% 4,09%

WACC 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Cost of Equity 5,47% 6,01% 6,46% 6,73% 6,89% 6,97%
Cost of Debt 0,0346 0,0346 0,0346 0,0346 0,0346 0,0346
MVE/EV 93,1% 93,1% 93,1% 93,1% 93,1% 93,1%
NIBD/EV 6,9% 6,9% 6,9% 6,9% 6,9% 6,9%
WACC 5,33% 5,83% 6,26% 6,50% 6,65% 6,83%
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7 – Valuation  
 

We have now all the instruments to give an answer to the first research questions, which aims to find the 

value of SalMar share price as of 23/08/2018.  

The value of a company can be estimated with different valuation methods using different valuation 

approaches, as shown by Petersen and Plenborg37. They categorize the valuation models into four 

groups: 

- Present Value approaches; 

- Relative Valuation approaches; 

- Contingent claim valuation; 

- Liquidation approach.  

 

In this study, the Present Value approaches are used to estimate the value of SalMar.  

In particular, two of the most common and reliable models are used to estimate the share price of the 

company. The first one is the discounted cash flows model (DCF) and the second one is an accounting-

based model, which is called residual operating income model (ReOI).  

First, each model is introduced, the characteristics analyzed and the advantages of each of them pointed 

out. Then, we will make a comparison of the results and comment on that. 

Discounted Cash Flow Model 
 

There are different versions of this model. Some of them estimate the Enterprise Value, and some others 

estimate the Equity Value.  

We will calculate the Enterprise Value of SalMar discounting the free cash flows to firm (FCFF), which 

represent in each year the cash available after all the operating obligations are settled. In other words, it 

is the cash available for both debt servicing and shareholders remuneration. 

The advantages of the Discounted cash flow model are that it is easy to understand, mainly because cash 

is something tangible and something that everyone can understand. And in this model the value is just 

                                                             
37  
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based on the cash that will be received in the future, discounted with an appropriate rate that takes into 

consideration the financial risk associated with the company and the value of the time.  

 

It is usually divided in two stages. The first stage takes into consideration the present values of the cash 

flows in the explicit forecast period, and the second stage is about the Terminal Value. 

The formula used to calculate the Enterprise Value with the DCF model is the following:  

#s =j
Y!YY$

(1 +qE!!$)$

}

$n'

+	
Y!YY}['

(qE!!}[' − G)
	 ∙ 	

1
(1 +qE!!})}

 

We have already calculated all the different FCFF for the five years forecast period when we have 

prepared the proforma cash flow statement. And we have also calculated the weighted average cost of 

capital for the different years in the relevant chapter.  

As for the terminal period, we use the Gordon growth model. Growth rate in terminal value is assumed 

to be equal to the long-run interest rate, estimated with the term structure; the value is equal to 2,77%. 

Professor Damodaran explains that the growth rate in the terminal period should not be set higher than 

the whole economy’ s growth rate and that a good approximation for it is the risk-free rate. 

(Damodaran A., Growth Rates and Terminal Value38). 

Therefore, we have now all the relevant information to perform our Valuation. First, the Enterprise 

Value as of the 01/01/2018 is calculated. Then, adjustments to the EV will be made in order to calculate 

the value at the cut-off date, which is 23/08/2018. The adjustment is made as follows:  

E)�?7@4)	#s = #s	 ∙ (1 +qE!!)
m
ÄÅÇ		 

Where n is the number of days between the 01/01/2018 and the cut-off date, i.e. 234 days. The 

following table shows our DCF model and the theoretical Share Price we calculated.  

                                                             
38 Source: http://people.stern.nyu.edu/adamodar/pdfiles/ovhds/dam2ed/growthandtermvalue.pdf  
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Table 25 

The share price on the 23/08/2018 was 410,00 NOK. Therefore, according to the model, currently the 

share price is underpriced. We calculate that the intrinsic value of the share is 453,55 NOK.  

Residual Operating Income Model 
 

The Residual Operating Income model (ReOI) is derived from the Residual Earnings model. The latter 

analyses the value created for the shareholders both from operating and financing activities. Instead, the 

ReOI focuses only on operating activities. 

One of the advantages of this model is that it is based on accrual accounting measures. When 

forecasting, the proforma financial statements are also built using accrual accounting concepts. 

Therefore, the ReOI is more aligned with the forecasted financial statements the analysts perform. 

Another advantage can be the fact that the starting point of this model is the Net Operating Assets of the 

company at the time when valuation is performed, which hence reduces the value assigned to the 

Terminal Value. Terminal Value of course is a slightly more uncertain than the current level of NOA 

and it can vary consistently by arbitrarily changing the growth rate.  

As the DCF, it is split into two stages, namely the explicit forecast period and the Terminal Value. The 

formula is the following:  

#s =j
B4D+$

(1 +qE!!$)$

}

$n'

+	
B4D+}['

(qE!!}[' − G)
	 ∙ 	

1
(1 +qE!!})}

 

31/12/2017 2.018 2.019 2.020 2.021 2.022 Terminal
FCFF 2.213.969 1.433.175 1.620.724 1.828.148 2.058.060 2.441.792
WACC 5,33% 5,83% 6,26% 6,50% 6,65% 6,83%
Discount Factor 0,95 0,89 0,83 0,78 0,72
PV of FCFF 2.101.936,09 1.279.517,61 1.351.004,56 1.420.796,02 1.491.685,19
Sum of PV 7.644.939,48
PV of CV 43.618.842,36
EV 51.263.781,84
Adjusted EV 52.999.115,19
NFO 1.587.395,00
Minority Interests 88.069,00
MVE 51.323.651,19
Diluted #shares 113.160,48
Share Price NOK 453,55
Market Price as of 23/08/2018 NOK 410,00
Price Difference + 10,62%

Discounted Cash Flow Model
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where ReOI is the residual operating income which is calculated as follows:  

B4D+$ 	= 	C02;@$ − (qE!!$ 	 ∙ CDE$&') = (BCDE$ −qE!!$) 	 ∙ CDE$&'	 

The following table shows the share value calculate with the ReOI model.  

 

Table 26 

The ReOI model gives a price of 455,38 NOK. The result is slightly different from the DCF model. The 

two models can yield to the same result, but only under certain assumptions. One of this is related to the 

use of a fixed cost of capital in the forecasting period. So, the difference in our two models is due to the 

fact that the we have used a cost of Equity which varies together with the term structure, so we have a 

different WACC in each year. Indeed, if we use a cost of capital which is fixed throughout the five years 

explicit forecast period, the 2 models yield to the same share price. The literature on this argument is not 

very comprehensive, and in most of the cases researchers and analysts assume a flat term structure of 

interest rates and a constant WACC throughout the period. Also, other factors can influence the value of 

the two models in different ways. Obviously, this is not the main focus of this paper; but it would be 

interesting to further research the effects of elements such as the term structure of interest rates or the 

dynamic cost of equity and cost of capital on the equality of the DCF and ReOI models. 

 

 

31/12/2017 2.018 2.019 2.020 2.021 2.022 Terminal
NOPAT t 1.723.609,89 1.783.781,18 1.985.354,75 2.207.363,82 2.452.444,23 2.725.996,00
Investet Capital primo 9.255.523,00 8.765.164,17 9.115.770,73 9.480.401,56 9.859.617,62 10.254.002,33
WACC 5,33% 5,83% 6,26% 6,50% 6,65% 6,83%
Cost of Capital 493.316,88 511.385,49 570.221,94 616.697,66 655.550,56 700.255,52
EVA 1.230.293,00 1.272.395,68 1.415.132,82 1.590.666,17 1.796.893,67 2.025.740,48
Discount Factor 0,95 0,89 0,83 0,78 0,72
PV EVA 1.168.036,95 1.135.976,50 1.179.627,74 1.236.230,58 1.302.391,72

Investet Capital primo 9.255.523,00

PV of EVAs 6.022.263,48
PV of CV 36.186.723,32
EV 51.464.509,80
Adjusted EV 53.206.638,00
NFO 1.587.395,00
Minority Interests 88.069,00
MVE 51.531.174,00
Diluted #shares 113.160,48
Share Price NOK 455,38
Market Price as of 23/08/2018 NOK 410,00

Residual Operating Income Model
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8 - Sensitivity Analysis 
 

The model shows that the share value of the company is 433,99 NOK, given all the inputs and 

assumptions. Of course, some of the inputs can diverge, also significantly, from the ones assumed in this 

study. How is the share value affected by the changes in any of the underlying inputs and variables? Is it 

only a minor or a big change? To have an idea of what factors have the most important influence on the 

share price in the model, a sensitivity analysis is addressed. The main factors that have been used as inputs 

will be challenged in the following. This will give an idea of how every change in the underlying 

assumptions affect the final share value. The tables reported below only show the changes in percentage 

from the “actual share value” calculated in the model. In the appendix X are the tables with the share 

prices in absolute values.  

The first two variables in the analysis are the main drivers of SalMar’ s profitability. And not only. Salmon 

price and Feed price have a high impact on the whole salmon industry. The salmon price has been 

forecasted in the relative section. If the real price will diverge from the forecasted value, this will have an 

impact on the share price. From the table below, we can see that a small change in the Salmon price, such 

as an increase of 5%, causes the share price to grow by 6,6%.  

 

Table 27 

On the other side, feed costs have also a huge impact on the Income statement and therefore on the share 

value. In the forecasting, we have calculated the Feed & variable costs as a percentage of revenues. If the 

feed price growth rate increases, the weight of feed costs on revenue increases too. If the feed costs ratio 

on Revenues grows by 2% per year instead of 1,5%, then share price falls by 17,1%. According to the 

table 28, with the small changes in the two variables, the price can go up to +50,8% of the price found 

with the model, or decrease by 43,9%. Therefore, it is clear that share price is quite sensitive to salmon 

price and feed price.  

The analysis continues with two of the growth rates used as inputs in the model, namely the growth of 

quantity of Salmon harvested by SalMar across the years and the Terminal growth rate used for the 

-0,50% -1,00% -1,50% -2,00% -2,50%
-10,00% 17,7% 2,3% -13,1% -28,5% -43,9%
-5,00% 26,0% 9,7% -6,6% -22,8% -39,1%
0,00% 34,2% 17,1% 0,0% -17,1% -34,2%
5,00% 42,5% 24,5% 6,6% -11,4% -29,4%
10,00% 50,8% 32,0% 13,1% -5,7% -24,5%

Change in Feed costs on Revenues

Change in 
Salmon 

Price

NOK 455,38
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Terminal Value in the model. The output produced by a company, influences directly the revenues and 

therefore the company’s value. In the model it is assumed that the growth rate of the output is of 4 % for 

the input. What if the harvested quantity develops differently instead? The table clearly shows that when 

the growth changes by plus or minus 1% in absolute value, the share price changes by plus or minus 4% 

circa.  

 

Table 28 

As far as the growth in the Terminal period is concerned, it is already known that that the continuing value 

has a high weight on the derived Enterprise Value. And this is also confirmed by the above table. The 

assumption in the model is that the growth level is equal to the long-run level of the interest rates, namely 

2,77%; when increasing it by 1%, the share value increase by 23,6%. It is one of the factors that affects 

more the share price, and it is very speculative. And actually, this is in line with the market shares’ prices 

of the companies operating in this industry. When the salmon price goes up, companies experience good 

revenues and good performance on the stock markets.   

Then, we look at how the inputs used to calculate the Cost of capital influence the share price. First, we 

analyze the sensitivity to the Cost of Equity and the Cost of debt. 

The cost of Debt used in the model is equal to 3,46%. When changing only the cost of debt from 3,46% 

to either 2% or 4%, the share price changes respectively by +2,69% and -1% circa. This happens because, 

when calculating the WACC, the value of the NFO is way lower than the MVE. So, the cost of debt does 

not influence the price that much compared to the cost of equity. 

 

Table 29 

2,00% 3,00% 4,00% 5,00% 6,00%
0,00% -34,2% -31,8% -29,2% -26,6% -23,9%
1,77% -20,7% -17,6% -14,2% -10,8% -7,2%
2,77% -8,0% -4,1% 0,0% 4,2% 8,6%
3,77% 13,2% 18,3% 23,6% 29,1% 34,8%
4,00% 20,1% 25,6% 31,3% 37,2% 43,4%

Change in Harvested salmon growth

Change in 
Terminal 

growth rate

NOK 455,38

1,00% 2,00% 3,46% 4,00% 5,00%
-1,00% 38,48% 35,24% 30,79% 29,20% 26,37%
-0,50% 19,17% 16,75% 13,40% 12,19% 10,03%
0,00% 4,50% 2,62% 0,00% -0,95% -2,64%
0,50% -7,03% -8,53% -10,63% -11,40% -12,76%
1,00% -16,33% -17,55% -19,28% -19,90% -21,03%

Cost of Debt

Change in 
cost of 
Equity

NOK 455,38
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And for the same reason, the Cost of Equity has a bigger impact on the share price. In the model, the cost 

of Equity changes in time with the term structure of interest rates. If these values are lowered by -1 %, the 

share value increases by +32,6 %, which shows the great impact that this input can have on the share 

price.  

The next two items are the Market Risk Premium and the Beta Equity, both used to calculate the cost of 

Equity. Given that they are inputs for the calculation of the Cost of Equity, the two variables have a great 

impact on the share price. When the MRP is assumed to be either 1% higher or -1% lower, the share value 

changes respectively by -15% and +21 %. Therefore, share price heavily depends on this input. And the 

same goes for the next item. 

 The Beta equity is a measure of how sensitive is the stock to the market’s movement. Therefore, it directly 

influences the cost of equity. The beta used in the model is 0,72. By changing it to either 0,6 or 0,8 the 

share price respectively increases by 20,5% and decrease by 10,8%.  

RSU-related Inputs 
How sensitive is the share price to the changes in RSU-related inputs? One of the inputs used in the model 

is the Liquidity premium, which is used to differentiate the price of a normal share from a restricted-one, 

which is less liquid. The liquidity premium used in the model is 20%. From the table 31, we can see that 

the share price is almost unaffected by the liquidity premium. This is mainly because the number of 

restricted shares compared to the normal one is very low. If the actual number of restricted shares 

increased, the sensitivity to the Liquidity premium would be higher.  

 

Table 30 

The actual number of Restricted shares owned by employees are 43 thousand circa. This is only the 0,05% 

of the shares outstanding. If the number of Restricted shares was higher, the value of the common share 

would be lower. From the table, we can see that if we assume an extreme case in which the number of 

Restricted shares is 10.000 thousand (representing in that case the 8 % of the total outstanding shares), 

the value of a Non-restricted share is -6,56 % lower, when keeping the liquidity premium at 20%. So, this 

0,00% 10,00% 20,00% 40,00% 60,00%
0 5,07% 5,07% 5,07% 5,07% 5,07%
43 -0,01% 0,00% 0,00% 0,01% 0,02%

1.000 -0,85% -0,76% -0,67% -0,50% -0,32%
5.000 -4,20% -3,80% -3,39% -2,55% -1,71%
10.000 -8,09% -7,34% -6,58% -5,01% -3,39%

Actual 
Restricted 

Shares 
(thousands)

Illiquidity discount
NOK 455,38



 108 

means that the higher the number of Restricted shares owned by employees, the lower the value for the 

common shareholders.  

Every time that new RSUs are granted to employees, the company must recognize a salary cost, which 

reduces the NOPAT and therefore Earnings. When forecasting, we have assumed that in the future, the 

ratio RSU-cost/Revenues will grow by 0,1% yearly (In the table the amounts are in negative terms, 

because in the income statement it represents a cost, so it has negative sign). We assume that the company 

will make an always more intense use of the RSU compensation. But, how sensitive is the share price to 

the increase in expected future RSU grants? From 

the table 32, we can see that if we assumed the RSU 

weight on Revenues to increase (in absolute 

values) by 0,2% yearly, the price would be -3,4% 

lower. Instead, if we assumed that the RSU will 

remain a fixed percentage of the Revenues, the 

price would be +3,4% higher. Therefore, this 

means that any small change in future grants of RSU will have an important impact on the share value.  

9 - Discussion  
 

Both discounted cash flow and residual operating income models lead to the almost the same result. For 

the sake of simplicity, and because the two prices are almost identical, only the price obtained with the 

ReOI model is taken as reference of the Valuation performed.  

According to the model contained in this 

paper, the share value of SalMar as of 

23/08/2018 is 455,38 NOK 

On the same day, the price of the stock on the 

Oslo Stock Exchange was 410,00 NOK. 

Therefore, in the paper the share is considered 

being undervalued by the market. The intrinsic 

value calculated with the model is considered 

to be 11,07% higher than the market price.  

But of course, the model is not able to predict the future. Nobody is. The model used many assumptions 

and estimates as inputs. The share value is derived by dividing the market value of equity by the number 

Share price
0,00% 3,4%
-0,05% 1,7%
-0,10% 0,0%
-0,15% -1,7%

-0,20% -3,4%

Growth in 
weight of 

future RSU 
on 

Revenues

NOK 455,38

Table 31 

15%

12%

73%

Market Value of Equity - Breakdown

Common Equity primo

Present Value EVAs -
Explicit Forecast
Terminal Value

Figure 43 
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of outstanding shares. In the Figure 43 we can see the breakdown of the MVE and what contributes at its 

value.  

The Terminal value has a consistent value on the total MVE. And it is also the most uncertain element, 

being the element most distant from the present. But any small change in one of the assumptions of the 

Terminal Value can lead to a consistent change in share price. As we have seen in the Sensitivity Analysis, 

the value of the share is very sensitive to some of the variables used as inputs. 

The reader should therefore consider the price as a result of a set of assumptions. The outcome of the 

valuation  should be looked at with critic eye and judge with any personal insight the assumptions made 

in this paper.  

Being the Terminal Value’s contribution to Market Value of Equity so high, it is clear that share price is 

highly affected by, for example, the growth rate assumed in the terminal period. As a proxy for this value, 

we have used the long-run value of the risk-free rate, which it has been estimated through the  

Nelson-Siegel-Svensson’ s model, and its value is 2,77%. If only we change this value by plus or minus 

1%, the resulting prices are respectively 562,70 NOK and 390,50 NOK.  

Also, we have looked at how the choice of the Market Risk Premium can deviate the consideration on the 

cost of capital and therefore on the share value.  

We have chosen a 6% value for the MRP. But, when only this value changes to either 5% or 7%, the share 

price is respectively 548,21 NOK and 388,86 NOK.  

The rationale behind the sensitivity analysis is therefore to understand what variables can have more 

impact on the share price and how sensitive the price can be to those variables.  

The valuation methods used in this paper have tried to find the intrinsic value of SalMar looking at the 

present values of forecasted cash flows and residual operating income. Most Analysts use also the so-

called relative valuation. 

“In relative Valuation, you value an asset based not on its cashflows, growth and risk, but based on 

what similar assets are priced out there. “(Damodaran A., “Relative Valuation First principles”39) 

Usually, relative valuations are useful when someone wants to value a non-listed company, looking at 

peer companies market values and multiples.  

                                                             
39 Professor Aswath Damodaran - Source: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WDZwqSierZ4&frags=pl%2Cwn  
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Now, a Relative Valuation is performed, to see whether the intrinsic value found by our model is somehow 

in line with how the market value the company through multiples. The graph below shows the results of 

our Analysis.  

The dashed line represents the 

current price, on the Market, at 

23/08/2018. The bars show the 

different prices obtained with 

different Multiples. The brown bar, 

also, shows the result of the 

residual operating income model 

performed in this paper. The 

detailed tables with multiples can 

be found in Appendix 25. Three 

multiples result in very low implied 

prices for SalMar. Three of them, instead, considers SalMar’s share being currently undervalued by the 

market. It is worth to point out that relative valuations could lead to wrong estimates that do not reflect 

the real value of the company. Valuing an asset, or a company, by comparing it to others, is not the most 

precise analysis. Mainly because every company has its own peculiarities and valuing them looking at 

comparables’ ratios may simply be wrong. However, the intrinsic price derived with a DCF or an ReOI 

is more reliable, and therefore we do not change our mind on SalMar’s share value.  

What are the effects of RSU on share value? On one hand, if the restricted stock units can give managers 

the right incentives to work harder, the value of the company increases. By doing that, employees also 

directly benefit from share appreciations over time. It is a win-win situation.  

And even when the share price drops because of external factors, the employee can be motivated by 

restricted shares to work at his/her best to limit the damages.  

With stock options instead, employee can lose any kind of motivation when share price goes below the 

strike price. In that case the value of the option is close to zero. Therefore, the RSU is very helpful for 

those companies who want to align the interests of their managers to those of the company. And this also 

explain the recent trend in using RSU in the compensation packages:  

Figure 44 

100 200 300 400 500
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“Statistics show the trend toward RSUs is widespread.  In a recent survey of 325 companies, 72% 

reported using RSUs in their long-term incentive compensation programs compared to only 37% ten 

years earlier.” (Agen J. A., “Foley & Lardner LLP”, 201840). 

Apple Inc. is one of the many companies that use RSU:  

“To show our support for our team and our confidence in Apple's future, we'll be issuing a grant of 

$2,500 in restricted stock units to all individual contributors and management up to and including 

Senior Managers worldwide.” (Tim Cook41, CEO for Apple Inc). 

So, there must be a good reason behind the companies’ choice to grant RSU to employees.  

Unfortunately, the motivational effect is not quantifiable. It is hardly possible to understand what fraction 

of Revenues, Earnings, NOA or Cash Flows is attributable to the increased effort of managers and key 

employees caused by the RSUs’ incentive.  

On the other hand, the RSU is nothing but a salary expense for the company. It is a cost. And as every 

cost, it has a negative impact on the share price. Furthermore, the issue of new share, increases the number 

of shares outstanding, creating a dilution effect. In details, the impact of RSU on share price can be split 

in three moments:  

1. The issue of RSU in the past; 

2. The issue of RSU in the present;  

3. The issue of RSU in the future. 

 

Issue of RSU in the past. The restricted stock units granted in the past years have effects on the value of 

a share today. Many of the RSU granted have turned into issued restricted shares. Restricted shares are 

now part of the outstanding shares. Managers and/or key employees are now shareholders. They may have 

some restrictions, such as trading restriction or maybe they are not entitled (yet) to receive dividends; still, 

they have an equity stake in the company. This creates a dilution effect for the “non-employees” 

shareholders. The latter have to share the market value of equity with the employees who hold restricted 

shares.  

Issue of RSU in the present. When a company grants RSUs to employees, the value of them must be 

treated as a compensation expense. As also underlined by Warren Buffet, if equity-based compensation 

                                                             
40 Source: https://www.manufacturingindustryadvisor.com/equity-compensation-and-the-rise-of-restricted-stock-
units/  
41 Source: https://www.cnbc.com/2018/01/17/apple-awarding-2500-rsus-report.html  
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is not an expense, what is it? Therefore, in the year in which the RSU are granted, the company sees its 

Operating profit and earnings reduced by this expense. Also, when RSU plan is set, it usually involves 

two or more years of vesting period. Therefore, the current earnings are affected also by a portion of 

previous RSUs’ value. All else being equal, residual operating income and free cash flows to firm are 

lowered by these salary costs and so is the enterprise value of the company. This also results in a lower 

market value of equity, which divided by the number of shares outstanding gives a lower share price.   

Issue of RSU in the future. The intrinsic value of a company can be defined as the present value of future 

cash flows or the present value of future residual operating income. When analysts expect the company 

to grant new RSU plans in the future, they will take into consideration this aspect when forecasting future 

figures of the company. And therefore RSU-related expenses are forecasted together with the other 

figures. Future operating profit is lowered by these expenses; future residual operating income and cash 

flows are lowered, and same goes for the Terminal value. All else being equal,  the resulting market value 

of equity and share price are lower.  

RSU effects in SalMar ASA 
From 2014 SalMar started to grant restricted share units to its key employees, abandoning the employees 

stock options scheme used until then. SalMar recognizes in each year an expense related to rsu. The 

calculation of the fair value is calculated, and the cost is spread over the vesting period which is composed 

of three years. Therefore, in 2017 the cost in the income statement dedicated to restricted share units 

contained the grants of that year, and the deferred expenses from 2015 and 2016. When performing the 

forecasting, expenses related to rsu compensation have been calculated, and as a result the future free cash 

flows and residual operating income calculated are of course lower. Furthermore, the number of shares 

outstanding has been calculated, by using the method introduced by Damodaran in his article42, 

considering the dilution effect and the illiquidity discount. This lowers further the share value for a 

common shareholder.  

 

Table 32 

                                                             
42 A. Damodaran A., “Employee Stock Options (ESOPs) and Restricted Stock: Valuation effects and Consequences” 

NOK 455,38 0,00% 10,00% 20,00% 40,00% 60,00%
0 478,47NOK    478,47NOK    478,47NOK    478,47NOK    478,47NOK    
43 455,35NOK    455,36NOK    455,38NOK    455,42NOK    455,45NOK    

1.000 451,53NOK    451,93NOK    452,32NOK    453,12NOK    453,92NOK    
5.000 436,24NOK    438,09NOK    439,96NOK    443,75NOK    447,61NOK    
10.000 418,52NOK    421,95NOK    425,43NOK    432,58NOK    439,96NOK    

Illiquidity discount

Actual 
Restricted 

Shares 
(thousands)
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In the sensitivity analysis, we have seen the magnitude of the restricted share units’ effects on share’s 

value. 

 For a given Illiquidity discount, the price of the share decreases with the increase of Restricted Shares 

outstanding. This is because the value of the equity needs to be divided also with employees, who are 

actually shareholders, but their shares can not be traded and they are restricted, not being part of what are 

commonly referred to as common shares. The illiquidity premium can also have an impact, which is bigger 

when the restricted shares are more than the actual limited case of only 43 thousands restricted shares on 

a total of 113.299.999 total shares outstanding.  

The share value with the actual number of Restricted shares is 455,38 NOK. Without Restricted shares, 

the price would be 478,47 NOK, all else being equal.  

10 - Conclusions 
 

In the first part of the thesis we focused on the valuation of the company’ s share. SalMar, as all the 

companies operating in the same industry, is heavily influenced by the industry dynamics and by 

external factors which characterizes the industry itself.  

Many are the factors which need to be carefully considered when operating in this industry. The lice 

disease, the mortality of the salmon during the farming process and the change in temperature can cause 

the variation of the harvested salmon quantity and jeopardize the development of the fish. On a global 

scale, these factors have also a high influence on the total supplied quantity of salmon, which can have a 

great impact on another important factor for the industry which is the salmon price. The intrinsic value 

derived from the analysis is 455,38 as of 23/08/2018, suggesting an actual underestimation of the share’ 

s value of the company, which on the Oslo Stock Exchange was worth 410 NOK on the same day. We 

challenged the intrinsic share value of the company through a sensitivity analysis, highlighting how it is 

highly sensitive to the Salmon Spot Price and the Feed Price.  

In the salmon industry, companies do not compete on price. Salmon is a product which does not allow 

high degree of differentiation and therefore, companies need to find other ways to achieve better 

performance relatively to the competitors. One is the efficiency. Another key factor can also be 

represented by the human capital, mainly the executive managers. The value creation can be driven by 

employees’ motivation and effort. In order to trigger this important resource, companies can establish 

incentive schemes that enhance motivation. In this case study, Salmar opted for Restricted Share Units, 

tying the employees’ compensation to the share price.  
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The Equity based compensation for managers and key employees has been used for a long time, and it 

has evolved across the years. Employees’ stock options were the most popular among this category of 

compensation. In recent years the Restricted stock unit has become more popular, since they have many 

of the advantages of Stock Options, but not some of the downsides.   

From an accounting perspective, the effect of RSU incentive scheme was analyzed. The RSU is a salary 

expense for a company, even though there is no cash transaction between the parties. Therefore, the 

RSU-related cost decreases the EBITDA, and as a consequence the Free cash flow and the Residual 

Operating Income are lowered. This ultimately results in a decrease in the intrinsic value of the share. 

Furthermore, when shares are released to the employees, the number of shares outstanding increases. 

The Market Value of the company is therefore diluted by the new shares issued, leading to a further 

decrease in the share value.   

The RSU are actually issued and given to the employees only if certain conditions are met. Companies 

usually use also some restrictions linked to the achievement of certain profitability targets over the 

determined period. Also, in order for the shares to be issued, the employee should still be part of the 

Salmar group.  

It is worth to note that the restricted shares are released to the employees only after a satisfactory 

performance of the company is achieved. In the specific case, Salmar issues the restricted shares only 

when the company had the highest Ebit/KG in the industry. Therefore, if the RSUs are able to increase 

motivation of the employees and if the higher motivation can directly affect the company’s performance, 

than the RSU has also a positive effect on the share price. But, it is not clearly understandable the direct 

causality link between the improved company’ s performance and the employees’ increased effort.  

The Equity based compensation it is used by companies of all industries and the challenges faced are the 

same faced by each of them. The findings of this study can thus be generalized and extended to other 

companies of other industries.  

This study can also address further research on the topic. For the RSU to be an efficient incentive scheme, 

two conditions need to be met. First, there must be a relation of causality between the RSU incentive 

shceme and the increased motivation. Restrictions too tight, or targets too challenging, can have the 

opposite effect on motivation. Second, employee’s increased motivation must be linked to the increase in 

company’s performance. If the employee is not able to directly influence the intrinsic value of the 

company, than the RSU can only be a cost on the income statement. Are these conditions always met ? 

Does the RSU have empirical effect on motivation ? And, is there any evidence that the motivation really 

increases the company’s value? 
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Furthermore, it would be interesting to see how the market reacts to the grant of share-based incentive 

scheme. Is it considered a lack of liquidity for the company, negatively affecting the share price ? Or, is 

it seen as a long-term investment on human capital, which is expected to improve future performances ? 
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Appendix 
Appendix 1 – Salmar’ s Income Statement 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Income Statement (NOK '000) 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017 YTD June 2018

Sales Revenues 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452 5.443.728
Other Operating Revenues 12.157 10.014 1.042 29.564 33.299 24.377 17.555 25.877 22.696 66.575 61.786 31.272
Total operating revenues 1.677.687 1.714.256 2.377.304 3.429.432 3.829.045 4.204.791 6.245.860 7.185.887 7.326.202 9.029.814 10.817.238 5.475.000

Change in stocks of goods in progress and finished goods -47.750 -103.844 -25.567 -401.629 -395.900 -390.297 -324.914 -162.119 -246.712 -395.871 0 0
Excess value of inventory from acquisitions 17.641 9.303 0 33.587 20.259 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cost of goods sold 836.652 922.016 1.162.445 1.898.698 2.373.168 2.715.056 3.376.109 3.337.411 3.809.523 4.396.689 4.722.474 2.324.000
Salary & payroll costs 217.808 240.393 265.517 313.290 391.745 483.215 623.053 710.430 765.881 861.534 929.100 505.000
Depreciation 50.671 55.225 66.578 93.962 132.000 169.621 220.820 275.765 307.280 358.020 414.686 240.424
Write-down of PP&E 0 0 11.600 1.668 543 547 5.000 2.399 14.169 0 3.926 2.276
Other operating expenses 191.270 253.701 311.973 517.067 705.891 885.983 1.086.299 1.142.953 1.272.186 1.377.795 1.584.825 816.500
Total operating expenses 1.266.292 1.376.794 1.792.546 2.456.643 3.227.706 3.864.125 4.986.367 5.306.839 5.922.327 6.598.167 7.655.011 3.888.200

Operating profit before fair value adjustment of the biomass 411.395 337.462 584.758 972.789 601.339 340.666 1.259.493 1.879.048 1.403.875 2.431.647 3.162.227 1.586.800

Fair value adjustment of the biomass 94.234 -32.996 -4.624 184.658 -356.693 290.417 528.176 -232.349 39.932 653.955 -370.015 177.100
Non-recurring gains on acquisitions 0 0 0 0 0 62.390 161.755 0 0 0 0 0
Onerous Contracts 0 0 0 -3.635 3.635 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Exceptional biological items 0 0 0 0 -60.070 -54.614 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net operating profit 505.629 304.466 580.134 1.153.812 188.211 638.859 1.949.424 1.646.699 1.443.807 3.085.602 2.792.212 1.763.900

Income from investments in associated companies 31.600 12.248 56.769 147.365 97.999 93.909 157.980 96.136 40.242 286.844 208.941 136.300

Interest income 4.706 3.485 330 5.639 5.276 2.956 9.958 9.057 3.477 5.014 11.109 5.575
Financial income 364 364 30.066 18.495 2.774 50.177 374.357 2.044 685 78.142 0 28.900
Interest expenses 47.104 72.178 32.078 49.597 98.791 169.084 168.053 124.193 98.780 106.328 106.961 53.675
Financial expenses 13.935 13.683 1.119 14.931 34.992 8.313 1.596 902 5.744 7.193 49.100 0
Net Financial Items -55.969 -82.012 -2.801 -40.394 -125.733 -124.264 214.666 -113.994 -100.362 -30.365 -144.952 -19.200

Profit Before tax 481.260 234.702 634.102 1.260.783 160.477 608.504 2.322.070 1.628.841 1.383.687 3.342.081 2.856.201 1.881.000
Tax 129.431 65.874 163.217 302.667 13.106 127.062 418.695 413.364 254.891 691.090 558.402 396.400
Profit After Tax 351.829 168.828 470.885 958.116 147.371 481.442 1.903.375 1.215.477 1.128.796 2.650.991 2.297.799 1.484.600

Other Comprehensive Income

Currency translation differences in associated companies -34.488 -15.953 -20.384 -27.546 1.544 -40.197 82.163 58.911 58.475 -105.325 41.743 -43.600
Equity transactions in associated companies -168 -3.121 4.076 158 -3.063 -1.847 -8.811 -160 0 0 0
Currency translation differences in subsidiary companies 16 1.023 -658 416 -82 -719 1.051 3.312 4.705 -2.056 3.540 -2.700
Foreign exchange differences on net investments in foreign units 75 0 0 0 480 0 0 0 0 0 0
adjustments of previous post-acquisition allocations -35.331 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 0 0 2.205 -6.899 0 0 242 0 0 11.516 -11.516 0
Total comprehensive income for the year 281.933 150.777 456.124 924.245 146.250 438.679 1.978.020 1.277.540 1.191.976 2.555.126 2.331.566 1.438.300

Non-controlling Interests -49 249 16 11300 2517 14072 113335 22977 25506 13910 23816 5800

Total Common comprehensive income for the year 281.982 150.528 456.108 912.945 143.733 424.607 1.864.685 1.254.563 1.166.470 2.541.216 2.307.750 1.432.500
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Appendix 2 – Salmar’ s Balance Sheet  

 

Balance Sheet (NOK '000) 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017 30.06.2018

Assets

Non-current Assets - Intagible Assets
Licenses, patents 845.178 914.116 935.916 1.315.218 1.483.752 1.702.152 2.030.710 2.451.271 2.466.171 2.464.332 2.478.510 2.936.535
Goodwill 197.965 196.932 205.458 372.710 433.348 433.348 433.348 447.372 447.372 446.465 446.465 446.465
Total Intangible Assets 1.043.143 1.111.048 1.141.374 1.687.928 1.917.100 2.135.500 2.464.058 2.898.643 2.913.543 2.910.797 2.924.975 3.383.000

Property, Plnt and Equipment
Land, buildings and other real estate 58.342 66.864 102.624 179.364 206.409 233.732 473.408 489.496 617.182 882.066 1.030.052 1.027.546
Plant, equipment and operating consumables 273.569 319.847 403.979 636.720 845.581 947.824 1.248.820 1.336.126 1.554.914 1.981.840 2.314.523 2.308.892
Vessels, vehicles, etc 16.311 29.374 26.684 55.951 74.455 87.247 137.096 191.953 239.863 273.616 260.195 259.562
Total property, plant & equipment 348.222 416.085 533.287 872.035 1.126.445 1.268.803 1.859.324 2.017.575 2.411.959 3.137.522 3.604.770 3.596.000

Long-term financial assets
Investments in associated companies 258.203 257.615 268.508 866.809 918.868 948.575 402.338 523.711 627.681 908.400 1.023.796 986.805
Investments in shares and other securities 1.001 975 1.025 1.426 762 15.760 384 519 289 289 393 379
Pension fund assets 1.766 1.637 4.904 3.901 2.023 2.492 802 1.592 1.397 1.379 1.379 1.329
Other receivables 5.316 5.485 12.720 12.276 4.609 4.029 5.225 13.403 6.840 49.949 55.284 53.287
Total long-term financial assets 266.286 265.712 287.157 884.412 926.262 970.856 408.749 539.225 636.207 960.017 1.080.852 1.041.800

Total non-current assets 1.657.651 1.792.845 1.961.818 3.444.375 3.969.807 4.375.159 4.732.131 5.455.443 5.961.709 7.008.336 7.610.597 8.020.800

Current assets
Biological assets 905.675 971.454 1.011.518 1.580.934 1.420.788 1.986.213 3.077.150 3.114.684 3.306.052 4.997.001 4.135.523 4.139.313
Other inventory 63.979 97.768 103.176 128.973 227.935 303.682 171.539 206.454 328.216 224.783 259.050 259.287
Total inventory 969.654 1.069.222 1.114.694 1.709.907 1.648.723 2.289.895 3.248.689 3.321.138 3.634.268 5.221.784 4.394.573 4.398.600

Receivables
Accounts receivables 147.193 148.596 252.155 409.707 505.280 660.944 662.149 888.219 815.540 595.773 501.112 649.800
Parent company receivables 165 552 84 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other receivables 37.785 33.604 73.163 136.266 144.993 245.501 217.584 292.644 258.288 302.078 242.866 243.100
Total receivables 185.143 182.752 325.402 545.973 650.273 906.445 879.733 1.180.863 1.073.828 897.851 743.978 892.900

Bank deposits, cash & cash equivalents 47.809 23.541 148.424 107.062 47.621 55.336 1.070.998 166.963 273.696 273.715 177.098 157.100

Total current assets 1.202.606 1.275.515 1.588.520 2.362.942 2.346.617 3.251.676 5.199.420 4.668.964 4.981.792 6.393.350 5.315.649 5.448.600

TOTAL ASSETS 2.860.257 3.068.360 3.550.336 5.807.317 6.316.425 7.626.835 9.931.551 10.124.407 10.943.499 13.401.686 12.926.246 13.469.400

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Paid-in Equity
Share Capital 25.750 25.750 25.750 25.750 25.750 28.325 28.325 28.325 28.325 28.325 28.325 28.325
Own shares 0 -150 -350 -350 -325 -325 -325 -325 -295 -246 -189 -200
Share premium fund 112.880 112.880 112.880 112.880 112.880 415.286 415.286 415.286 415.286 415.286 415.286 415.286
Other paid-in equity 6.547 15.551 20.454 25.685 38.337 49.957 32.822 34.834 57.768 85.673 114.188 134.489
Total paid-in equity 145.177 154.031 158.734 163.965 176.642 493.243 476.108 478.120 501.084 529.038 557.610 577.900

Equity - Retained Earnings
Retained earnings 1.141.501 1.160.184 1.540.158 2.187.391 1.915.741 2.338.170 4.246.867 4.598.535 4.646.272 6.069.363 7.022.449 6.311.600
Total Retained earnings 1.141.501 1.160.184 1.540.158 2.187.391 1.915.741 2.338.170 4.246.867 4.598.535 4.646.272 6.069.363 7.022.449 6.311.600

Equity-Minority interests
Minority interests 649 898 914 118.011 122.228 136.300 337.808 60.622 79.684 82.432 88.069 87.000
Total Minority interests 649 898 914 118.011 122.228 136.300 337.808 60.622 79.684 82.432 88.069 87.000

Total Equity 1.287.327 1.315.113 1.699.806 2.469.367 2.214.611 2.967.713 5.060.783 5.137.277 5.227.040 6.680.833 7.668.128 6.976.500

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Pension liabilities 4.507 5.233 5.784 1.714 1.213 528 0 0 0 0 0 0
Deferred tax liabilities 460.067 481.813 498.508 761.633 738.475 872.398 1.199.557 1.262.594 1.230.815 1.495.301 1.362.222 1.402.300
Debt to credit institutions 687.336 758.171 746.071 1.760.567 2.028.537 2.098.240 1.974.521 1.780.174 2.371.338 2.079.001 811.027 1.992.628
Leasing liabilities 77.319 65.764 68.070 108.606 173.460 125.188 471.716 411.388 390.035 360.556 344.972 344.972
Total non-current liabilities 1.229.229 1.310.981 1.318.433 2.632.520 2.941.685 3.096.354 3.645.794 3.454.156 3.992.188 3.934.858 2.518.221 3.739.900

Current liabilities
Debt to credit institutions 88.394 183.999 118.073 51.431 501.754 596.288 397.186 276.667 140.421 198.613 243.633 335.600
Trade payables 98.713 133.022 204.394 351.042 412.802 762.765 515.856 409.485 649.274 1.199.402 1.248.975 1.209.466
Tax payable 89.867 46.271 146.293 148.088 66.399 7.008 25.843 321.839 292.320 423.223 672.448 651.230
Public charges payable 22.076 19.137 19.710 48.023 52.980 43.192 93.532 143.757 153.262 189.136 170.716 165.329
Other current liabilities 44.652 59.837 43.627 106.845 126.195 153.515 192.556 381.226 488.996 775.622 404.125 391.374
Total current liabilities 343.702 442.266 532.097 705.429 1.160.130 1.562.768 1.224.973 1.532.974 1.724.273 2.785.996 2.739.897 2.753.000

Total liabilities 1.572.931 1.753.247 1.850.530 3.337.949 4.101.815 4.659.122 4.870.767 4.987.130 5.716.461 6.720.854 5.258.118 6.492.900

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2.860.257 3.068.360 3.550.336 5.807.317 6.316.425 7.626.835 9.931.551 10.124.407 10.943.499 13.401.686 12.926.246 13.469.400
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Appendix 3 – Salmar’ s Shareholders Equity Statement 
 

 

Appendix 4 – Salmar’ s Reformulated Income Statement 
 

 

 

 

 

Reformulated Statement of Owners Equity (TNOK) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 30.06.2018
Opening book value of Common Equity 884.517 1.286.678 1.314.215 1.698.892 2.351.356 2.092.383 2.831.413 4.722.975 5.076.655 5.147.356 6.598.401 7.580.059

Transactions with shareholders
Stock issued for stock options 6.547 9.004 4.903 5.231 12.653 11.619 1.296 2.012 22.933 32.010 25.535 20.300
Options Exercised 0 0 0 -22.297 -3.002 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Contributed capital 113.630 0 0 0 0 304.981 0 0 0 0 0 0
Stock repurchased 0 -18.693 -35.376 0 0 0 42.468 -6.392 0 0 -4.000 0
Cash dividends 0 -113.300 -40.960 -223.520 -409.740 -2.940 0 -896.000 -1.120.000 -1.121.199 -1.347.788 -2.138.400
Cash dividends to minority interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Changes 0 0 0 -19.888 -2.606 0 -17.220 0 1.398 0 162 -5.000

Sum transactions with shareholders (CSE) 120.177 -122.989 -71.433 -260.474 -402.695 313.660 26.544 -900.380 -1.095.669 -1.089.189 -1.326.091 -2.123.100
Comprehensive income

Net income reported 351.878 168.579 470.869 946.816 144.854 467.370 1.790.040 1.192.500 1.103.290 2.637.081 2.273.983 1.478.800
Translation differences from associates -34.656 -19.074 -16.308 -27.388 -1.519 -42.044 73.352 58.751 58.475 -105.325 41.743 -43.600
Translation differences from subsidiaries -35.240 1.023 -658 416 398 -719 1.051 3.312 4.705 -2.056 3.540 -2.700
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 0 0 2.205 -6.899 0 0 242 0 0 11.516 -11.516 0
Other changes 0 0 0 -7 -12 765 334 -509 -100 -981 -1 41

Sum comprehensive income (CSE) 281.984 150.526 456.110 912.938 143.722 425.370 1.865.018 1.254.060 1.166.370 2.540.234 2.307.749 1.432.541
Closing book value of Common Equity (CSE) 1.286.678 1.314.215 1.698.892 2.351.356 2.092.383 2.831.413 4.722.975 5.076.655 5.147.356 6.598.401 7.580.059 6.889.500

Reformulated Income Statement (NOK '000) 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017 YTD 30/06/18
CORE OPERATING ITEMS

Net sales 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452 5.443.728
Expenses to generate sales -836.652 -922.016 -1.162.445 -1.898.698 -2.373.168 -2.715.056 -3.376.109 -3.337.411 -3.809.523 -4.396.689 -4.722.474 -2.324.000

Gross profit 828.878 782.226 1.213.817 1.501.170 1.422.578 1.465.358 2.852.196 3.822.599 3.493.983 4.566.550 6.032.978 3.119.728
Other operating items

Salaries and personnel expenses -211.261 -231.389 -260.622 -307.630 -381.428 -480.375 -611.653 -708.418 -742.948 -833.629 -900.585 -489.340
Restricted Share Units Compensation (RSU) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2.012 -22.933 -27.905 -28.515 -15.660
Employees Stock Options Compensation (ESO) -6.547 -9.004 -4.895 -5.660 -10.317 -2.840 -11.400 0 0 0 0 0
Other operating expenses -191.270 -253.701 -311.973 -517.067 -705.891 -885.983 -1.086.299 -1.142.953 -1.272.186 -1.377.795 -1.584.825 -816.500
Share of profit/loss from associated companies 31.600 12.248 56.769 147.365 97.999 93.909 157.980 96.136 40.242 286.844 208.941 136.300
Other operating items 59.907 113.858 26.609 431.193 429.199 414.674 342.469 187.996 269.408 462.446 61.786 31.272

EBITDA 511.307 414.238 719.705 1.249.371 852.140 604.743 1.643.293 2.253.348 1.765.566 3.076.511 3.789.780 1.965.800
Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation, property, plant and equipment -50.671 -55.225 -66.578 -93.962 -132.000 -169.621 -220.820 -275.765 -307.280 -358.020 -414.686 -240.424
Depreciation licenses and other intangibles 0 0 -11.600 -1.668 -543 -547 -5.000 -2.399 -14.169 0 -3.926 -2.276

Core EBIT 460.636 359.013 641.527 1.153.741 719.597 434.575 1.417.473 1.975.184 1.444.117 2.718.491 3.371.168 1.723.100
Tax from operating income

Tax as reported -129.431 -65.874 -163.217 -302.667 -13.106 -127.062 -418.695 -413.364 -254.891 -691.090 -558.402 -396.400
+/- Tax Shield from NFE -15.671 -22.963 -784 -11.310 -35.205 -34.794 57.960 -30.778 -27.098 -7.591 -36.238 -4.800
+/- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets 26.386 -9.239 -1.295 51.704 -116.694 66.025 142.608 -62.734 10.782 163.489 -92.504 44.275
+/- Tax allocated to other non-core items -4.939 -2.605 0 -10.422 -4.655 17.469 43.674 0 0 0 0 0

Core-NOPAT 336.980 258.332 476.231 881.046 549.937 356.213 1.243.019 1.468.307 1.172.910 2.183.299 2.684.024 1.366.175
NON-CURRENT OPERATING ITEMS

Adjustment of Biological Asset
Fair value adjustment of biological assets 94.234 -32.996 -4.624 184.658 -416.763 235.803 528.176 -232.349 39.932 653.955 -370.015 177.100
- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets -26.386 9.239 1.295 -51.704 116.694 -66.025 -142.608 62.734 -10.782 -163.489 92.504 -44.275

Core-Nopat after F.V. Adjustments of Biological Asset 404.828 234.575 472.902 1.014.000 249.868 525.991 1.628.588 1.298.693 1.202.060 2.673.765 2.406.513 1.499.000
Other non-core  items

Non-recurring gains on acquisitions . before tax 0 0 0 0 0 62.390 161.755 0 0 0 0 0
Onerous Contracts - before tax 0 0 0 -3.635 3.635 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Excess value of inventory from acquisitions - before tax -17.641 -9.303 0 -33.587 -20.259 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- Tax allocated to other non-core items 4.939 2.605 0 10.422 4.655 -17.469 -43.674 0 0 0 0 0

Comprehensive items - After Tax
Currency translation differences in associated companies -34.488 -15.953 -20.384 -27.546 1.544 -40.197 82.163 58.911 58.475 -105.325 41.743 -43.600
Equity transactions in associated companies -168 -3.121 4.076 158 -3.063 -1.847 -8.811 -160 0 0 0 0
Currency translation differences in subsidiary companies 16 1.023 -658 416 -82 -719 1.051 3.312 4.705 -2.056 3.540 -2.700
Foreign exchange differences on net investments in foreign units 75 0 0 0 480 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Change in fair value of hedging instruments -35.331 0 2.205 -6.899 0 0 242 0 0 11.516 -11.516 0

Net Operating Profit after tax (NOPAT) 322.231 209.826 458.141 953.329 236.778 528.149 1.821.314 1.360.756 1.265.240 2.577.900 2.440.280 1.452.700
FINANCING ITEMS

Net Financial expenses (NFE)
Interest income 4.706 3.485 330 5.639 5.276 2.956 9.958 9.057 3.477 5.014 11.109 5.575
Financial income 364 364 30.066 18.495 2.774 50.177 374.357 2.044 685 78.142 0 28.900
Interest expenses -47.104 -72.178 -32.078 -49.597 -98.791 -169.084 -168.053 -124.193 -98.780 -106.328 -106.961 -53.675
Financial expenses -13.935 -13.683 -1.119 -14.931 -34.992 -8.313 -1.596 -902 -5.744 -7.193 -49.100 0

Net Financial Income/Expense (NFE before tax) -55.969 -82.012 -2.801 -40.394 -125.733 -124.264 214.666 -113.994 -100.362 -30.365 -144.952 -19.200
Marginal tax rate 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 25% 25% 25%
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 15.671 22.963 784 11.310 35.205 34.794 -57.960 30.778 27.098 7.591 36.238 4.800

Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) -40.298 -59.049 -2.017 -29.084 -90.528 -89.470 156.706 -83.216 -73.264 -22.774 -108.714 -14.400

Comprehensive Income 281.933 150.777 456.124 924.245 146.250 438.679 1.978.020 1.277.540 1.191.976 2.555.126 2.331.566 1.438.300
- CI to Minority interests -49 249 16 11.300 2.517 14.072 113.335 22.977 25.506 13.910 23.816 5.800

Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder 281.982 150.528 456.108 912.945 143.733 424.607 1.864.685 1.254.563 1.166.470 2.541.216 2.307.750 1.432.500
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Appendix 5 – Salmar’ s Reformulated Balance Sheet 
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Reformulated Balance Sheet (TNOK) 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017 30.06.2018
Operating Assets

Accounts receivable 147.358 149.148 252.239 409.707 505.280 660.944 662.149 888.219 815.540 595.773 501.112 649.800
Other current receivables 37.785 33.604 65.379 108.911 144.993 180.469 199.948 288.225 225.889 264.587 205.374 205.608
Inventories 63.979 97.768 103.176 128.973 227.935 303.682 171.539 206.454 328.216 224.783 259.050 259.287
Biological assets 905.675 971.454 1.011.518 1.580.934 1.420.788 1.986.213 3.077.150 3.114.684 3.306.052 4.997.001 4.135.523 4.139.313
Other non-current receivables 5.316 5.485 12.720 12.276 4.609 4.029 5.225 13.403 6.840 49.949 55.284 53.287
Licenses 845.178 914.116 935.916 1.315.218 1.483.752 1.702.152 2.030.710 2.451.271 2.466.171 2.464.332 2.478.510 2.936.535
Property, plant and equipment 348.222 416.085 533.287 872.035 1.126.445 1.268.803 1.859.324 2.017.575 2.411.959 3.137.522 3.604.770 3.596.000
Investments in associated companies 258.203 257.615 268.508 866.809 918.868 948.575 402.338 523.711 627.681 908.400 1.023.796 986.805
Goodwill 197.965 196.932 205.458 372.710 433.348 433.348 433.348 447.372 447.372 446.465 446.465 446.465

Total Operating Assets 2.809.681 3.042.207 3.388.201 5.667.573 6.266.018 7.488.215 8.841.731 9.950.914 10.635.720 13.088.812 12.709.884 13.273.100
Operating Liabilities

Accounts payable 98.713 133.022 204.394 351.042 412.802 762.765 515.856 409.485 649.274 1.199.402 1.248.975 1.209.466
Tax payable 89.867 46.271 146.293 148.088 66.399 7.008 25.843 321.839 292.320 423.223 672.448 651.230
Deferred tax liabilities 460.067 481.813 498.508 761.633 738.475 872.398 1.199.557 1.262.594 1.230.815 1.495.301 1.362.222 1.402.300
Public Charges Payable 22.076 19.137 19.710 48.023 52.980 43.192 93.532 143.757 153.262 189.136 170.716 165.329

Total Operating Liabilities 670.723 680.243 868.905 1.308.786 1.270.656 1.685.363 1.834.788 2.137.675 2.325.671 3.307.062 3.454.361 3.428.326
Net Operating assets (NOA) 2.138.958 2.361.964 2.519.296 4.358.787 4.995.362 5.802.852 7.006.943 7.813.239 8.310.049 9.781.750 9.255.523 9.844.774

Financial Obligations
Leasing liabilities 77.319 65.764 68.070 108.606 173.460 125.188 471.716 411.388 390.035 360.556 344.972 344.972
Other current liabilities 44.652 59.837 43.627 106.845 126.195 153.515 192.556 381.226 488.996 775.622 404.125 391.374
Short-term loan facilities 88.394 183.999 118.073 51.431 501.754 596.288 397.186 276.667 140.421 198.613 243.633 335.600
Pension obligations 4.507 5.233 5.784 1.714 1.213 528 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other long-term borrowings 687.336 758.171 746.071 1.760.567 2.028.537 2.098.240 1.974.521 1.780.174 2.371.338 2.079.001 811.027 1.992.628

Total Financial Obligations 902.208 1.073.004 981.625 2.029.163 2.831.159 2.973.759 3.035.979 2.849.455 3.390.790 3.413.792 1.803.757 3.064.574
Financial Assets

Other Current Receivables - Derivatives 0 0 7.784 27.355 0 65.032 17.636 4.419 32.399 37.491 37.492 37.492
Cash and cash equivalents 47.809 23.541 148.424 107.062 47.621 55.336 1.070.998 166.963 273.696 273.715 177.098 157.100
Derivatives and other financial instruments 1.001 975 1.025 1.426 762 15.760 384 519 289 289 393 379
Pension fund assets 1.766 1.637 4.904 3.901 2.023 2.492 802 1.592 1.397 1.379 1.379 1.329

Total Financial Assets 50.576 26.153 162.137 139.744 50.406 138.620 1.089.820 173.493 307.781 312.874 216.362 196.300
Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 851.632 1.046.851 819.488 1.889.419 2.780.753 2.835.139 1.946.159 2.675.962 3.083.009 3.100.918 1.587.395 2.868.274

Common Equity (CSE) 1.286.678 1.314.215 1.698.892 2.351.356 2.092.383 2.831.413 4.722.975 5.076.655 5.147.356 6.598.401 7.580.059 6.889.500

Minority interest 649 898 914 118.011 122.228 136.300 337.808 60.622 79.684 82.432 88.069 87.000
Total Equity (CSE + Minority interest) 1.287.327 1.315.113 1.699.806 2.469.367 2.214.611 2.967.713 5.060.783 5.137.277 5.227.040 6.680.833 7.668.128 6.976.500

Reformulated Statement of Owners Equity (TNOK) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 30.06.2018

Beginning Book Value of Common Equity 884.517 1.286.678 1.314.215 1.698.892 2.351.356 2.092.383 2.831.413 4.722.975 5.076.655 5.147.356 6.598.401 7.580.059
Transactions with shareholders

+ Stock issued for ESO and RSU 6.547 9.004 4.903 5.231 12.653 11.619 1.296 2.012 22.933 32.010 25.535 20.300
+ Contributed Capital 113.630 0 0 0 0 304.981 0 0 0 0 0 0
-  Share Repurchases 0 -18.693 -35.376 -22.297 -3.002 0 42.468 -6.392 0 0 -4.000 0
-  Cash dividends 0 -113.300 -40.960 -223.520 -409.740 -2.940 0 -896.000 -1.120.000 -1.121.199 -1.347.788 -2.138.400

Other Changes 0 0 0 -19.895 -2.618 765 -16.886 -509 1.298 -981 161 -4.959
= Net Cash Contribution 120.177 -122.989 -71.433 -260.481 -402.707 314.425 26.878 -900.889 -1.095.769 -1.090.170 -1.326.092 -2.123.059

Comprehensive income
Net income reported 351.878 168.579 470.869 946.816 144.854 467.370 1.790.040 1.192.500 1.103.290 2.637.081 2.273.983 1.478.800
Other Comprehensive Income -69.896 -18.051 -14.761 -33.871 -1.121 -42.763 74.645 62.063 63.180 -95.865 33.767 -46.300

= Comprehensive income 281.982 150.528 456.108 912.945 143.733 424.607 1.864.685 1.254.563 1.166.470 2.541.216 2.307.750 1.432.500

Closing book value of Common Equity (CSE) 1.286.678 1.314.215 1.698.892 2.351.356 2.092.383 2.831.413 4.722.975 5.076.655 5.147.356 6.598.401 7.580.059 6.889.500
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Appendix 7 - Salmar’s Common-size Income Statement 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Common Size Income Statement 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

CORE OPERATING ITEMS

Net sales 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 100,0%
Expenses to generate sales -50,2% -54,1% -48,9% -55,8% -62,5% -64,9% -54,2% -46,6% -52,2% -49,1% -43,9%

Gross profit 49,77% 45,90% 51,08% 44,15% 37,48% 35,05% 45,79% 53,39% 47,84% 50,95% 56,09%

Other operating items
Salaries and personnel expenses -12,7% -13,6% -11,0% -9,0% -10,0% -11,5% -9,8% -9,9% -10,2% -9,3% -8,4%
Restricted Share Units Compensation (RSU) 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% -0,3% -0,3% -0,3%
Employees Stock Options Compensation (ESO) -0,4% -0,5% -0,2% -0,2% -0,3% -0,1% -0,2% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
Other operating expenses -11,5% -14,9% -13,1% -15,2% -18,6% -21,2% -17,4% -16,0% -17,4% -15,4% -14,7%
Share of profit from associated companies 1,9% 0,7% 2,4% 4,3% 2,6% 2,2% 2,5% 1,3% 0,6% 3,2% 1,9%
Other operating items 3,6% 6,7% 1,1% 12,7% 11,3% 9,9% 5,5% 2,6% 3,7% 5,2% 0,6%

EBITDA 30,70% 24,31% 30,29% 36,75% 22,45% 14,47% 26,38% 31,47% 24,17% 34,32% 35,24%

Depreciation / Amortisation
Depreciation, property, plant and equipment -3,0% -3,2% -2,8% -2,8% -3,5% -4,1% -3,5% -3,9% -4,2% -4,0% -3,9%
Depreciation licenses and other intangibles 0,0% 0,0% -0,5% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% -0,1% 0,0% -0,2% 0,0% 0,0%

CORE EBIT 27,66% 21,07% 27,00% 33,93% 18,96% 10,40% 22,76% 27,59% 19,77% 30,33% 31,34%

Tax from operating income
Tax as reported -7,8% -3,9% -6,9% -8,9% -0,3% -3,0% -6,7% -5,8% -3,5% -7,7% -5,2%
+/- Tax Shield from NFE -0,9% -1,3% 0,0% -0,3% -0,9% -0,8% 0,9% -0,4% -0,4% -0,1% -0,3%
+/- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets 1,6% -0,5% -0,1% 1,5% -3,1% 1,6% 2,3% -0,9% 0,1% 1,8% -0,9%
+/- Tax allocated to other non-core items -0,3% -0,2% 0,0% -0,3% -0,1% 0,4% 0,7% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%

Operating income from sales after tax (CORE NOPAT) 20,23% 15,16% 20,04% 25,91% 14,49% 8,52% 19,96% 20,51% 16,06% 24,36% 24,96%

NON-CORE OPERATING ITEMS

Adjustment of Biological Asset
Fair value adjustment of biological assets 5,7% -1,9% -0,2% 5,4% -11,0% 5,6% 8,5% -3,2% 0,5% 7,3% -3,4%
- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets -1,6% 0,5% 0,1% -1,5% 3,1% -1,6% -2,3% 0,9% -0,1% -1,8% 0,9%

Core Operating income after Adjustment of Biological Asset - After tax24,31% 13,76% 19,90% 29,82% 6,58% 12,58% 26,15% 18,14% 16,46% 29,83% 22,37%

Other non-core  items
Non-recurring gains on acquisitions . before tax 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 1,5% 2,6% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
Onerous Contracts - before tax 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% -0,1% 0,1% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
Excess value of inventory from acquisitions - before tax -1,1% -0,5% 0,0% -1,0% -0,5% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
- Tax allocated to other non-core items 0,3% 0,2% 0,0% 0,3% 0,1% -0,4% -0,7% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%

Comprehensive items - After Tax
Currency translation differences in associated companies -2,1% -0,9% -0,9% -0,8% 0,0% -1,0% 1,3% 0,8% 0,8% -1,2% 0,4%
Equity transactions in associated companies 0,0% -0,2% 0,2% 0,0% -0,1% 0,0% -0,1% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
Currency translation differences in subsidiary companies 0,0% 0,1% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,1% 0,0% 0,0%
Foreign exchange differences on net investments in foreign units 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0%
Change in fair value of hedging instruments -2,1% 0,0% 0,1% -0,2% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,1% -0,1%

Operating income (NOPAT) 19,35% 12,31% 19,28% 28,04% 6,24% 12,63% 29,24% 19,00% 17,32% 28,76% 22,69%

FINANCING ITEMS -4,20% -1,06% -0,62% -1,00% -0,03% -1,02% 1,20% 0,87% 0,87% -1,07% 0,31%
Net Financial expenses (NFE)

Interest income 0,3% 0,2% 0,0% 0,2% 0,1% 0,1% 0,2% 0,1% 0,0% 0,1% 0,1%
Financial income 0,0% 0,0% 1,3% 0,5% 0,1% 1,2% 6,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,9% 0,0%
Share of profit/loss from associated companies 1,9% 0,7% 2,4% 4,3% 2,6% 2,2% 2,5% 1,3% 0,6% 3,2% 1,9%
Interest expenses -2,8% -4,2% -1,3% -1,5% -2,6% -4,0% -2,7% -1,7% -1,4% -1,2% -1,0%
Financial expenses -0,8% -0,8% 0,0% -0,4% -0,9% -0,2% 0,0% 0,0% -0,1% -0,1% -0,5%

Net Financial Income/Expense (NFE before tax) -3,36% -4,81% -0,12% -1,19% -3,31% -2,97% 3,45% -1,59% -1,37% -0,34% -1,35%

Marginal tax rate 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 25% 25%
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 0,9% 1,3% 0,0% 0,3% 0,9% 0,8% -0,9% 0,4% 0,4% 0,1% 0,3%
Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) -2,42% -3,46% -0,08% -0,86% -2,38% -2,14% 2,52% -1,16% -1,00% -0,25% -1,01%

Comprehensive Income 16,93% 8,85% 19,20% 27,18% 3,85% 10,49% 31,76% 17,84% 16,32% 28,51% 21,68%

- CI to Minority interests 0,0% 0,0% 0,0% 0,3% 0,1% 0,3% 1,8% 0,3% 0,3% 0,2% 0,2%
Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder 16,93% 8,83% 19,19% 26,85% 3,79% 10,16% 29,94% 17,52% 15,97% 28,35% 21,46%
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Appendix 8 - Salmar’s Trend Analysis of Income Statement  
 

 

 
 

 

Trend Analysis - Income Statement 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
CORE OPERATING ITEMS

Net sales 1,00 1,02 1,43 2,04 2,28 2,51 3,74 4,30 4,39 5,38 6,46
Expenses to generate sales 1,00 1,10 1,39 2,27 2,84 3,25 4,04 3,99 4,55 5,26 5,64

Gross profit 1,00 0,94 1,46 1,81 1,72 1,77 3,44 4,61 4,22 5,51 7,28
Other operating items

Salaries and personnel expenses 1,00 1,10 1,23 1,46 1,81 2,27 2,90 3,35 3,52 3,95 4,26
Restricted Share Units Compensation (RSU) 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 1,00 11,40 13,87 14,17
Employees Stock Options Compensation (ESO) 1,00 1,38 0,75 0,86 1,58 0,43 1,74 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00
Other operating expenses 1,00 1,33 1,63 2,70 3,69 4,63 5,68 5,98 6,65 7,20 8,29
Share of profit from associated companies 1,00 0,39 1,80 4,66 3,10 2,97 5,00 3,04 1,27 9,08 6,61
Other operating items 1,00 1,90 0,44 7,20 7,16 6,92 5,72 3,14 4,50 7,72 1,03

EBITDA 1,00 0,81 1,41 2,44 1,67 1,18 3,21 4,41 3,45 6,02 7,41
Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation, property, plant and equipment 1,00 1,09 1,31 1,85 2,61 3,35 4,36 5,44 6,06 7,07 8,18
Depreciation licenses and other intangibles 0,00 0,00 1,00 0,14 0,05 0,05 0,43 0,21 1,22 0,00 0,34

CORE EBIT 1,00 0,78 1,39 2,50 1,56 0,94 3,08 4,29 3,14 5,90 7,32
Tax from operating income

Tax as reported 1,00 0,51 1,26 2,34 0,10 0,98 3,23 3,19 1,97 5,34 4,31
+/- Tax Shield from NFE 1,00 1,47 0,05 0,72 2,25 2,22 -3,70 1,96 1,73 0,48 2,31
+/- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets 1,00 -0,35 -0,05 1,96 -4,42 2,50 5,40 -2,38 0,41 6,20 -3,51
+/- Tax allocated to other non-core items 1,00 0,53 0,00 2,11 0,94 -3,54 -8,84 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

Operating income from sales after tax (NOPAT) 1,00 0,77 1,41 2,61 1,63 1,06 3,69 4,36 3,48 6,48 7,96
NON-CORE OPERATING ITEMS

Adjustment of Biological Asset
Fair value adjustment of biological assets 1,00 -0,35 -0,05 1,96 -4,42 2,50 5,60 -2,47 0,42 6,94 -3,93
- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets 1,00 -0,35 -0,05 1,96 -4,42 2,50 5,40 -2,38 0,41 6,20 -3,51

Operating income after Adjustment of Biological Asset - After tax1,00 0,58 1,17 2,50 0,62 1,30 4,02 3,21 2,97 6,60 5,94
Other non-core  items

Non-recurring gains on acquisitions . before tax
Onerous Contracts - before tax
Excess value of inventory from acquisitions - before tax 1,00 0,53 0,00 1,90 1,15 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00
- Tax allocated to other non-core items 1,00 0,53 0,00 2,11 0,94 -3,54 -8,84 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

Comprehensive items - After Tax
Currency translation differences in associated companies 1,00 0,46 0,59 0,80 -0,04 1,17 -2,38 -1,71 -1,70 3,05 -1,21
Equity transactions in associated companies 1,00 18,58 -24,26 -0,94 18,23 10,99 52,45 0,95 0,00 0,00 0,00
Currency translation differences in subsidiary companies 1,00 63,94 -41,13 26,00 -5,13 -44,94 65,69 207,00 294,06 -128,50 221,25
Foreign exchange differences on net investments in foreign units1,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 6,40 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 1,00 0,00 -0,06 0,20 0,00 0,00 -0,01 0,00 0,00 -0,33 0,33

Operating income (OI after tax) 1,00 0,65 1,42 2,96 0,73 1,64 5,65 4,22 3,93 8,00 7,57
FINANCING ITEMS

Net Financial expenses (NFE)
Interest income 1,00 0,74 0,07 1,20 1,12 0,63 2,12 1,92 0,74 1,07 2,36
Financial income 1,00 1,00 82,60 50,81 7,62 137,85 1028,45 5,62 1,88 214,68 0,00
Share of profit/loss from associated companies 1,00 0,39 1,80 4,66 3,10 2,97 5,00 3,04 1,27 9,08 6,61
Interest expenses 1,00 1,53 0,68 1,05 2,10 3,59 3,57 2,64 2,10 2,26 2,27
Financial expenses 1,00 0,98 0,08 1,07 2,51 0,60 0,11 0,06 0,41 0,52 3,52

Net Financial Income/Expense (NFE before tax) 1,00 1,47 0,05 0,72 2,25 2,22 -3,84 2,04 1,79 0,54 2,59
Marginal tax rate 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,27 0,27 0,27 0,25 0,25
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 1,00 1,47 0,05 0,72 2,25 2,22 -3,70 1,96 1,73 0,48 2,31
Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) 1,00 1,47 0,05 0,72 2,25 2,22 -3,89 2,07 1,82 0,57 2,70

Comprehensive Income 1,00 0,53 1,62 3,28 0,52 1,56 7,02 4,53 4,23 9,06 8,27
- CI to Minority interests 1,00 -5,08 -0,33 -230,61 -51,37 -287,18 -2312,96 -468,92 -520,53 -283,88 -486,04
Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder 1,00 0,53 1,62 3,24 0,51 1,51 6,61 4,45 4,14 9,01 8,18
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Appendix 9 - Salmar’s Common size Balance Sheet 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reformulated Balance Sheet (TNOK) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Operating Assets

Accounts receivable 5,15% 4,86% 7,10% 7,06% 8,00% 8,67% 6,67% 8,77% 7,45% 4,45% 3,88%
Other current receivables 1,32% 1,10% 1,84% 1,88% 2,30% 2,37% 2,01% 2,85% 2,06% 1,97% 1,59%
Inventories 2,24% 3,19% 2,91% 2,22% 3,61% 3,98% 1,73% 2,04% 3,00% 1,68% 2,00%
Biological assets 31,66% 31,66% 28,49% 27,22% 22,49% 26,04% 30,98% 30,76% 30,21% 37,29% 31,99%
Other non-current receivables 0,19% 0,18% 0,36% 0,21% 0,07% 0,05% 0,05% 0,13% 0,06% 0,37% 0,43%
Licenses 29,55% 29,79% 26,36% 22,65% 23,49% 22,32% 20,45% 24,21% 22,54% 18,39% 19,17%
Property, plant and equipment 12,17% 13,56% 15,02% 15,02% 17,83% 16,64% 18,72% 19,93% 22,04% 23,41% 27,89%
Investments in associated companies 9,03% 8,40% 7,56% 14,93% 14,55% 12,44% 4,05% 5,17% 5,74% 6,78% 7,92%
Goodwill 6,92% 6,42% 5,79% 6,42% 6,86% 5,68% 4,36% 4,42% 4,09% 3,33% 3,45%

Total Operating Assets 98,23% 99,15% 95,43% 97,59% 99,20% 98,18% 89,03% 98,29% 97,19% 97,67% 98,33%
Operating Liabilities

Accounts payable 3,45% 4,34% 5,76% 6,04% 6,54% 10,00% 5,19% 4,04% 5,93% 8,95% 9,66%
Tax payable 3,14% 1,51% 4,12% 2,55% 1,05% 0,09% 0,26% 3,18% 2,67% 3,16% 5,20%
Deferred tax liabilities 16,08% 15,70% 14,04% 13,12% 11,69% 11,44% 12,08% 12,47% 11,25% 11,16% 10,54%
Public Charges Payable 0,77% 0,62% 0,56% 0,83% 0,84% 0,57% 0,94% 1,42% 1,40% 1,41% 1,32%

Total Operating Liabilities 23,45% 22,17% 24,47% 22,54% 20,12% 22,10% 18,47% 21,11% 21,25% 24,68% 26,72%
Net Operating assets (NOA) 74,78% 76,98% 70,96% 75,06% 79,09% 76,08% 70,55% 77,17% 75,94% 72,99% 71,60%

Financial Obligations
Leasing liabilities 2,70% 2,14% 1,92% 1,87% 2,75% 1,64% 4,75% 4,06% 3,56% 2,69% 2,67%
Other current liabilities 1,56% 1,95% 1,23% 1,84% 2,00% 2,01% 1,94% 3,77% 4,47% 5,79% 3,13%
Short-term loan facilities 3,09% 6,00% 3,33% 0,89% 7,94% 7,82% 4,00% 2,73% 1,28% 1,48% 1,88%
Pension obligations 0,16% 0,17% 0,16% 0,03% 0,02% 0,01% 0,00% 0,00% 0,00% 0,00% 0,00%
Other long-term borrowings 24,03% 24,71% 21,01% 30,32% 32,12% 27,51% 19,88% 17,58% 21,67% 15,51% 6,27%

Total Financial Obligations 31,54% 34,97% 27,65% 34,94% 44,82% 38,99% 30,57% 28,14% 30,98% 25,47% 13,95%
Financial Assets

Other Current Receivables - Derivatives 0,00% 0,00% 0,22% 0,47% 0,00% 0,85% 0,18% 0,04% 0,30% 0,28% 0,29%
Cash and cash equivalents 1,67% 0,77% 4,18% 1,84% 0,75% 0,73% 10,78% 1,65% 2,50% 2,04% 1,37%
Derivatives and other financial instruments 0,03% 0,03% 0,03% 0,02% 0,01% 0,21% 0,00% 0,01% 0,00% 0,00% 0,00%
Pension fund assets 0,06% 0,05% 0,14% 0,07% 0,03% 0,03% 0,01% 0,02% 0,01% 0,01% 0,01%

Total Financial Assets 1,77% 0,85% 4,57% 2,41% 0,80% 1,82% 10,97% 1,71% 2,81% 2,33% 1,67%
Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 29,77% 34,12% 23,08% 32,54% 44,02% 37,17% 19,60% 26,43% 28,17% 23,14% 12,28%

Common Equity (CSE) 44,98% 42,83% 47,85% 40,49% 33,13% 37,12% 47,56% 50,14% 47,04% 49,24% 58,64%
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Appendix 10 - Salmar’s Trend Analysis of Balance Sheet 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reformulated Balance Sheet (TNOK) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Operating Assets

Accounts receivable 1,00 1,01 1,71 2,78 3,43 4,49 4,49 6,03 5,53 4,04 3,40
Other current receivables 1,00 0,89 1,73 2,88 3,84 4,78 5,29 7,63 5,98 7,00 5,44
Inventories 1,00 1,53 1,61 2,02 3,56 4,75 2,68 3,23 5,13 3,51 4,05
Biological assets 1,00 1,07 1,12 1,75 1,57 2,19 3,40 3,44 3,65 5,52 4,57
Other non-current receivables 1,00 1,03 2,39 2,31 0,87 0,76 0,98 2,52 1,29 9,40 10,40
Licenses 1,00 1,08 1,11 1,56 1,76 2,01 2,40 2,90 2,92 2,92 2,93
Property, plant and equipment 1,00 1,19 1,53 2,50 3,23 3,64 5,34 5,79 6,93 9,01 10,35
Investments in associated companies 1,00 1,00 1,04 3,36 3,56 3,67 1,56 2,03 2,43 3,52 3,97
Goodwill 1,00 0,99 1,04 1,88 2,19 2,19 2,19 2,26 2,26 2,26 2,26

Total Operating Assets 1,00 1,08 1,21 2,02 2,23 2,67 3,15 3,54 3,79 4,66 4,52
Operating Liabilities

Accounts payable 1,00 1,35 2,07 3,56 4,18 7,73 5,23 4,15 6,58 12,15 12,65
Tax payable 1,00 0,51 1,63 1,65 0,74 0,08 0,29 3,58 3,25 4,71 7,48
Deferred tax liabilities 1,00 1,05 1,08 1,66 1,61 1,90 2,61 2,74 2,68 3,25 2,96
Public Charges Payable 1,00 0,87 0,89 2,18 2,40 1,96 4,24 6,51 6,94 8,57 7,73

Total Operating Liabilities 1,00 1,01 1,30 1,95 1,89 2,51 2,74 3,19 3,47 4,93 5,15
Net Operating assets (NOA) 1,00 1,10 1,18 2,04 2,34 2,71 3,28 3,65 3,89 4,57 4,33

Financial Obligations
Leasing liabilities 1,00 0,85 0,88 1,40 2,24 1,62 6,10 5,32 5,04 4,66 4,46
Other current liabilities 1,00 1,34 0,98 2,39 2,83 3,44 4,31 8,54 10,95 17,37 9,05
Short-term loan facilities 1,00 2,08 1,34 0,58 5,68 6,75 4,49 3,13 1,59 2,25 2,76
Pension obligations 1,00 1,16 1,28 0,38 0,27 0,12 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00
Other long-term borrowings 1,00 1,10 1,09 2,56 2,95 3,05 2,87 2,59 3,45 3,02 1,18

Total Financial Obligations 1,00 1,19 1,09 2,25 3,14 3,30 3,37 3,16 3,76 3,78 2,00
Financial Assets

Other Current Receivables - Derivatives 0,00 0,00 1,00 3,51 0,00 8,35 2,27 0,57 4,16 4,82 4,82
Cash and cash equivalents 1,00 0,49 3,10 2,24 1,00 1,16 22,40 3,49 5,72 5,73 3,70
Derivatives and other financial instruments 1,00 0,97 1,02 1,42 0,76 15,74 0,38 0,52 0,29 0,29 0,39
Pension fund assets 1,00 0,93 2,78 2,21 1,15 1,41 0,45 0,90 0,79 0,78 0,78

Total Financial Assets 1,00 0,52 3,21 2,76 1,00 2,74 21,55 3,43 6,09 6,19 4,28
Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 1,00 1,23 0,96 2,22 3,27 3,33 2,29 3,14 3,62 3,64 1,86

Common Equity (CSE) 1,00 1,02 1,32 1,83 1,63 2,20 3,67 3,95 4,00 5,13 5,89

Minority interest 1,00 1,38 1,41 181,84 188,33 210,02 520,51 93,41 122,78 127,01 135,70
Total Equity (CSE + Minority interest) 1,00 1,02 1,32 1,92 1,72 2,31 3,93 3,99 4,06 5,19 5,96
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Appendix 11 - Marine Harvest’ s Reformulated Income Statement 
 

 

Appendix 12 - Marine Harvest’ s Reformulated Balance Sheet  
 

 

Reformulated Income Statement 

(TNOK)                                               

Marine Harvest

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Q2 2018

Net sales 14.094.000 13.124.600 14.651.200 15.281.200 16.132.800 15.463.500 19.398.300 25.531.300 29.445.174 31.891.220 35.945.860 16.930.782

Expenses to generate sales (11.311.100) (10.644.300) (10.995.700) (9.983.200) (10.576.400) (12.085.100) (12.672.800) (19.827.400) (23.863.420) (23.365.575) (25.506.057) (10.325.395)

Gross profit 2.782.900 2.480.300 3.655.500 5.298.000 5.556.400 3.378.400 6.725.500 5.703.900 5.581.755 8.525.646 10.439.803 6.605.387

Other operating expenses

Other Operating Expenses (1.502.700) (3.214.200) (1.990.800) (1.477.500) (2.157.800) (2.171.100) (3.249.300) (514.000) (1.303.494) (2.325.837) (1.118.937) (2.647.190)

Income/loss from Associated Companies 66.600 5.800 69.500 202.000 (8.500) 88.300 221.800 149.500 221.378 568.740 331.938 213.983

EBITDA 1.346.800 (728.100) 1.734.200 4.022.500 3.390.100 1.295.600 3.698.000 5.339.400 4.499.639 6.768.549 9.652.804 4.172.180

Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation, property, plant and equipment (803.900) (685.300) (687.700) (653.000) (666.700) (677.200) (762.500) (966.800) (1.386.924) (1.294.655) (1.480.425) (725.218)

Core Operating income from sales before tax (EBIT) 542.900 (1.413.400) 1.046.500 3.369.500 2.723.400 618.400 2.935.500 4.372.600 3.112.715 5.473.893 8.172.379 3.446.962

Tax from operating income

Tax as reported (110.400) 409.300 (358.300) (1.143.900) (261.700) (376.500) (1.026.800) (752.000) (866.591) (1.997.857) (590.003) (1.097.025)

+ Tax benefit from NFE (439.348) (439.348) 87.584 (58.492) 48.580 (50.260) (325.161) (579.609) (246.838) (526.947) 92.834 (148.868)

+ Taxes on Fair Value adj. Of Bio assets (98.112) 78.064 (84.336) (305.676) 423.920 (98.056) (484.542) 137.916 (26.188) (877.186) 837.972 (408.843)

Core Operating income from sales after tax ( Core NOPAT) (104.960) (1.365.384) 691.448 1.861.432 2.934.200 93.584 1.098.997 3.178.907 1.973.098 2.071.903 8.513.182 1.792.226

Non core items

Fair value adjustment of biological assets (350.400) (278.800) 301.200 1.091.700 (1.514.000) 350.200 1.794.600 (510.800) 96.991 3.508.743 (3.351.887) 1.635.371

Taxes on Fair value adj. 98.112 (78.064) 84.336 305.676 (423.920) 98.056 484.542 (137.916) 26.188 877.186 (837.972) 408.843

Operating income from sales after tax ( NOPAT) (357.248) (1.722.248) 1.076.984 3.258.808 996.280 541.840 3.378.139 2.530.191 2.096.277 6.457.831 4.323.323 3.836.440

Comprehensive Items

Translation differences related to subsidiaries 343.900 858.700 (762.300) (8.800) 87.900 (325.600) 630.400 842.500 689.200 445.180 (1.897.071) 85.206

Translation differences from associates 10.100 (6.300) (3.200) (8.300) (500) 4.900 (3.900) 1.100 62.689 (119.183) 42.603

Change in value of financial instruments (31.900) (871.500) 1.005.500 160.200 (103.800) (82.600) (30.600) (34.500) (23.800) 0 0

Operating income (OI after tax) (45.248) (1.724.948) 1.313.884 3.407.008 972.080 133.140 3.982.839 3.334.291 2.762.777 6.965.700 2.307.069 3.964.249

Net Financial expenses (NFE)

Interest expenses/ income (7.700) (1.083.700) 705.700 171.400 579.300 203.300 (564.100) (1.602.100) (508.004) (1.912.456) 918.001 (221.729)

Financial income / expenses (380.900) (485.400) (392.900) (380.300) (405.800) (382.800) (640.200) (544.600) (406.211) (195.334) (546.664) (373.744)

Net Financial Expense (NFE before tax) (388.600) (1.569.100) 312.800 (208.900) 173.500 (179.500) (1.204.300) (2.146.700) (914.215) (2.107.790) 371.337 (595.473)

Marginal tax rate 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,28 0,27 0,27 0,27 0,25 0,25 0,25
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 439.348 439.348 -87.584 58.492 -48.580 50.260 325.161 579.609 246.838 526.947 -92.834 148.868

Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) 50.748 (1.129.752) 225.216 (150.408) 124.920 (129.240) (879.139) (1.567.091) (667.377) (1.580.842) 278.503 (446.605)

Comprehensive Income 5.500 (2.854.700) 1.539.100 3.256.600 1.097.000 3.900 3.103.700 1.767.200 2.095.400 5.384.857 2.585.573 3.517.644

- CI to Minority interests 400 10.700 -400 27.300 5.200 0 12.300 0 1.700 (2.726) 2.955

Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder 5.100 (2.865.400) 1.539.500 3.229.300 1.091.800 3.900 3.091.400 1.767.200 2.093.700 5.387.583 2.582.618 3.517.644

Reformulated Balance Sheet (TNOK)                                               

Marine Harvest
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 30.06.2018

Operating Assets
Shares in Associates 513.500 520.100 678.900 624.400 647.300 900.400 978.200 1.189.824 1.589.928 1.681.361 1.737.037
Deferred Tax Asset 73.900 178.800 147.300 110.436 23.622 129.032 97.793
Trade receivables 2.498.300 2.349.800 2.162.900 2.591.800 2.459.300 1.782.000 3.191.400 3.360.200 3.929.589 4.524.479 4.704.264 5.004.873
Biological Assets 6.471.300 6.695.100 6.093.800 8.053.900 7.068.200 6.207.900 9.536.600 10.014.000 10.949.455 14.298.445 11.824.685 13.695.866
Other inventories 819.700 1.751.100 2.400.800 2.666.781 2.254.971 3.022.904 3.026.743
Other receivables 592.700 1.086.500 1.110.500 1.261.847 1.024.822 976.115 1.938
Other non current Asset 52.600 86.000 60.800 67.800 65.400 73.200 8.800 14.500 20.167 45.427 28.564 16.460
Licences, rights and goodwill 9.047.100 8.166.500 7.688.100 7.687.000 7.846.700 7.664.900 8.599.500 9.098.300 9.921.923 9.673.119 8.835.271 9.386.194
Property, plant and equipment 3.894.700 4.243.600 3.518.100 3.885.100 4.167.500 4.111.900 6.677.200 8.257.100 9.254.507 9.158.891 10.664.378 10.812.424

Total Operating Assets 21.964.000 22.054.500 20.043.800 22.964.500 22.231.500 21.973.500 31.930.300 35.380.900 39.304.528 42.593.703 41.866.575 43.779.328

Operating Liabilities
Trade payables 1.349.700 1.729.200 1.339.800 1.450.200 1.481.800 1.452.500 2.232.600 2.039.200 2.381.569 2.503.000 2.766.809 6.186.136
Provisions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 440.782 1.396.411 92.588
Current Tax Liability 0 0 50.800 49.700 86.600 26.200 252.600 525.200 697.185 1.295.564 894.362
Current + Non-Current Other liabilities 907.100 2.419.800 1.048.600 1.112.200 1.180.300 1.890.100 2.943.900 5.446.700 1.567.226 1.738.018 2.054.668 1.296.484
Deferred Tax Liability 1.172.700 502.500 1.088.100 2.119.300 2.191.800 2.543.700 3.365.000 3.568.900 3.762.495 4.120.184 3.485.844 3.773.262

Total Operating Liabilities 3.429.500 4.651.500 3.527.300 4.731.400 4.940.500 5.912.500 8.794.100 11.580.000 8.849.257 11.053.176 9.294.271 11.255.882

Net Operating assets (NOA) 18.534.500 17.403.000 16.516.500 18.233.100 17.291.000 16.061.000 23.136.200 23.800.900 30.455.271 31.540.527 32.572.304 32.523.446

Financial Obligations
Curr + non-curr Other Financial liabilities 113.000 99.300 99.800 571.100 99.400 0 190.500 300 2.951.993 4.824.294 1.651.811
Current interest-bearing debt 1.249.200 1.365.500 130.300 429.700 157.000 377.800 686.700 7.000 1.921 909 1.283.429 968
Non-current interest-bearing debt 5.907.300 6.995.500 5.171.400 5.225.900 6.749.500 5.338.400 7.710.100 10.668.800 10.305.198 9.025.337 7.616.850 9.844.176

Tot Financial Obligations 7.269.500 8.460.300 5.401.500 6.226.700 7.005.900 5.716.200 8.587.300 10.676.100 13.259.111 13.850.540 10.552.091 9.845.144

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 362.600 372.600 172.200 318.900 279.100 335.300 606.200 1.408.300 688.542 943.963 706.231 640.012
Current + Non Current Financial Assets 829.400 78.900 118.800 126.800 117.900 1.008.600 132.100 166.100 285.212 134.462 74.858
Assets held for sale 27.000 230.400 54.500 118.600 160.100 0 1.059.100 19.000 17.286 31.799 4.925 0

Tot Financial Assets 1.219.000 681.900 345.500 564.300 557.100 1.343.900 1.797.400 1.593.400 991.040 1.110.224 786.014 640.012

Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 6.050.500 7.778.400 5.056.000 5.662.400 6.448.800 4.372.300 6.789.900 9.082.700 12.268.071 12.740.316 9.766.077 9.205.132

Common Shareholders Equity 12.449.600 9.579.500 11.415.500 12.500.200 10.766.400 11.619.700 16.318.500 14.702.200 18.178.300 18.791.211 22.794.227 23.300.886
Minority interest 34.400 45.100 45.000 70.500 75.800 69.000 27.800 16.000 8.900 9.000 12.000 17.428

Equity 12.484.000 9.624.600 11.460.500 12.570.700 10.842.200 11.688.700 16.346.300 14.718.200 18.187.200 18.800.211 22.806.227 23.318.314

Total Assets 23.183.000 22.736.400 20.389.300 23.528.800 22.788.600 23.317.400 33.727.700 36.974.300 40.295.568 43.703.927 42.652.589 44.419.340

Total Liabilities and Equity 23.183.000 22.736.400 20.389.300 23.528.800 22.788.600 23.317.400 33.727.700 36.974.300 40.295.568 43.703.927 42.652.589 44.419.340
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Appendix 13 - Lerøy Seafood’ s Reformulated Income Statement 
 

 

Appendix 14 - Lerøy Seafood’ s Reformulated Balance Sheet 
 

 

Reformulated Income Statement                                                                   
Lerøy Seafood 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Q2 2018

Net sales 6.290.898 6.057.053 7.473.807 8.887.671 9.176.873 9.102.941 10.764.714 12.579.465 13.450.725 17.269.278 18.623.515 5.041.711
Expenses to generate sales -5.277.679 -4.943.529 -5.732.901 -6.390.005 -6.833.969 -7.474.191 -7.875.897 -9.274.219 -10.223.438 -12.050.556 -12.092.470 -3.333.010
Gross profit 1.013.219 1.113.524 1.740.906 2.497.666 2.342.904 1.628.750 2.888.817 3.305.246 3.227.287 5.218.722 6.531.045 1.708.701
Other operating expenses

Other Operating Expenses -472.158 -576.221 -590.575 -676.233 -859.399 -853.885 -949.876 -1.135.674 -1.428.019 -1.862.992 -2.231.031 -514.565
Investmet in Associated Companies 35.509 13.716 62.744 122.006 19.741 24.831 192.188 91.939 61.376 262.783 302.651 76.343

EBITDA 576.570 551.019 1.213.075 1.943.439 1.503.246 799.696 2.131.129 2.261.511 1.860.644 3.618.513 4.602.665 1.270.479
Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation, property, plant and equipment -153.846 -197.023 -204.007 -219.624 -271.899 -291.768 -307.175 -369.481 -433.916 -511.621 -583.266 -160.644
Core Operating income from sales before tax (EBIT) 422.724 353.996 1.009.068 1.723.815 1.231.347 507.928 1.823.954 1.892.030 1.426.728 3.106.892 4.019.399 1.109.835
Tax from operating income

Tax as reported -89.262 -36.994 -257.137 -510.952 -156.311 -182.748 -593.981 -328.939 -268.226 -926.691 -343.984 -337.831
+ Tax benefit from NFE -19.526 -43.003 -23.036 -18.236 -22.566 -26.643 -27.623 -27.870 -30.814 -33.033 -52.316 -12.400
+ Taxes on Fair Value adj. Of Bio assets 4.435 -10.183 16.935 83.591 -172.415 73.286 204.857 -95.957 50.897 367.640 -429.077 118.428

Core Operating income from sales after tax ( Core NOPAT) 318.371 263.816 745.830 1.278.218 880.055 371.823 1.407.207 1.439.264 1.178.585 2.514.809 3.194.022 878.032
Non core items

Fair value adjustment of biological assets 15.838 -36.369 60.483 298.538 -615.767 261.735 758.729 -355.396 188.508 1.470.561 -1.716.309 473.711
Taxes on Fair value adj. -4.435 10.183 -16.935 -83.591 172.415 -73.286 -204.857 95.957 -50.897 -367.640 429.077 -118.428

Operating income from sales after tax ( NOPAT) 329.774 237.630 789.378 1.493.165 436.703 560.272 1.961.079 1.179.825 1.316.196 3.617.729 1.906.790 1.233.316
Comprehensive Items

Translation differences related to subsidiaries 0 -7.200 -487 0 38.162 -59.095 42.239 -15.539
Translation differences from associates 126 -1.847 -75 -16 58.749 -97.957 32.334 -19.704
Change in value of financial instruments -5.161 -27.086 8.785 -72.200 4.829 40.934 20.338 1.696
Other Comprehensive Items 1.492 -13.826 87.595 78.400 5.429 1.504 -2.083 152

Operating income (OI after tax) 329.774 237.630 789.378 1.493.165 433.160 510.313 2.056.897 1.186.009 1.423.365 3.503.115 1.999.618 1.199.921

Net Financial expenses (NFE)
Financial income 32.664 13.182 16.704 41.229 0 17.951 21.006 12.169 18.539 24105 0
Financial expenses -69.736 -186.245 -95.455 -81.832 -121.821 -95.154 -120.258 -124.229 -126.295 -150.670 -233.368 -49.598

Net Financial Expense (NFE before tax) -69.736 -153.581 -82.273 -65.128 -80.592 -95.154 -102.307 -103.223 -114.126 -132.131 -209.263 -49.598
Marginal tax rate 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 25% 25% 25%
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 19.526 43.003 23.036 18.236 22.566 26.643 27.623 27.870 30.814 33.033 52.316 12.400
Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) -50.210 -110.578 -59.237 -46.892 -58.026 -68.511 -74.684 -75.353 -83.312 -99.098 -156.947 -37.199

Comprehensive Income 279.564 127.052 730.141 1.446.273 375.134 441.802 1.982.213 1.110.656 1.340.053 3.404.017 1.842.671 1.162.722
- CI to Minority interests 2.550 2.322 653 10.062 -4.032 10.327 168.386 61.067 65.278 288.328 -11 44.168

Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder 277.014 124.730 729.488 1.436.211 379.166 431.475 1.813.827 1.049.589 1.274.775 3.115.689 1.842.682 1.118.554

Reformulated Balance Sheet                                                  
Lerøy Seafood 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Q2 2018

Operating Assets
Shares in Associates 289.474 277.455 272.970 338.864 329.168 331.056 735.071 566.965 670.952 730.875 960.587 1.001.043
Deferred Tax Asset 0 4.461 3.697 6.546 21.545 11.807 42.263 41.536 31.059 28.852
Trade receivables 690.800 772.440 876.127 1.013.932 934.443 995.291 1.486.428 1.427.796 1.568.820 2.209.281 1.972.438 2.478.552
Biological Assets 1.494.133 1.676.164 1.858.562 2.706.733 2.370.938 2.724.941 3.727.361 3.681.993 4.320.830 6.418.313 4.458.095 5.607.933
Other inventories 265.008 223.158 236.311 290.379 328.045 326.225 358.482 524.947 552.065 721.803 991.186 1.115.440
Other receivables 219.885 159.844 130.734 176.282 148.395 199.083 316.192 302.692 307.798 421.302 436.590
Long-term receivables 681 6.274 11.928 8.129 8.453 8.607 26.171 32.263 17.246 76.679 122.836
Deferred Charges 535,00 469,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00
Licences, rights and goodwill 2.832.305 2.959.927 2.959.611 3.847.760 3.878.873 3.972.053 3.987.141 4.234.391 4.349.916 8.018.448 8.019.627 8.191.622
Property, plant and equipment 1.149.128 1.294.818 1.225.399 1.586.334 1.836.384 2.094.541 2.377.012 2.676.716 2.899.633 4.209.108 5.148.271 5.996.463

Total Operating Assets 6.941.949 7.370.549 7.576.103 9.972.110 9.841.245 10.673.342 13.025.665 13.490.026 14.728.796 22.836.868 22.138.482 24.391.053
Operating Liabilities

Trade payables 508.294 544.757 615.996 638.213 705.165 826.677 1.059.434 1.053.524 915.981 1.366.634 1.310.098 2.416.312
Accrued Payroll 0 83.763 74.312 119.532 0 0 0 0 0 0
Tax Payable 76.154 16.631 93.551 395.233 322.105 88.925 320.344 335.062 200.151 477.842 819.884
Other long-term liabilities 0 4.150 826 1.312 7.168 44.788 36.700 131.980 126.674 121.958 96.202
Deferred Tax Liability 643.529 669.327 834.877 1.260.028 1.083.693 1.230.458 1.486.972 1.531.262 1.567.973 2.802.271 2.313.950 2.774.152

Total Operating Liabilities 1.227.977 1.234.865 1.629.013 2.369.098 2.237.663 2.190.848 2.903.450 3.051.828 2.810.779 4.768.705 4.540.134 5.190.464

Net Operating assets (NOA) 5.713.972 6.135.684 5.947.090 7.603.012 7.603.582 8.482.494 10.122.215 10.438.198 11.918.017 18.068.163 17.598.348 19.200.589
Financial Obligations

Other short term liabilities + public duties payable195.985 255.095 212.136 323.976 228.264 297.313 408.730 483.668 562.840 1.193.872 856.480
Short-term loans 566.594 841.921 646.105 434.121 760.977 911.887 682.574 469.276 1.465.144 1.094.089 830.009 810.177
Long-term interest-bearing debt 1.724.699 1.672.761 1.504.707 2.221.701 2.429.365 2.402.770 2.356.803 2.767.118 2.377.123 4.541.276 4.946.254 5.212.512
Pension liabilities 12.012 13.211 14.990 9.025 7.812 7.646 3.227 6.878 3.765 5.219 3.113

Tot Financial Obligations 2.499.290 2.782.988 2.377.938 2.988.823 3.426.418 3.619.616 3.451.334 3.726.940 4.408.872 6.834.456 6.635.856 6.022.689

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 537.738 388.486 707.989 1.357.096 1.597.429 1.082.797 872.513 1.360.272 1.247.614 2.233.700 3.514.096 3.009.973
Shares held for sale 26.423 23.161 23.115 22.989 23.173 18.281 5.553 8.066 7.293 8.019 5.534

Tot Financial Assets 564.161 411.647 731.104 1.380.085 1.620.602 1.101.078 878.066 1.368.338 1.254.907 2.241.719 3.519.630 3.009.973

Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 1.935.129 2.371.341 1.646.834 1.608.738 1.805.816 2.518.538 2.573.268 2.358.602 3.153.965 4.592.737 3.116.226 3.012.716

Common Shareholders Equity 3.758.013 3.743.685 4.281.688 5.445.710 5.262.835 5.314.575 6.755.200 7.262.314 7.885.695 12.539.948 13.607.294 15.219.066
Minority interest 20.830 20.658 18.568 548.564 534.931 649.381 793.747 817.282 878.357 935.478 874.828 968.807
Equity 3.778.843 3.764.343 4.300.256 5.994.274 5.797.766 5.963.956 7.548.947 8.079.596 8.764.052 13.475.426 14.482.122 16.187.873
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Appendix 16 - Grieg Seafood’s Reformulated Balance Sheet 

 

Reformulated Income Statement (TNOK)                                             
Grieg Seafood 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Q2 2018

Net sales 1.021.810 1.477.029 1.612.619 2.446.490 2.046.991 2.050.065 2.404.215 2.665.284 4.608.667 6.545.187 7.017.456 2.291.867
Expenses to generate sales (540.315) (852.041) (742.496) (942.530) (889.677) (1.202.314) (968.978) (1.153.526) (2.738.926) (3.287.159) (3.724.200) (1.355.117)

Gross profit 481.495 624.988 870.123 1.503.960 1.157.314 847.751 1.435.237 1.511.758 1.869.741 3.258.028 3.293.256 936.750
Other operating expenses

Other Operating Expenses (286.518) (497.793) (603.841) (831.161) (841.967) (918.477) (977.379) (1.114.052) (1.645.127) (1.975.340) (2.207.431) (453.719)
Income/loss from Associated Companies (1.897) 700 1.985 12.337 38.869 11.831 7.889 12.867 10.136 12.652 (550) (420)

EBITDA 193.080 127.895 268.267 685.136 354.216 (58.895) 465.747 410.573 234.750 1.295.340 1.085.275 482.611
Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation /Amortisation (73.641) (148.534) (121.582) (119.574) (140.206) (161.345) (136.037) (140.609) (167.374) (180.388) (201.132) (56.297)
Core Operating income from sales before tax (EBIT) 119.439 (20.639) 146.685 565.562 214.010 (220.240) 329.710 269.964 67.376 1.114.952 884.143 426.314

Tax from operating income
+Tax as reported 16.165 97.461 (86.640) (226.727) 72.064 55.170 (113.945) (22.806) 13.574 (338.505) (197.581) (50.548)
+ Tax benefit from NFE (11.012) 62.679 (15.555) (3.413) 3.935 22.451 14.624 (4.870) 17.171 19.082 (1.392) (5.106)
-Tax allocated to Fair Value adjustments (12.341) (10.009) 32.277 58.136 (110.650) 27.458 74.886 (34.319) 8.966 128.935 (21.951) (47.405)
-Tax allocated to impairment and reversals of PPE and Intangibles 0 (45.357) 0 20.268 0 0 0 0 (12.473) 1.618 0 0

Core Operating income from sales after tax ( Core NOPAT) 112.251 84.135 76.767 413.825 179.358 (115.161) 305.275 207.969 94.615 926.083 663.219 323.255
Fair value adjustment of biological assets (44.075) (35.747) 115.276 207.629 (395.180) 98.063 267.450 (127.108) 33.209 515.741 (91.463) (189.621)
Impairment and reversals of PPE and intangibles 0 (161.988) 0 72.385 0 0 0 0 (46.195) 6.472 0 0
- Tax allocated to Fair Value adjustments 12.341 10.009 (32.277) (58.136) 110.650 (27.458) (74.886) 34.319 (8.966) (128.935) 21.951 47.405
- Tax allocated to impairments and reversals 0 45.357 0 (20.268) 0 0 0 0 12.473 (1.618) 0 0

Operating income from sales after tax ( NOPAT) 80.517 (58.234) 159.766 615.436 (105.171) (44.556) 497.839 115.180 85.135 1.317.742 593.707 181.039
Comprehensive items

Currency effect of net investments 0 0 0 0 (19.352) 43.424 78.912 54.134 (90.228) 22.333 (6.314)
Fair value adjustment of cash flow hedging 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6.052 (24.821) (2.426)
Tax on other operating income 0 0 0 0 5.418 (11.724) (21.306) (13.533) 20.203 409 1.452
Currency translation differences, subsidiaries 5.107 (21.360) 4.476 (1.059) (15.803) 12.614 37.644 6.266 (10.389) 16.729 5.184
Change in value of available-for-sale assets 0 0 (24) 678 5 28 26 31 19 (295) 10.548

Operating income (OI after tax) 80.517 (53.127) 138.406 619.888 (105.552) (74.288) 542.181 210.456 132.033 1.243.399 608.062 189.483
Net Financial expenses (NFE)

Other gains and losses 26.488 10.113 8.826 9.398 16.769 28.164 20.827 73.758 29.703 58.405 20.257
Financial income/expenses (65.815) (233.965) 46.727 2.793 (30.822) (108.347) (73.056) (55.722) (93.301) (134.734) (14.456) (20.424)

Net Financial Expense (NFE before tax) (39.327) (223.852) 55.553 12.191 (14.053) (80.183) (52.229) 18.036 (63.598) (76.329) 5.801 (20.424)
Marginal tax rate 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 27,0% 27,0% 25,0% 25,0% 25,0%
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 11.012 (62.679) 15.555 3.413 (3.935) (22.451) (14.624) 4.870 (17.171) (19.082) 1.392 5.106

Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) (28.315) (286.531) 71.108 15.604 (17.988) (102.634) (66.853) 22.906 (80.769) (95.411) 7.193 (15.318)

Comprehensive Income 52.202 (339.658) 209.514 635.492 (123.540) (176.922) 475.328 233.362 51.264 1.147.988 615.255 174.165
- CI to Minority interests 782 10.992 38.850 19.922 1.998

Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder 51.420 (339.658) 209.514 635.492 (123.540) (176.922) 475.328 233.362 40.272 1.109.138 595.333 172.167

Reformulated Balance Sheet (TNOK)                         

Grieg Seafood
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Q2 2018

Operating Assets
Investments in associated companies 10.879 11.579 13.619 33.456 37.387 49.229 41.190 41.937 25.947 0 9.450 18.780
Accounts receivable 111.893 157.876 188.052 265.350 223.682 124.657 177.814 254.043 581.904 800.591 761.407 990.599
Other current receivables 82.578 45.295 57.051 43.265 61.016 44.506 50.466 57.287 123.530 127.337 187.863 223.518
Inventories 34.927 44.592 49.180 58.409 67.355 65.692 74.015 88.250 90.867 89.164 92.262 93.282
Biological assets 1.067.574 1.073.341 1.367.061 1.564.041 1.404.934 1.310.142 1.766.332 1.844.097 1.929.115 2.459.625 2.698.352 2.650.914
Other non-current receivables 10.275 1.790 0 1.958 311 53 255 0 2.667 4.167 167 1.317
Deferred tax assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10.317 0 3.574 3.623
Licenses 849.838 831.921 818.340 926.170 987.596 976.740 994.066 1.066.184 1.093.338 1.060.622 1.068.552 1.113.030
Other intangible assets 0 8.205 5.578 3.160 4.618 3.800 4.545 11.517 16.993 17.598 18.384 17.164
Property, plant and equipment 639.092 794.346 819.110 923.546 1.126.699 1.141.317 1.204.207 1.424.562 1.534.770 1.510.379 1.871.805 2.108.866
Goodwill 138.661 87.665 87.583 90.540 105.373 105.108 107.310 108.708 110.647 108.595 109.038 108.622

Total Operating Assets 2.945.717 3.056.610 3.405.574 3.909.895 4.018.971 3.821.244 4.420.200 4.896.585 5.520.095 6.178.078 6.820.854 7.329.715

Operating Liabilities
Accounts payable 197.356 214.687 233.443 253.305 303.196 246.119 317.753 300.521 653.083 493.534 585.378 517.341
Tax payable 9.402 0 0 0 0 0 1.471 50.645 24.545 172.057 157.244 127410
Deferred tax liabilities 281.294 251.069 331.995 531.498 486.702 426.781 557.350 559.542 539.040 674.684 721.689 853.737
Accrued salary expense and public tax payable 8.619 13.611 13.869 25.104 22.514 19.720 21.731 13.013 12.134 48.819 16.486
Other non-current liabilities 19096 5882 691 3292 0 0 0 0 0 0 6746 186.657
Other current liabilities 25.535 23.702 72.400 41.674 48.452 53.982 54.761 109.803 122.795 222.213 212.717 211.676
Cash-settled share option provision 0 0 1.351 5.845 194 9.267 9.567 3.263 5.639 11.360 8.848 4.613

Total Operating Liabilities 541.302 508.951 653.749 860.718 861.058 755.869 962.633 1.036.787 1.357.236 1.622.667 1.709.108 1.901.434

Net Operating assets (NOA) 2.404.415 2.547.659 2.751.825 3.049.177 3.157.913 3.065.375 3.457.567 3.859.798 4.162.859 4.555.411 5.111.746 5.428.281

0,58 0,59 0,80 0,65 0,67 0,70 0,69 1,11 1,44
Financial Obligations

Factoring liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 338.231 502.535 500.976 614.638
Short-term loan facilities 0 496.702 482.989 260.000 700.000 500.000 425.000 0 0 0 0 0
Current portion of long-term borrowings 76.184 807.827 85.295 79.000 79.983 109.542 111.060 487.664 101.922 98.490 98.873
Current portion of finance leasing liabilities 52.498 35.305 37.383 41.726 44.662 44.730 46.149 53.231 61.008 67.116 58.353
Derivatives and other financial instruments 50 122.532 9.672 1.605 7.887 13.805 11.631 23.475 27.104 23.990 28.462 5.268
Pension obligations 4.369 4.161 1.927 2.051 1.557 1.110 610 198 109 0 0
Finance leasing liabilities 123.352 213.117 198.167 168.856 179.670 156.150 170.251 236.430 272.968 250.452 201.899
Loan 901.441 8.065 711.419 646.686 613.673 951.043 850.646 958.828 1.518.261 979.874 1.191.686 1.544.540
Other long-term borrowings 0 0 0 0 0 24.801 24.056 23.640 21.425 15.963 15.353 14.209
Subordinated loan 9.800 13.517 13.548 14.581 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Financial Obligations 1.167.694 1.701.226 1.540.400 1.214.505 1.627.432 1.801.181 1.639.403 1.783.466 2.341.028 1.938.420 2.095.602 2.178.655

Financial Assets
Oth. Curr. Receivables (Insurance claims) 0 3.193 0 0 3.565 6.793 3.549 0 22.237 35.909 10664
Cash and cash equivalents 24.318 68.146 139.778 143.727 152.622 239.885 163.913 144.003 392.020 503.613 271.715 198.537
Loans to Associated companies 2.897 2.410 1.923 3.449 996 1.020 1.020 67 0 0 0
Available-for-sale financial assets 156 178 945 557 1.307 1.337 1.392 1.518 1.426 1.445 1150
Derivatives and other financial instruments 1.991 8.243 20.350 0 1.178 0 518 0 0 48.994 48.232 5.262

Total Financial Assets 29.362 82.170 162.996 147.733 159.668 249.035 170.392 145.588 415.683 589.961 331.761 203.799

Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 1.138.332 1.619.056 1.377.404 1.066.772 1.467.764 1.552.146 1.469.011 1.637.878 1.925.345 1.348.459 1.763.841 1.974.856

Common Equity (CSE) 1.266.083 928.603 1.374.421 1.982.405 1.690.149 1.513.229 1.988.556 2.221.920 2.207.147 3.150.664 3.304.364 3.420.376

Minority interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30.367 56.288 43.541 33.049
Total Equity (CSE + Minority interest) 1.266.083 928.603 1.374.421 1.982.405 1.690.149 1.513.229 1.988.556 2.221.920 2.237.514 3.206.952 3.347.905 3.453.425
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Reformulated Income Statement                                       
NORWAY ROYAL SALMON 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 YTD 30.06.18

Net sales 1.349.232 1.602.502 2.002.085 1.734.022 1.744.266 2.603.712 2.599.799 3.210.548 4.224.340 4.937.798 2.601.316
Expenses to generate sales (1.288.480) (1.512.864) (1.796.124) (1.609.858) (1.612.054) (2.223.561) (2.279.835) (2.820.339) (3.386.395) (4.027.698) (2.089.211)

Gross profit 60.752 89.638 205.961 124.164 132.212 380.151 319.964 390.209 837.945 910.100 512.105
Other operating expenses

Other Operating expenses (27.302) (37.810) (51.765) (50.865) (71.428) (90.422) (120.488) (134.618) (136.269) (200.178) (95.212)
Share of profit from associated companies (10.785) 6.145 19.772 (1.689) 10.464 28.834 27.136 22.754 71.865 52.657 (10.963)

EBITDA 22.665 57.973 173.968 71.610 71.248 318.563 226.612 278.345 773.541 762.579 405.930
Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation (6.158) (12.475) (31.406) (26.043) (30.449) (33.728) (41.412) (53.697) (61.063) (82.063) (43.063)
Core Operating income from sales before tax (Core EBIT) 16.507 45.498 142.562 45.567 40.799 284.835 185.200 224.648 712.478 680.516 362.867

Tax from operating income
Tax as reported 5.696 (4.189) (36.798) 15.548 (9.130) (80.487) (52.422) (32.498) (167.707) (86.180) (123.515)
+ Tax benefit from NFE (5.367) (2.337) 7 2.910 (11.077) 4.518 21.074 5.675 73.948 (40.781) 18.172
+ Tax on F.V adj. Of Bio Ass (1.861) 12.200 7.375 (20.476) 11.063 25.576 15.513 6.592 41.038 (48.700) 39.087

Operating income from sales after tax ( Core NOPAT) 14.975 51.173 113.146 43.549 31.655 234.441 169.365 204.417 659.757 504.856 296.611
Non core Items

Fair value adjustment of biological assets (6.646) 43.573 26.339 (73.127) 39.509 94.725 57.456 24.416 164.151 (194.799) 156.349
Taxes on Fair value adjustment of biological assets 1.861 (12.200) (7.375) 20.476 (11.063) (25.576) (15.513) (6.592) (41.038) 48.700 (39.087)

Operating income from sales after tax ( NOPAT) 10.190 82.545 132.110 (9.102) 60.101 303.591 211.308 222.241 782.870 358.756 413.873
Comprehensive items

Translation differences 0 0 0 0 12.896 8.194 (8.311)
Cash flow hedges (net of tax) 0 588 (5.340) (18.306) (362) 21.429 (7.334) 11.292
Available-for-sale financial assets (net of tax) 0 0 23.132 (23.132) 1.985 (1.985) 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit plans (net of tax) 0 0 (798) (6.665) 4.749 (1.361) (4.623) 0

Operating income (OI after tax) 10.190 82.545 155.242 (32.234) 62.674 295.468 186.337 226.628 815.834 354.993 416.854

Net Financial expenses (NFE)
Financial income 0 0 18.121 41.608 0 49.497 100.262 47.404 313.121 (142.252) 83.986
Financial expenses (19.169) (8.345) (18.097) (31.215) (39.560) (32.765) (22.211) (26.387) (17.329) (20.871) (11.298)

Net Financial Expense (NFE before tax) (19.169) (8.345) 24 10.393 (39.560) 16.732 78.051 21.017 295.792 (163.123) 72.688
Marginal tax rate 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 28,0% 27,0% 27,0% 27,0% 25,0% 25,0% 25,0%
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 5.367 2.337 -7 -2.910 11.077 -4.518 -21.074 -5.675 -73.948 40.781 -18.172

Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) (13.802) (6.008) 17 7.483 (28.483) 12.214 56.977 15.342 221.844 (122.342) 54.516

Comprehensive Income (3.612) 76.537 155.259 (24.751) 34.191 307.682 243.314 241.970 1.037.678 232.651 471.370
- CI to Minority interests 706 5.400 8.599 -3.759 3.428 13.371 13.936 7.950 16.706 7.878 2.961

Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder (4.318) 71.137 146.660 (20.992) 30.763 294.311 229.378 234.020 1.020.972 224.773 468.409

Reformulated Balance Sheet              
NORWAY ROYAL SALMON 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 30.06.18

Operating Assets
Receivables 180.332 233.936 282.996 260.743 306.094 480.883 596.035 601.126 722.810 619.970 589.932
Biological Assets 141.446 265.756 401.194 406.730 546.556 666.276 848.944 870.559 1.307.035 1.277.004 1.120.709
LT Receivables - - - - - 3.127 3.000 20.000 16.000 32.640
Tangible other assets
Other Current assets (Prepaid costs) 0 0 11.727 10.179 12.369 0 0 0 (1)
Intangible other assets (GW, Patents, Licences) 360.123 408.325 502.047 506.652 507.559 502.887 648.887 648.888 648.887 648.887 846.807
Property, plant and equipment 43.023 59.068 113.937 177.311 178.899 210.554 289.052 357.948 417.496 544.006 588.030
Prepaid expenses
Investments in non-consilidated subsidiaries 98.424 105.013 114.136 96.087 110.860 132.758 150.155 169.991 531.504 580.510 644.716

Total Operating Assets 823.348 1.072.098 1.426.037 1.457.702 1.662.337 1.996.485 2.536.073 2.668.512 3.643.731 3.703.017 3.790.194
Operating Liabilities

Accounts Payable 110.501 180.726 254.338 219.868 292.655 382.944 426.331 530.430 646.515 549.526 577.047
Accrued payroll - - - - - 4.275 8.363 8.433 8.891 0
Income Tax Payable - - - - - 8.313 2.031 3.180 79.350 113.485 36.178
Other current liabilities 34.245 16.189 18.635 14.560 28.152 37.518 156.479 125.838 174.025 155.980 97.133
Deferred tax liabilities 111.412 107.352 173.610 153.784 161.981 231.640 272.742 303.485 394.786 364.557 493.099

Total Operating Liabilities 256.158 304.267 446.583 388.212 482.788 664.690 865.946 971.366 1.303.567 1.183.548 1.203.457

Net Operating assets (NOA) 567.190 767.831 979.454 1.069.490 1.179.549 1.331.795 1.670.127 1.697.146 2.340.164 2.519.469 2.586.737
Financial Obligations

ST Debt & Current Portion of LT Debt 79.082 179.582 148.259 217.054 247.637 184.530 182.089 46.519 47.635 342.617 54.073
Long Term Debt 183.329 190.730 282.481 320.884 328.292 323.084 518.788 653.361 303.781 461.241 658.308
Other Liabilities (Also relating to pensions) 2.767 8.130 7.719 8.480 9.040 (1) 2 0 (1)
Provisions for risk and charges (pension liabs) - - - - - 10.320 18.733 12.480 11.383 16.727 16.727

Total financial obligations 265.178 378.442 438.459 546.418 584.969 517.933 719.612 712.360 362.798 820.585 729.108

Financial Assets
Cash and ST investments 22.531 1.810 4.748 6.205 9.854 53.732 61.494 201.339 69.257 151.779 243.662
Other Investments 8.442 9.121 34.053 3.385 3.335 1.395 1.895 394 394 367

Total financial assets 30.973 10.931 38.801 9.590 13.189 55.127 63.389 201.733 69.651 152.146 243.662

Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 234.205 367.511 399.658 536.828 571.780 462.806 656.223 510.627 293.147 668.439 485.446

Common Shareholders Equity 307.309 365.588 537.934 495.433 566.785 814.634 949.123 1.113.789 2.013.983 1.813.268 2.060.568
Minority interest 25.676 34.732 41.862 37.229 40.984 54.355 64.781 72.730 33.034 37.762 40.723

Total Equity 332.985 400.320 579.796 532.662 607.769 868.989 1.013.904 1.186.519 2.047.017 1.851.030 2.101.291
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Appendix 19 - Profitability Analysis Salmar 

 

ROCE

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

Comprehensive Income 281.982 150.528 456.108 912.945 143.733 424.607 1.864.685 1.254.563 1.166.470 2.541.216 2.307.750
Average CSE 1.286.678 1.300.447 1.506.554 2.025.124 2.221.870 2.461.898 3.777.194 4.899.815 5.112.006 5.872.879 7.089.230
ROCE 21,92% 11,58% 30,27% 45,08% 6,47% 17,25% 49,37% 25,60% 22,82% 43,27% 32,55%

ROCE

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

ROIC 15,06% 9,32% 18,77% 27,72% 5,06% 9,78% 28,44% 18,36% 15,69% 28,50% 25,64%
NFO 851.632 949.242 933.170 1.354.454 2.335.086 2.807.946 2.390.649 2.311.061 2.879.486 3.091.964 2.344.157
NBC -4,73% -6,22% -0,22% -2,15% -3,88% -3,19% 6,55% -3,60% -2,54% -0,74% -4,64%
RNOA-NFE 10,33% 3,10% 18,56% 25,57% 1,19% 6,60% 34,99% 14,76% 13,15% 27,76% 21,00%
Financial Leverage 0,661884325 0,729935065 0,619406812 0,668824971 1,050955513 1,140561469 0,632916657 0,471662808 0,56327903 0,526481776 0,330664473
Parent Share of Return 1,000678288 0,999030724 1,000502901 1,037348677 1,040200086 1,01451619 1,010129066 0,993741212 0,993751233 1,006980755 1,001285239
ROCE 21,91% 11,59% 30,27% 45,46% 6,36% 17,41% 50,81% 25,28% 23,06% 43,22% 32,59%

ROIC

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

Operating Income 322.231 209.826 458.141 953.329 236.778 528.149 1.821.314 1.360.756 1.265.240 2.577.900 2.440.280
Sales 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452
Average Invested Capital 2.138.958 2.250.461 2.440.630 3.439.042 4.677.075 5.399.107 6.404.898 7.410.091 8.061.644 9.045.900 9.518.637
Profit Margin 19,35% 12,31% 19,28% 28,04% 6,24% 12,63% 29,24% 19,00% 17,32% 28,76% 22,69%
Asset Turnover 0,78 0,76 0,97 0,99 0,81 0,77 0,97 0,97 0,91 0,99 1,13
ROIC 15,06% 9,32% 18,77% 27,72% 5,06% 9,78% 28,44% 18,36% 15,69% 28,50% 25,64%

CORE ROIC

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

Core NOPAT 336.980 258.332 476.231 881.046 549.937 356.213 1.243.019 1.468.307 1.172.910 2.183.299 2.684.024
Sales 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452
Core PM 20,23% 15,16% 20,04% 25,91% 14,49% 8,52% 19,96% 20,51% 16,06% 24,36% 24,96%
Other Operating Income -14.749 -48.506 -18.090 72.283 -313.160 171.936 578.295 -107.552 92.330 394.601 -243.744
Oth. OI PM -0,89% -2,85% -0,76% 2,13% -8,25% 4,11% 9,28% -1,50% 1,26% 4,40% -2,27%
ATO 0,78 0,76 0,97 0,99 0,81 0,77 0,97 0,97 0,91 0,99 1,13
Core RNOA 15,75% 11,48% 19,51% 25,62% 11,76% 6,60% 19,41% 19,81% 14,55% 24,14% 28,20%
Non-core RNOA -0,69% -2,16% -0,74% 2,10% -6,70% 3,18% 9,03% -1,45% 1,15% 4,36% -2,56%
RNOA 15,06% 9,32% 18,77% 27,72% 5,06% 9,78% 28,44% 18,36% 15,69% 28,50% 25,64%

Core PM

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

Revenues 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452
Feed Cost & Variable Costs 836.652 922.016 1.162.445 1.898.698 2.373.168 2.715.056 3.376.109 3.337.411 3.809.523 4.396.689 4.722.474
Gross Profit 828.878 782.226 1.213.817 1.501.170 1.422.578 1.465.358 2.852.196 3.822.599 3.493.983 4.566.550 6.032.978
Depreciations -50.671 -55.225 -78.178 -95.630 -132.543 -170.168 -225.820 -278.164 -321.449 -358.020 -418.612
Other Operating Items -317.571 -367.988 -494.112 -251.799 -570.438 -860.615 -1.208.903 -1.569.251 -1.728.417 -1.490.039 -2.243.198
Tax on EBIT -123.656 -100.681 -165.296 -272.695 -169.660 -78.362 -174.454 -506.877 -271.207 -535.193 -687.144
Core-NOPAT 336.980 258.332 476.231 881.046 549.937 356.213 1.243.019 1.468.307 1.172.910 2.183.299 2.684.024
Core PM 20,23% 15,16% 20,04% 25,91% 14,49% 8,52% 19,96% 20,51% 16,06% 24,36% 24,96%

ATO

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

Revenues 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452
Avg. Operating Assets 2.809.681 2.925.944 3.215.204 4.527.887 5.966.796 6.877.117 8.164.973 9.396.323 10.293.317 11.862.266 12.899.348
Avg. Operating Liabilities 670.723 675.483 774.574 1.088.846 1.289.721 1.478.010 1.760.076 1.986.232 2.231.673 2.816.367 3.380.712
NOA 2.138.958 2.250.461 2.440.630 3.439.042 4.677.075 5.399.107 6.404.898 7.410.091 8.061.644 9.045.900 9.518.637
ATO 0,78 0,76 0,97 0,99 0,81 0,77 0,97 0,97 0,91 0,99 1,13

Revenues

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
Salmon Price NOK/kg 25,74 26,36 30,96 37,34 31,86 26,57 39,56 40,43 42,26 63,19 60,71
Revenues 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452
Change in Salmon Price 2,41% 17,44% 20,63% -14,69% -16,61% 48,93% 2,19% 4,52% 49,52% -3,93%
Change in Revenues 2,32% 39,43% 43,08% 11,64% 10,13% 48,99% 14,96% 2,00% 22,73% 20,00%

Revenues

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

Salmon Spot Price NOK/kg 25,74 26,36 30,96 37,34 31,86 26,57 39,56 40,43 42,26 63,19 60,71
Prodution Volume - tonnes (gw) 64.000 65.000 77.000 79.000 104.000 116.100 128.000 154.800 150.000 129.600 151.000
Revenues 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452
Revenue per KG 26,02 26,22 30,86 43,04 36,50 36,01 48,66 46,25 48,69 69,16 71,23
"Premium" 0,28 -0,14 -0,10 5,69 4,64 9,44 9,10 5,82 6,43 5,97 10,52
"premium" in % 1,10% -0,53% -0,31% 15,25% 14,57% 35,54% 22,99% 14,40% 15,22% 9,45% 17,33%
Change in Quantity 0 1,56% 18,46% 2,60% 31,65% 11,63% 10,25% 20,94% -3,10% -13,60% 16,51%
Change in Revenues 0 2,32% 39,43% 43,08% 11,64% 10,13% 48,99% 14,96% 2,00% 22,73% 20,00%

EBIT/KG

2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017

tonnes (gutted weight) 64.000 65.000 77.000 79.000 104.000 116.100 128.000 154.800 150.000 129.600 151.000
NOPAT 322.231 209.826 458.141 953.329 236.778 528.149 1.821.314 1.360.756 1.265.240 2.577.900 2.440.280
EBIT 460.636 359.013 641.527 1.153.741 719.597 434.575 1.417.473 1.975.184 1.444.117 2.718.491 3.371.168
NOPAT/kg(gw) 5,03 3,23 5,95 12,07 2,28 4,55 14,23 8,79 8,43 19,89 16,16
EBIT/KG 7,20 5,52 8,33 14,60 6,92 3,74 11,07 12,76 9,63 20,98 22,33
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Appendix 20 - Profitability Analysis Peers 

 

ROCE 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
SalMar 21,92% 11,58% 30,27% 45,08% 6,47% 17,25% 49,37% 25,60% 22,82% 43,27% 32,55%

Norway Royal Salmon -1,88% 21,14% 32,46% -4,06% 5,79% 42,61% 26,01% 22,69% 65,28% 11,75%

Marine Harvest 0,04% -26,01% 14,67% 27,01% 9,39% 0,03% 22,13% 11,39% 12,74% 29,15% 12,42%

Grieg Seafood 4,06% -30,95% 18,19% 37,86% -6,73% -11,05% 27,15% 11,08% 1,82% 41,40% 18,45%

Lerøy Seafood 7,39% 3,11% 15,00% 26,82% 7,17% 7,15% 25,88% 13,86% 12,48% 23,83% 12,78%

Average 8,35% -8,83% 19,86% 33,85% 2,45% 3,84% 33,43% 17,59% 14,51% 40,59% 17,59%

Core-RNOA 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
SalMar 15,75% 11,48% 19,51% 25,62% 11,76% 6,60% 19,41% 19,81% 14,55% 24,14% 28,20%

Norway Royal Salmon 3,32% 7,67% 12,95% 4,25% 2,81% 18,67% 11,28% 12,14% 32,68% 20,78%

Marine Harvest -0,57% -7,60% 4,08% 10,71% 16,52% 0,56% 5,61% 13,55% 7,27% 6,68% 26,56%

Grieg Seafood 4,67% 3,40% 2,90% 14,27% 5,78% -3,70% 9,36% 5,68% 2,36% 21,24% 13,72%

Lerøy Seafood 5,37% 4,37% 11,01% 16,81% 10,94% 4,00% 13,69% 12,88% 7,86% 14,10% 17,36%

Average 6,31% 2,99% 9,03% 16,07% 9,85% 2,05% 13,35% 12,64% 8,84% 19,77% 21,32%

Core-PM 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
SalMar 20% 15% 20% 26% 14% 9% 20% 21% 16% 24% 25%

Norway Royal Salmon 1,11% 3,19% 5,65% 2,51% 1,81% 9,00% 6,51% 6,37% 15,62% 10,22%

Marine Harvest -0,74% -10,40% 4,72% 12,18% 18,19% 0,61% 5,67% 12,45% 6,70% 6,50% 23,68%

Grieg Seafood 10,99% 5,70% 4,76% 16,92% 8,76% -5,62% 12,70% 7,80% 2,05% 14,15% 9,45%

Lerøy Seafood 5,06% 4,36% 9,98% 14,38% 9,59% 4,08% 13,07% 11,44% 8,76% 14,56% 17,15%

Average 8,88% 3,18% 8,54% 15,01% 10,71% 1,88% 12,08% 11,74% 7,99% 15,04% 17,09%

ATO 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
SalMar 0,78 0,76 0,97 0,99 0,81 0,77 0,97 0,97 0,91 0,99 1,13

Norway Royal Salmon 2,99 2,40 2,29 1,69 1,55 2,07 1,73 1,91 2,09 2,03

Marine Harvest 0,76 0,73 0,86 0,88 0,91 0,93 0,99 1,09 1,09 1,03 1,12

Grieg Seafood 0,42 0,60 0,61 0,84 0,66 0,66 0,74 0,73 1,15 1,50 1,45

Lerøy Seafood 1,06 1,00 1,10 1,17 1,14 0,98 1,05 1,13 0,90 0,97 1,01

Average 75,65% 121,52% 119,00% 123,44% 104,26% 97,80% 116,40% 112,80% 118,89% 131,64% 134,95%

Core-NOPAT/KG 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
SalMar 5,03 3,23 5,95 12,07 2,28 4,55 14,23 8,79 8,43 19,89 16,16

Norway Royal Salmon 0,33 1,08 2,28 0,86 0,55 3,77 2,87 2,92 9,88 6,49

Marine Harvest 2,11 6,31 8,56 0,24 3,20 7,59 4,70 5,44 22,99

Grieg Seafood 1,08 2,28 0,86 0,55 3,77 2,87 2,92 9,88 6,49

Lerøy Seafood 10,94 6,44 2,42 9,72 9,09 7,47 16,74 20,22

Average 5,03 1,78 2,56 6,78 3,80 1,66 6,94 6,24 5,29 12,37 14,47

Core-NOPAT/KG 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
SalMar 5,03 3,23 5,95 12,07 2,28 4,55 14,23 8,79 8,43 19,89 16,16

Norway Royal Salmon 0,36 0,96 2,88 0,90 0,71 4,58 3,13 3,21 10,66 8,75

Marine Harvest 3,20 11,42 7,94 1,58 8,54 10,44 7,41 14,38 22,07

Grieg Seafood 3,01 8,81 3,56 -3,15 5,68 4,17 1,03 17,23 14,12

Lerøy Seafood 14,76 9,01 3,31 12,60 11,95 9,05 20,69 25,44

Average

Revenues (TNOK) 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
Marine Harvest 14.094.000 13.124.600 14.651.200 15.281.200 16.132.800 15.463.500 19.398.300 25.531.300 29.445.174 31.891.220 35.945.860

Lerøy Seafood 6.290.898 6.057.053 7.473.807 8.887.671 9.176.873 9.102.941 10.764.714 12.579.465 13.450.725 17.269.278 18.623.515

SalMar 1.665.530 1.704.242 2.376.262 3.399.868 3.795.746 4.180.414 6.228.305 7.160.010 7.303.506 8.963.239 10.755.452

Grieg Seafood 1.021.810 1.477.029 1.612.619 2.446.490 2.046.991 2.050.065 2.404.215 2.665.284 4.608.667 6.545.187 7.017.456

Norway Royal Salmon x 1.349.232 1.602.502 2.002.085 1.734.022 1.744.266 2.603.712 2.599.799 3.210.548 4.224.340 4.937.798

Price premium 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
Marine Harvest 13,83 14,46 15,20 12,85 16,86 20,52 27,82 20,60 36,35

Lerøy Seafood 38,73 35,29 32,78 34,78 39,03 43,03 51,79 57,16

SalMar -0,10 5,69 4,64 9,44 9,10 5,82 6,43 5,97 10,52

Grieg Seafood 2,13 0,76 2,21 2,72 1,85 0,74 28,21 37,93 51,40

Norway Royal Salmon 3,00 3,03 2,53 3,68 2,34 3,55 3,62 0,04 2,76

Core-EBIT / KG 2.007 2.008 2.009 2.010 2.011 2.012 2.013 2.014 2.015 2.016 2.017
SalMar 7,20 5,52 8,33 14,60 6,92 3,74 11,07 12,76 9,63 20,98 22,33

Norway Royal Salmon 0,36 0,96 2,88 0,90 0,71 4,58 3,13 3,21 10,66 8,75

Marine Harvest 3,20 11,42 7,94 1,58 8,54 10,44 7,41 14,38 22,07

Grieg Seafood 3,01 8,81 3,56 -3,15 5,68 4,17 1,03 17,23 14,12

Lerøy Seafood 14,76 9,01 3,31 12,60 11,95 9,05 20,69 25,44
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Appendix 21 - Proforma Income Statement 

 

 

 

 

Proforma Income Statement (NOK '000) 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E Terminal
CORE OPERATING ITEMS

Net sales 9.819.128 10.608.246 12.211.347 14.080.680 16.271.086 18.837.626
Expenses to generate sales -5.347.023 -5.935.862 -7.016.050 -8.301.288 -9.836.712 -11.670.883

Gross profit 4.472.105 4.672.384 5.195.297 5.779.391 6.434.374 7.166.743
Other operating items

Salaries and personnel expenses -1.029.923 -1.112.693 -1.280.842 -1.476.915 -1.706.666 -1.975.869
Restricted Share Units Compensation (RSU) -35.852 -49.341 -69.009 -93.654 -124.494 -162.968
Employees Stock Options Compensation (ESO) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other operating expenses -1.565.955 -1.638.773 -1.825.377 -2.034.420 -2.269.557 -2.533.380
Share of profit/loss from associated companies 211.921 228.952 263.550 303.895 351.169 406.562
Other operating items 561.063 606.153 697.754 804.567 929.727 1.076.378

EBITDA 2.613.359 2.706.681 2.981.373 3.282.865 3.614.553 3.977.466
Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation, property, plant and equipment -392.716 -408.425 -424.761 -441.752 -459.422 -472.156
Depreciation licenses and other intangibles -3.718 -3.867 -4.021 -4.182 -4.350 -4.470

Core EBIT 2.216.925 2.294.390 2.552.590 2.836.931 3.150.781 3.500.841
Tax from operating income

Tax as reported -482.250 -499.101 -555.268 -617.121 -685.393 -761.542
+/- Tax Shield from NFE -11.065 -11.508 -11.968 -12.447 -12.944 -13.303
+/- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
+/- Tax allocated to other non-core items 0 0 0 0 0 0

Core-NOPAT 1.723.610 1.783.781 1.985.355 2.207.364 2.452.444 2.725.996
NON-CURRENT OPERATING ITEMS

Adjustment of Biological Asset
Fair value adjustment of biological assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
- Tax allocated to Adjustment of Biological Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0

Core-Nopat after F.V. Adjustments of Biological Asset 1.723.610 1.783.781 1.985.355 2.207.364 2.452.444 2.725.996
Other non-core  items

Non-recurring gains on acquisitions . before tax 0 0 0 0 0 0
Onerous Contracts - before tax 0 0 0 0 0 0
Excess value of inventory from acquisitions - before tax 0 0 0 0 0 0
- Tax allocated to other non-core items 0 0 0 0 0 0

Comprehensive items - After Tax
Currency translation differences in associated companies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Equity transactions in associated companies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Currency translation differences in subsidiary companies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Foreign exchange differences on net investments in foreign units 0 0 0 0 0 0
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net Operating Profit after tax (NOPAT) 1.723.610 1.783.781 1.985.355 2.207.364 2.452.444 2.725.996
FINANCING ITEMS

Net Financial expenses (NFE)
Interest income 4.568 4.751 4.941 5.139 5.344 5.492
Financial income 38.879 40.435 42.052 43.734 45.483 46.744
Interest expenses -75.341 -78.355 -81.489 -84.748 -88.138 -90.581
Financial expenses -12.366 -12.861 -13.375 -13.911 -14.467 -14.868

Net Financial Income/Expense (NFE before tax) -44.260 -46.030 -47.871 -49.786 -51.778 -53.213
Marginal tax rate 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%
- Tax benefit from net financial expenses 11.065 11.508 11.968 12.447 12.944 13.303

Net Financial Expense (NFE after tax) -33.195 -34.523 -35.904 -37.340 -38.833 -39.910

Comprehensive Income 1.690.415 1.749.259 1.949.451 2.170.024 2.413.611 2.686.086
- CI to Minority interests 26.949 27.887 31.079 34.595 38.479 42.823

Comprehensive Income to Common shareholder 1.663.466 1.721.371 1.918.372 2.135.429 2.375.132 2.643.264
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Appendix 22 - Proforma Balance Sheet 

 

Appendix 23 - Proforma Cash Flow Statement 

 

 

 

 

 

Proforma Balance Sheet (TNOK) 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E Terminal
Operating Assets

Current assets
Accounts receivable 474.563 493.546 513.287 533.819 555.172 570.559
Other current receivables 194.493 202.273 210.364 218.778 227.530 233.836
Inventories 245.325 255.139 265.344 275.958 286.996 294.951
Biological assets 3.916.422 4.073.079 4.236.003 4.405.443 4.581.660 4.708.647

Non current assets
Other non-current receivables 52.355 54.449 56.627 58.892 61.248 62.946
Licenses 2.347.198 2.441.086 2.538.730 2.640.279 2.745.890 2.821.996
Property, plant and equipment 3.413.789 3.550.340 3.692.354 3.840.048 3.993.650 4.104.340
Investments in associated companies 969.555 1.008.337 1.048.671 1.090.618 1.134.242 1.165.679
Goodwill 422.811 439.724 457.313 475.605 494.629 508.339

Total Operating Assets 12.036.513 12.517.973 13.018.692 13.539.440 14.081.017 14.471.292
Operating Liabilities

Accounts payable 1.182.804 1.230.116 1.279.321 1.330.494 1.383.714 1.422.065
Tax payable 636.822 662.294 688.786 716.338 744.991 765.640
Deferred tax liabilities 1.290.051 1.341.653 1.395.319 1.451.132 1.509.178 1.551.007
Public Charges Payable 161.671 168.138 174.864 181.858 189.133 194.375

Total Operating Liabilities 3.271.348 3.402.202 3.538.291 3.679.822 3.827.015 3.933.086
Net Operating assets (NOA) 8.765.164 9.115.771 9.480.402 9.859.618 10.254.002 10.538.206

Financial Obligations
Leasing liabilities 326.695 339.763 353.354 367.488 382.187 392.780
Other current liabilities 382.714 398.023 413.944 430.502 447.722 460.131
Short-term loan facilities 230.725 239.954 249.552 259.535 269.916 277.397
Pension obligations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other long-term borrowings 768.059 798.781 830.732 863.962 898.520 923.424

Total Financial Obligations 1.708.194 1.776.521 1.847.582 1.921.486 1.998.345 2.053.732
Financial Assets

Other Current Receivables - Derivatives 35.506 36.926 38.403 39.939 41.537 42.688
Cash and cash equivalents 167.715 174.424 181.401 188.657 196.203 201.641
Derivatives and other financial instruments 372 387 403 419 435 447
Pension fund assets 1.306 1.358 1.413 1.469 1.528 1.570

Total Financial Assets 204.899 213.095 221.619 230.484 239.703 246.347
Net Financial Obligations (NFO) 1.503.295 1.563.426 1.625.963 1.691.002 1.758.642 1.807.385

Common Equity (CSE) 7.178.466 7.465.605 7.764.229 8.074.799 8.397.790 8.630.547

Minority interest 83.403 86.739 90.209 93.817 97.570 100.274
Total Equity (CSE + Minority interest) 7.261.870 7.552.344 7.854.438 8.168.616 8.495.360 8.730.821

Proforma Cash Flow Statement 2018 E 2019 E 2020 E 2021 E 2022 E Terminal
NOPAT 1.723.610 1.783.781 1.985.355 2.207.364 2.452.444 2.725.996
Change in NOA 490.359 -350.607 -364.631 -379.216 -394.385 -284.204
FCFF 2.213.969 1.433.175 1.620.724 1.828.148 2.058.060 2.441.792
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Appendix 24 - Salmon Forecasting Regression  

 

 

 

 

 

SUMMARY OUTPUT

Regression Statistics
Multiple R 0,674447174

R Square 0,454878991

Adjusted R Square 0,39430999
Standard Error 0,130138901

Observations 61

ANOVA

df F Significance F
Regression 6 7,510095657 0,00001

Residual 54
Total 60

Explanatory Variables Coefficients P-value Lower 95% Upper 95% Lower 095% Upper 095%
Intercept 0,05 0,02202 0,00692752 0,0855537 0,00692752 0,0855537
Log Exported Tonnes (T) -0,22 0,00013 -0,32499609 -0,11268919 -0,32499609 -0,11268919
Log Exported Tonnes (T-1) -0,26 0,00002 -0,37480434 -0,14876125 -0,37480434 -0,14876125
Log GDP EUROPE (T) -0,67 0,38676 -2,21365025 0,87110324 -2,21365025 0,87110324

Log GDP EUROPE (T-1) -1,94 0,00694 -3,3238996 -0,55407172 -3,3238996 -0,55407172
Log Salmon SPOT (T-1) -0,30 0,01503 -0,54232913 -0,06087447 -0,54232913 -0,06087447
Log Salmon SPOT (T-4) 0,17 0,13698 -0,05424413 0,38489097 -0,05424413 0,38489097
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Appendix 25 - Stationarity graphs 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 26 - Multiples input data 
 

 

 

 

 

 

date: 23/08/2018 Stock price # shares MVE NFO CSE EV Sales coreNOPAT NOPAT EPS Harvested Volume
Norway Royal Salmon 202,00 43.572.191 8.801.582.582 485.446.000 2.060.568.000 9.287.028.582 2.601.316.000 296.611.250 413873000 10,82 19.708.000
Marine Harvest 175,53 276.303.800 48.499.606.014 9.205.132.000 23.300.886.000 57.704.738.014 16.930.782.000 1.792.226.000 3.836.439.750 12,73 130.703.000
Grieg 90,00 111.662.000 10.049.580.000 1.974.856.000 3.420.376.000 12.024.436.000 2.291.867.000 323.254.750 181.039.000 1,56 34.001.000
Lerøy 60,64 595.773.680 36.127.715.955 3.012.716.000 15.219.066.000 39.140.431.955 5.041.711.000 878.032.250 1.233.315.500 1,95 75.398.000
Salmar 410,00 113.299.999 46.452.999.590 2.868.273.768 6.889.500.000 49.321.273.358 5.443.727.844 1.366.175.000 1.452.700.000 12,69 65.900.000

Multiples P/E MVE/NOPAT M/B EV/NOPAT EV/Sales EV/GWkg
Norway Royal Salmon 18,67 21,27 4,27 31,31 3,57 471
Marine Harvest 13,79 12,64 2,08 32,20 3,41 441
Grieg 57,70 55,51 2,94 37,20 5,25 354
Lerøy 31,07 29,29 2,37 44,58 7,76 519
Salmar 32,30 31,98 6,74 36,10 9,06 748

Multiples - Share price P/E MVE/BVE MVE/NOPAT EV/Core NOPAT EV/Sales EV/Harv. Volume Current price ReOI Model
Close peer average 30,31 2,92 29,68 36,32 5,00 446
Salmar 32,30 6,74 31,98 36,10 9,06 748 341,8 439,99
Salmar implied price 384,75 177,33 380,52 412,64 214,78 234 410,00 439,99
Market pricing error -6,16% -56,75% -7,19% 0,64% -47,61% -42,85% 0,00% 7,31%
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Appendix 27 - Sensitivities 

 

 

NOK 455,38 2,00% 3,00% 4,00% 5,00% 6,00%
0,00% NOK 299,63 NOK 310,69 NOK 322,21 NOK 334,20 NOK 346,67
1,77% NOK 360,93 NOK 375,42 NOK 390,50 NOK 406,21 NOK 422,56
2,77% NOK 419,18 NOK 436,91 NOK 455,38 NOK 474,63 NOK 494,66
3,77% NOK 515,52 NOK 538,62 NOK 562,70 NOK 587,79 NOK 613,92
4,00% NOK 547,07 NOK 571,93 NOK 597,85 NOK 624,85 NOK 652,98

NOK 455,38 -0,50% -1,00% -1,50% -2,00% -2,50%
-10,00% 535,91NOK    465,76NOK    395,61NOK    325,47NOK    255,32NOK    
-5,00% 573,59NOK    499,54NOK    425,50NOK    351,45NOK    277,41NOK    
0,00% 611,27NOK    533,32NOK    455,38NOK    377,44NOK    299,50NOK    
5,00% 648,94NOK    567,10NOK    485,27NOK    403,43NOK    321,59NOK    

10,00% 686,62NOK    600,88NOK    515,15NOK    429,41NOK    343,68NOK    

NOK 455,38 0,00% 10,00% 20,00% 40,00% 60,00%
0 478,47NOK    478,47NOK    478,47NOK    478,47NOK    478,47NOK    

43 455,35NOK    455,36NOK    455,38NOK    455,42NOK    455,45NOK    
1.000 451,53NOK    451,93NOK    452,32NOK    453,12NOK    453,92NOK    
5.000 436,24NOK    438,09NOK    439,96NOK    443,75NOK    447,61NOK    

10.000 418,52NOK    421,95NOK    425,43NOK    432,58NOK    439,96NOK    

NOK 455,38
0,00% 470,97NOK    
-0,05% 463,18NOK    
-0,10% 455,38NOK    
-0,15% 447,59NOK    
-0,20% 439,79NOK    

NOK 455,38 1,00% 2,00% 3,46% 4,00% 5,00%
-1,00% 630,60NOK    615,87NOK    595,59NOK    588,34NOK    575,46NOK    
-0,50% 542,70NOK    531,68NOK    516,38NOK    510,88NOK    501,07NOK    
0,00% 475,88NOK    467,32NOK    455,38NOK    451,07NOK    443,35NOK    
0,50% 423,37NOK    416,54NOK    406,96NOK    403,49NOK    397,26NOK    
1,00% 381,04NOK    375,45NOK    367,60NOK    364,75NOK    359,61NOK    

 

NOK 455,38 5,0% 5,5% 6,0% 6,5% 7,0%
0,50 789,02NOK    717,16NOK    657,09NOK    606,13NOK    562,35NOK    
0,60 657,09NOK    596,85NOK    546,53NOK    503,85NOK    467,22NOK    
0,72 548,21NOK    497,62NOK    455,38NOK    419,58NOK    388,86NOK    
0,80 491,04NOK    445,54NOK    407,56NOK    375,39NOK    347,78NOK    
0,90 435,42NOK    394,89NOK    361,07NOK    332,43NOK    307,86NOK    

Beta Equity

Change in Harvested salmon growth

Change in 
Terminal 

growth rate

Illiquidity discount

Actual 
Restricted 

Shares 
(thousands)

Change in Feed costs on Revenues

Change in 
Salmon 

Price

Growth in 
weight of 

future RSU 
on Revenues

Cost of Debt

Change in 
cost of 
Equity

MRP
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Appendix 28 - Term Structure and Cost of Equity 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Date

 3M SWAPS 

CURVE Last 

Mid YTM 

Time diveded 

by year
Swap rate 

Theoretical 

interest 

discounted

Difference Sq-difference

1D 0,475 0,004 0,48% 0,004994751 -0,000244751 0,000000060
2D 0,475 0,008 0,48% 0,005224185 -0,000474185 0,000000225
1W 0,66 0,020 0,66% 0,005863478 0,000736522 0,000000542
1M 0,86 0,083 0,86% 0,008277208 0,000322792 0,000000104
2M 0,95 0,167 0,95% 0,009815131 -0,000315131 0,000000099
3M 1,01 0,250 1,01% 0,010433783 -0,000333783 0,000000111
6M 1,12 1 1,12% 0,010772699 0,000427301 0,000000183
1Y 1,1632 1 1,16% 0,011551958 0,000080042 0,000000006
18M 1,2781 2 1,28% 0,013744318 -0,000963318 0,000000928
2Y 1,4873 2 1,49% 0,014290115 0,000582885 0,000000340
3Y 1,6973 3 1,70% 0,016706957 0,000266043 0,000000071
4Y 1,8672 4 1,87% 0,018584815 0,000087185 0,000000008
5Y 1,9982 5 2,00% 0,020020694 -0,000038694 0,000000001
6Y 2,1042 6 2,10% 0,021123852 -0,000081852 0,000000007
7Y 2,1891 7 2,19% 0,021981609 -0,000090609 0,000000008
8Y 2,2562 8 2,26% 0,022658604 -0,000096604 0,000000009
9Y 2,3106 9 2,31% 0,023201509 -0,000095509 0,000000009
10Y 2,357 10 2,36% 0,023643808 -0,000073808 0,000000005
12Y 2,443 12 2,44% 0,02431633 0,000113670 0,000000013
15Y 2,53 15 2,53% 0,024994693 0,000305307 0,000000093
20Y 2,595 20 2,60% 0,025674917 0,000275083 0,000000076
25Y 2,6 25 2,60% 0,026083205 -0,000083205 0,000000007
30Y 2,605 30 2,61% 0,026355402 -0,000305402 0,000000093

SUM 0,000003000

Year Nelson Siegel Real Swap rates Forward Rates R equity
1 1,16% 1,16% 1,16% 5,47%
2 1,43% 1,44% 1,70% 6,01%
3 1,67% 1,68% 2,16% 6,46%
4 1,86% 1,88% 2,42% 6,73%
5 2,00% 2,02% 2,58% 6,89%
6 2,11% 2,13% 2,67% 6,97%
7 2,20% 2,22% 2,71% 7,02%
8 2,27% 2,29% 2,74% 7,05%
9 2,32% 2,35% 2,76% 7,06%
10 2,36% 2,39% 2,76% 7,07%
15 2,50% 2,53% 2,77% 7,08%
20 2,57% 2,60% 2,77% 7,08%
30 2,64% 2,67% 2,77% 7,08%
50 2,69% 2,73% 2,77% 7,08%
999 2,77% 2,81% 2,78% 7,08%


